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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements,” as that term is defined under the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “PSLRA”), Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Forward-looking statements include
statements regarding the intent, belief or current expectations of National Healthcare Properties, Inc. (“we,” “our,” “us” or the
“Company”) and members of our management team, as well as the assumptions on which such statements are based, and
generally are identified by the use of words such as “may,” “will,” “seeks,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,”
“plans,” “intends,” “should” or similar expressions, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words.
Actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by such forward-looking statements. We believe these forward-
looking statements are reasonable; however, you should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, which are
based on current expectations. Further, forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we undertake no
obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated events
or changes to future operating results over time, unless required to do so by law. We intend that all forward-looking statements be
subject to the safe-harbor provisions of the PSLRA.

EEINT3 EEINT3 9 ¢

These forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are outside of our
control, which could cause actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by the forward-looking statements.
These risks and uncertainties include the risks associated with the internalization of our property management and advisory
functions; the geopolitical instability due to the ongoing military conflicts between Russia and Ukraine, including the related
impact on us, our tenants, operators and the global economy and financial markets; and that our ongoing or potential future
transactions are subject to market conditions and capital availability and may not be identified or completed on favorable terms or
at all. Some of the additional risks and uncertainties, although not all risks and uncertainties, that could cause our actual results to
differ materially from those presented in our forward-looking statements are set forth in “Risk Factors” (Part I. Item 1A of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K), “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk™ (Part II, Item 7A of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K), and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” (Part II
[tem 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K).




PART I
Item 1. Business

We are a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We acquire, own and manage a
diversified portfolio of healthcare-related real estate focused on outpatient medical facilities (“OMF”) and senior housing
operating properties (“SHOP”). As described in further details herein, we operate in two reportable business segments for
management and internal financial reporting purposes: OMFs and SHOPs.

Prior to September 27, 2024, our former advisor, Healthcare Trust Advisors, LLC (the “Advisor’’), managed our day-to-day
business with the assistance of our property manager, Healthcare Trust Properties, LLC (the “Property Manager”). Prior to
September 27, 2024, the Advisor and Property Manager were under common control with AR Global Investments, LLC (the
“Advisor Parent”) and these related parties received compensation and fees for providing services to us. On September 27, 2024,
we internalized our advisory and property management functions with our own dedicated workforce (“Internalization”) (see Note
1 — Organization and Note 9 — Related Party Transactions and Arrangements to our consolidated financial statements in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Consolidated Financial Statements”) for additional information).

On September 30, 2024, we also effected a reverse stock split of our common stock (the “Reverse Stock Split”). Upon the
effectiveness of the Reverse Stock Split, every four shares of our issued and outstanding common stock automatically combined
and was reclassified into one issued and outstanding share of common stock. All share and per share data in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K have been adjusted for all periods presented to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.

As of December 31, 2024, we owned 193 properties located in 31 states, comprising 8.4 million rentable square feet. The
following table summarizes our portfolio of properties as of December 31, 2024:

Number of Rentable Gross
Asset Type Properties Square Feet Asset Value
(In thousands)
Outpatient Medical Facilities 148 4,716,949 $ 1,381,166
Seniors Housing Operating Properties 44 7 3,683,949 1,082,353
Total Portfolio 192 8,400,898 $ 2,463,519

(1) Gross asset value represents total real estate investments, at cost ($2.5 billion total at December 31, 2024), net of gross market lease intangible liabilities
($22.8 million total at December 31, 2024). Impairment charges are reflected within gross asset value.

(2) Asof December 31, 2024, we had 3,939 rentable units in our SHOP segment. The SHOP segment excludes one closed facility.
(3) Excludes one land parcel with a gross asset value of $0.6 million.

In constructing our portfolio, we are committed to diversifying our assets by geographic region. The following table details
the geographic distribution, by region, of our portfolio as of December 31, 2024:

Rentable Units

Number of Annualized Rentable in SHOP

Geographic Region Properties Rental Income Square Feet Segment

(In thousands)

Northeast 26 $§ 43,160 1,648,564 289
South 57 115,890 2,656,728 1,436
Midwest 77 121,687 2,690,458 1,806
West 33 42,836 1,405,148 408
Total Portfolio 193 § 323,573 8,400,898 3,939

(1)  Annualized rental income on a straight-line basis for the leases in place in the property portfolio as of December 31, 2024, which includes tenant concessions
such as free rent, as applicable, as well as annualized gross revenue from our SHOPs for the fourth quarter of 2024.

Investment Strategy

Our investment strategy is guided by three core principles: (i) maintaining a balanced, well-diversified portfolio of high-
quality assets; (ii) pursuing accretive and opportunistic investment opportunities; and (iii) maintaining a strong and flexible capital
structure.



We have invested, and expect to continue investing, primarily in OMFs and seniors housing properties, primarily structured
as SHOPs. In addition, we may invest in facilities leased to hospitals, including rehabilitation hospitals, long-term acute care
centers, surgery centers, inpatient rehabilitation facilities, special medical and diagnostic service providers, laboratories, research
firms, pharmaceutical and medical supply manufacturers and health insurance firms. Our SHOP investments are held through a
structure permitted using the REIT Investment Diversification and Empowerment Act of 2007 (“RIDEA”). We generally acquire
a fee interest in any property we acquire (a “fee interest” is the absolute, legal possession and ownership of land, property, or
rights), although we may also acquire a leasehold interest (a “leasehold interest” is a right to enjoy the exclusive possession and
use of an asset or property for a stated definite period as created by a written lease). We have and may continue to acquire
properties through a joint venture or the acquisition of substantially all of the interests of an entity which in turn owns the real
property. We also may make preferred equity investments in an entity. In addition, we may sell assets from time to time to recycle
capital and manage our leverage.

Healthcare is the single largest industry in the United States based on contribution to Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”).
According to the National Health Expenditures Projections, 2023 - 2032 report prepared by the Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services (“CMS”): (i) national health expenditures are projected to grow on average 5.6% per year for 2023 through
2032 which is expected to exceed average projected GDP growth during those periods of 4.3%, and (ii) the healthcare industry
projected share of GDP is projected to increase from 17.3% of U.S. GDP in 2022 to 19.7% by 2032. The increase in expenditures
is projected to lead to significant growth in healthcare employment. According to the U.S. Department of Labor’s Bureau of
Labor Statistics (the “Bureau of Labor Statistics”), the healthcare industry was one of the largest industries in the United States,
providing approximately 23 million seasonally adjusted jobs as of December 31, 2024, and the healthcare industry is expected to
have the largest growth and be the fastest growing industry sector. According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics, employment of
healthcare occupations (healthcare and social assistance sector) is projected to grow 10.0% from 2023 to 2033, adding
approximately 2.3 million new jobs, representing job growth higher than any other sector and over a third of all the projected job
gains from 2023 to 2033. This growth is expected due to an aging population, the growing prevalence of chronic conditions and
high levels of mental health and behavioral disorders. We believe that the continued growth in employment in the healthcare
industry will lead to growth in demand for OMFs and other facilities that serve the healthcare industry. The senior housing
industry has been experiencing ongoing staffing shortages in recent years; however, the Bureau of Labor Statistics reported
employment increases for nursing and residential care facilities in 2023.

In addition to the growth in national health expenditures and corresponding increases in employment in the healthcare sector,
the nature of healthcare delivery continues to evolve due to the impact of government programs, regulatory changes and consumer
preferences. We believe these changes have increased the need for capital among healthcare providers and increased incentives
for these providers to develop more efficient real estate solutions in order to enhance the delivery of quality healthcare.

We believe that the aging population, improved chronic disease management, technological advances and healthcare reform
will positively affect the demand for OMFs, seniors housing properties and other healthcare-related facilities and generate
attractive investment opportunities. The first wave of Baby Boomers, the largest segment of the U.S. population, began turning 65
in 2011. According to the U.S. Census Bureau, the U.S. population over 65 will grow to 88.8 million in 2060, up from 57.8
million as of July 2022. This group is projected to grow more rapidly than the overall population. Thus, its share of the population
will increase to 24.4% in 2060, up from 17.3% as of July 2022. Patients with diseases that were once life threatening are now
being treated with specialized medical care and an arsenal of new pharmaceuticals. Advances in research, diagnostics, surgical
procedures, pharmaceuticals and a focus on healthier lifestyles have led to people living longer. Finally, we believe that healthcare
reform in the U.S. will continue to drive an increase in demand for medical services, and in particular, in the post-acute and long-
term services which our tenants and operators provide. We may invest in healthcare assets through development and joint venture
partnerships.

Outpatient Medical Facilities

As of December 31, 2024, we owned 148 OMFs and other health care related buildings under lease totaling 4.7 million
square feet. These properties are leased to tenants that provide healthcare services that typically consist of:

»  physicians’ offices and examination rooms,
e pharmacies,

* hospital ancillary service space and outpatient services such as diagnostic imaging centers, rehabilitation clinics and
ambulatory surgery centers,

e hospitals,
*  post-acute care facilities,
»  skilled nursing facilities, and

e other facilities.



Certain of our properties are located on or near hospital campuses and require significant plumbing, electrical and mechanical
systems to accommodate diagnostic imaging equipment such as x-rays or other imaging equipment, and may also have significant
plumbing to accommodate physician exam rooms. In addition, OMFs are often built to accommodate higher structural loads for
certain equipment and may contain specialized construction such as cancer radiation therapy vaults for cancer treatment.

Hospitals can include general acute care hospitals, inpatient rehabilitation hospitals, long-term acute care hospitals and
surgical and specialty hospitals. These facilities provide inpatient diagnosis and treatment, both medical and surgical, and provide
a broad array of inpatient and outpatient services including surgery, rehabilitation therapy as well as diagnostic and treatment
services. Post-acute facilities offer restorative, rehabilitative and custodial care for people not requiring the more extensive and
complex treatment available at acute care hospitals. We include these types of assets in our OMF and other health care related
segment when the property is leased to a tenant that operates the property. There are also a variety of types of OMFs, including on
campus and off campus. On campus OMFs are physically located on a hospital’s campus, often on land leased from the hospital.
A hospital typically creates strong tenant demand which leads to high tenant retention. Off campus OMFs are located independent
of a hospital’s location.

Seniors Housing Operating Properties

As of December 31, 2024, we owned 44 seniors housing properties under the RIDEA structure in our SHOP segment. Our
seniors housing properties as of December 31, 2024 primarily consist of assisted living facilities (2,058 units), memory care
facilities (968 units) and independent living facilities (882 units). These facilities cater to different segments of the elderly
population based upon their personal needs and need for assistance with the activities of daily living. Services provided by our
operators or tenants in these facilities are primarily paid for by the residents directly and are less reliant on government
reimbursement programs such as Medicaid and Medicare.

Assisted living facilities are licensed care facilities that provide personal care services, support and housing for those who
need help with activities of daily living, such as bathing, eating and dressing, yet require limited medical care. The programs and
services may include transportation, social activities, exercise and fitness programs, beauty or barber shop access, hobby and craft
activities, community excursions, meals in a dining room setting and other activities sought by residents. Assisted living facilities
are often in apartment-like buildings with private residences ranging from single rooms to large apartments.

Certain assisted living facilities may offer a separate facility that provides a higher level of care for residents requiring
memory care as a result of Alzheimer’s disease or other forms of dementia. Levels of personal assistance are based in part on
local regulations.

Independent living facilities are designed to meet the needs of seniors who choose to live in an environment surrounded by
their peers with services such as housekeeping, meals and activities. These residents generally do not need assistance with
activities of daily living, however, in some of our facilities, residents have the option to contract for these services. However,
independent living facilities on their own are not treated as qualified health care properties eligible to be leased to a taxable REIT
subsidiary (a “TRS”).

Ancillary revenues and revenues from sub-acute care services are derived from providing services beyond room and board
and include occupational, physical, speech, respiratory and intravenous therapy, wound care, oncology treatment, brain injury care
and orthopedic therapy, as well as sales of pharmaceutical products and other services. Certain facilities provide some of the
foregoing services on an outpatient basis.

Organizational Structure

Substantially all of our business is conducted through National Healthcare Properties Operating Partnership, L.P. (the “OP”),
a Delaware limited partnership, and its wholly owned subsidiaries, including TRSs. We own our SHOPs through the RIDEA
structure, pursuant to which, a REIT may lease “qualified healthcare properties” on an arm’s length basis to a TRS if the property
is operated on behalf of such subsidiary by a person who qualifies as an “eligible independent contractor.” We view this as a
structure primarily to be used on properties that present attractive valuation entry points with long term growth prospects or drive
growth by: (i) transitioning the asset to a new third-party operator that can bring scale, operating efficiencies, or ancillary services;
or (ii) investing capital to reposition the asset.



Financing Strategies and Policies

We utilize a combination of debt and equity to fund our investment activity. Our debt and equity levels are determined by
management in consultation with our Board of Directors (the “Board”). For expedited financing needs, we may borrow under our
loan agreement, dated as of December 22, 2023 (the “OMF Warehouse Facility”), by and among Capital One, National
Association (“Capital One”) and certain of the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the OP, which provides up to $50.0 million of
variable-rate financing, by including additional unencumbered properties subject to the terms and conditions of the OMF
Warehouse Facility and, subject to our compliance with the collateral pool and restrictive covenant requirements contained
therein, also utilize our Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities, which include a secured credit facility with KeyBank National
Association (“KeyBank™) (the “KeyBank Facility”), pursuant to that certain Master Credit Facility Agreement, dated as of
October 31, 2016, as amended, by and among KeyBank and certain of the OP’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, and a secured credit
facility with Capital One Multifamily Finance, LLC, an affiliate of Capital One (the “Capital One Facility” and, together with the
KeyBank Facility, the “Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities”), pursuant to that certain Master Credit Facility Agreement, dated as
of October 31, 2016, as amended, by and among Capital One Multifamily Finance, LLC, and certain of the OP’s wholly-owned
subsidiaries.

We may seek and even replace current borrowings with longer-term capital such as senior secured or unsecured notes or
other forms of long-term financing. We may invest in properties subject to existing mortgage indebtedness, which we assume as
part of the acquisition. In addition, we may obtain financing secured by previously unencumbered properties in which we have
invested or may refinance properties acquired on a leveraged basis.

Tax Status

We elected to be taxed as a REIT under Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), commencing with the
taxable year ended December 31, 2013. We intend to continue to operate in such a manner, but we can provide no assurances that
we will be able to operate in a manner so as to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT. To continue to qualify as a REIT, we must
distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (which does not equal net income as calculated in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”)), determined without regard to the deduction
for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains, and must comply with a number of other organizational and operational
requirements. If we continue to qualify as a REIT, we generally will not be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on the
portion of our REIT taxable income that we distribute to our stockholders. Even if we continue to qualify for taxation as a REIT,
we may be subject to certain state and local taxes on our income and properties as well as U.S. federal income and excise taxes on
our undistributed income.

Certain limitations are imposed on REITs with respect to the ownership and operation of seniors housing properties.
Generally, to qualify as a REIT, we cannot directly or indirectly operate seniors housing properties. Instead, such facilities may be
either leased to a third-party operator or leased to a TRS and operated by a third party on behalf of the TRS. Accordingly, we have
formed a TRS that is wholly owned by the OP to lease our SHOPs and the TRS has entered into management contracts with
unaffiliated third-party operators to operate the facilities on its behalf. As of December 31, 2024, we owned 44 SHOPs which we
lease to our TRS.

Competition

The market for OMF and SHOP real estate is highly competitive. We compete in all of our markets based on a number of
factors that include location, rental rates, security, suitability of the property’s design to prospective tenants’ needs and the manner
in which the property is operated and marketed. In addition, we compete with other entities engaged in real estate investment
activities to locate suitable properties to acquire, tenants to occupy our properties and purchasers to buy our properties. These
competitors include other REITs, private investment funds, specialty finance companies, institutional investors, pension funds and
their advisors and other entities. There are also other REITs with asset acquisition objectives similar to ours, and others may be
organized in the future. Some of these competitors, including larger REITs, have substantially greater marketing and financial
resources than we have and generally may be able to accept more risk than we can prudently manage, including risks with respect
to the creditworthiness of tenants. In addition, these same entities seek financing through similar channels.

Overview

The healthcare industry is one of the most regulated industries in the United States and is currently experiencing rapid
regulatory change and uncertainty. The regulatory uncertainty and the potential impact on our tenants and operators could have an
adverse material effect on their ability to satisfy their contractual obligations.



Our tenants and operators must comply with a wide range of complex federal, state and local laws and regulations, and the
healthcare industry, in general, is subject to increased enforcement and penalties in all areas. Fraud and abuse continues to be an
enforcement priority at both the federal and state levels including, but not limited to, the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the
Federal Physician Self-Referral Statute (commonly known as the “Stark Law”), the False Claims Act (“FCA”), the Civil
Monetary Penalties Law (“CMPL”) and a range of other federal and state regulations relating to waste, cost control and healthcare
management. The business and operations of our tenants and operators and therefore our business could be materially impacted
by, among other things, a significant expansion of applicable federal, state or local laws and regulations, legislative changes or
new judicial challenges to the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (the “ACA”), future attempts to reform healthcare, new
interpretations of existing laws and regulations, and changes or increased emphasis on certain enforcement priorities. Our SHOP
segment derives minimal revenues from Medicare and Medicaid so the impact of federal enforcement relating to waste, cost
control and healthcare management is limited; however, facilities may be subject to increased enforcement and scrutiny under
state laws. In our SHOP segment, only one property receives payments from Medicare and Medicaid, and a small percentage of
our assisted living revenue is derived from Medicaid. For our OMF segment, our tenants and operators could be affected, which
could impact our tenants’ ability to pay rent.

Our tenants and operators are subject to extensive federal, state, and local laws, regulations and industry standards which
govern business operations, physical plant and structure, patient and employee health and safety, access to facilities, patient rights
- including privacy, price transparency, fewer restrictions on access to care - and security of health information. Our tenants’ and
operators’ failure to comply with any of these laws could result in loss of licensure, denial of reimbursement, imposition of fines
or other penalties, suspension or exclusion from the government sponsored Medicare and Medicaid programs, loss of
accreditation or certification, reputational damage and closure of a facility. In addition, both government and private third-party
payors will likely continue their efforts to reduce reimbursement. The Medicare and Medicaid programs have adopted a variety of
initiatives which have been incorporated and expanded by private insurance carriers, including health maintenance organizations
and other health plans, to extract greater discounts and impose more stringent cost controls upon healthcare provider operations.
Examples include, but are not limited to, changes in reimbursement rates and methodologies such as bundled payments, capitation
payments, and discounted fee structures. Our tenants and operators may also face significant limits on the scope of services
reimbursed and on reimbursement rates and fees. All of these changes could impact our tenants’ ability to pay rent or other
obligations to us.

Licensure, Certification and Certificate of Need

Our tenants operate hospitals, assisted living facilities and other healthcare entities and providers that receive reimbursement
for services from third-party payors, including the government sponsored Medicare and Medicaid programs and private insurance
carriers. To participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, tenants and operators of healthcare facilities and other healthcare
providers must comply with the regulations previously referenced, as well as with licensing, certification and, in some states,
certificate of need (“CON”) requirements.

In granting and renewing these licenses and certifications, the state regulatory agencies consider numerous factors relating to
a facility’s operations, including, but not limited to, the plant and physical structure, admission and discharge standards, staffing,
training, patient and consumer rights, medication guidelines, the operational history of tenants and/or operators and their affiliated
entities and other rules. In the SHOP segment, if a tenant and/or operator fails to maintain or renew any required license,
certification or other regulatory approval or to correct serious deficiencies identified in compliance surveys, the tenant and/or
operator could be prohibited from continuing operations at a facility.

A loss of licensure or certification, as well as a change in participation status, could also adversely affect a tenant or
operator’s ability to receive payments from the Medicare and Medicaid programs, which, in turn, could adversely affect the tenant
or operator’s ability to satisfy its contractual obligations, including making rental payments under, and otherwise complying with
the terms of, its leases with us. In addition, if we have to replace an operator, we may experience difficulties in finding a
replacement because our ability to replace the operator may be affected by federal and state laws governing changes in control
and ownership.

Licensing and certification requirements also subject our tenants, and potentially operators, to compliance surveys and audits
which are critical to the ongoing operations of the facilities. Our healthcare facilities must meet licensing and Medicare or
Medicaid certification requirement, to the extent applicable relating to the type of facility and its equipment, personnel and
standard of medical care, as well as comply with other federal, state and local laws and regulations. Healthcare facilities undergo
periodic on-site licensure surveys, which generally are limited if the facility is accredited by The Joint Commission or other
recognized accreditation organizations. A loss of licensure, certification or accreditation could adversely affect a facility’s ability
to receive payments from the Medicare and Medicaid programs, which, in turn, could adversely affect its ability to satisfy its
contractual obligations, including making rental payments under, and otherwise complying with, the terms of the tenant’s leases
or the operator’s contractual obligation with us.



In some states, healthcare facilities are subject to various state CON laws requiring governmental approval prior to the
development or expansion of healthcare facilities and services. The approval process in these states generally requires a facility to
demonstrate the need for additional or expanded healthcare facilities or services. CONs, where applicable, can also be conditions
to regulatory approval of changes in ownership or control of licensed facilities, addition of beds, investment in major capital
equipment, introduction of new services, termination of services previously approved through the CON process and other control
or operational changes.

CON laws and regulations may restrict a tenant and operator’s ability to expand properties and grow the tenant and operator’s
business in certain circumstances, which could have an adverse effect on the tenant’s or operator’s revenues and, in turn,
negatively impact their ability to make rental payments under, and otherwise comply with the terms of their leases with us.

Fraud and Abuse Enforcement

Various federal and state laws and regulations are aimed at actions that may constitute fraud and abuse by healthcare entities
and providers who participate in, submit or cause to be submitted claims for payment to, or make or receive referrals in
connection with government-funded healthcare programs, including Medicare and Medicaid. The federal laws include, for
example, the following:

*  The Federal Anti-Kickback Statute (42 USC Section 1320a-7b(b) of the Social Security Act) which prohibits the knowing
and willful solicitation, offer, payment or acceptance of any remuneration, directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash
or in kind in return for: (i) referring an individual to a person for the furnishing or arranging for the furnishing of any item or
service for which payment may be made in whole or in part under a federal health care program; or (ii) purchasing, leasing,
ordering or arranging for or recommending purchasing, leasing or ordering any good, facility, service or item for which
payment may be made in whole or in party under a federal health care program;

e The Stark Law (42 USC Section 1395nn), which prohibits referrals by physicians of Medicare or Medicaid patients to
providers of a broad range of designated healthcare services in which the physicians (or their immediate family members)
have ownership interests or certain other financial arrangements, unless an exception applies, and prohibits the designated
health services entity from submitting claims to Medicare or Medicaid for those services resulting from a prohibited referral;

e The FCA (31 USC Sections 3729-3733) creates liability for any person who submits a false claim to the government or
causes another to submit a false claim to the government or knowingly makes a false record or statement to get a false claim
paid by the government. In what is known as reverse false claims, the FCA imposes liability where a person acts improperly
to avoid having to pay money to the government. The FCA also creates liability for people who conspire to violate the FCA;
and

*  The CMPL (42 USC 1320a-7a for healthcare) authorizes the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (the “HHS”) to
impose civil penalties administratively for fraudulent acts. The scope of the Office of the Inspector General’s authority to
enforce the CMPL was increased in 2016.

Courts have interpreted the fraud and abuse laws broadly. Sanctions for violating these federal laws include substantial
criminal and civil penalties such as punitive sanctions, damage assessments, monetary penalties, imprisonment, denial of
Medicare and Medicaid payments, and exclusion from Medicare and Medicaid programs. These laws also impose an affirmative
duty on tenants to ensure that they do not employ or contract with persons excluded from Medicare, Medicaid and other
government programs. Many states have adopted laws similar to, or more expansive than, the federal fraud and abuse laws. States
have also adopted and are enforcing laws that increase the regulatory burden and potential liability of healthcare entities
including, but not limited to, patient protections, such as minimum staffing levels, criminal background checks, sanctions for
employing excluded providers, restrictions on the use and disclosure of health information, and these state laws have their own
penalties which may be in addition to federal penalties.

In the ordinary course of their business, the tenants, and potentially operators at our properties are regularly subject to
inquiries, audits and investigations conducted by federal and state agencies that oversee applicable laws and regulations. Increased
funding for investigation and enforcement efforts, accompanied by an increased pressure to eliminate government waste, has led
to a significant increase in the number of investigations and enforcement actions over the past several years, a trend which is not
anticipated to decrease considerably. Significant enforcement activity has been the result of actions brought by regulators, who
file complaints in the name of the U.S. (and, if applicable, particular states) under the FCA or equivalent state statutes. Also, the
qui tam and whistleblower provisions of the FCA allow private individuals to bring actions on behalf of the government alleging
that the government was defrauded. Individuals have tremendous potential financial gain in bringing whistleblower claims as the
statute provides that the individual will receive a portion of the money recouped. Additionally, violations of the FCA can result in
treble damages.



Violations of federal or state law or FCA actions against a tenant or operator of our properties could have a material adverse
effect on the tenant’s and operator’s liquidity, financial condition or results of operations. Such a negative impact on a tenant’s or
operator’s financial health could adversely affect its ability to satisfy its contractual obligations, including making rental payments
under, and otherwise complying with the terms of, its leases and other agreements with us. Federal and state fraud and abuse laws
may also restrict the terms of agreements with tenants and operators.

Privacy and Security of Health Information

Various federal and state laws protect the privacy and security of health information. For example, the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, its implementing regulations and related federal laws and regulations (commonly
referred to as “HIPAA”) to protect the privacy and security of individually identifiable health information by limiting its use and
disclosure. Many states have implemented similar laws to limit the use and disclosure of patient specific health information. The
federal government has increased its HIPAA enforcement efforts over the past few years, which has increased the number of
audits and enforcement actions, some of which have resulted in significant penalties to healthcare providers. Violations of federal
and state privacy and security laws could have a material adverse effect on a tenant and operator’s financial condition or
operations, which could adversely affect its ability to satisfy its contractual obligations, including making rental payments under,
and otherwise complying with the terms of, its leases and other agreements with us.

Reimbursement

We and our tenants derive a portion of our revenues from insurance payments with the remainder coming from Medicare and
Medicaid reimbursement and private pay. The reimbursement methodologies for healthcare facilities are constantly changing and
federal and state authorities may implement new or modified reimbursement methodologies that may negatively impact healthcare
operations. For example, the ACA enacted certain reductions in Medicare reimbursement rates for various healthcare providers, as
well as certain other changes to Medicare payment methodologies.

The ACA has faced ongoing legal challenges, including litigation seeking to invalidate some or all of the law or the manner
in which it has been interpreted. While there are no current challenges to the ACA, that could change based on the make-up of
Congress and the presidential administration. The uncertain status of the ACA and of the state Medicaid programs, among other
things, affect our ability to plan for the future.

Federal and state budget pressures also continue to escalate and, in an effort to address actual or potential budget shortfalls,
Congress and many state legislatures may continue to enact reductions to Medicare and Medicaid expenditures through cuts in
rates paid to providers or restrictions in eligibility and benefits.

In addition to legislative and executive actions relating to the scope of the ACA, increased enforcement will likely continue to
impact the financial framework for healthcare tenants and facilities. For example, CMS is focused on reducing what it considers
to be payment errors by identifying, reporting, and implementing actions to reduce payment error vulnerabilities. In November
2020, CMS announced its successes in reducing the 2020 Medicare improper payment rate and specifically called out the
successes of its actions to address improper payments in home health and skilled nursing facility claims. Including fiscal year
2024, the Medicare Fee-for-Service estimated improper payment rate has, for eight consecutive years, been below 10% threshold
for compliance established by the improper payment statutory requirements. The risk of improper payments in our SHOP segment
is limited as only one property receives Medicare and Medicaid payments and a small percentage of our revenues come from
assisted living facilities participating in Medicaid.

In addition, CMS’s continuing transition of Medicare from a traditional fee for service reimbursement model to a capitated
value-based and bundled payment approach, which shifts the financial responsibility of certain patients to providers, will continue
to create unprecedented challenges for providers.

Another notable Medicare health care reform initiative, the Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015
(“MACRA”), permanently repealed the Sustainable Growth Rate formula, and provided for an annual rate increase of 0.5% for
physicians through 2019, but imposed a six-year freeze on fee updates from 2020 through 2025. Starting in 2026, participants in
the Alternative Payment Models will receive a 0.75% update, with all other payment models receiving a 0.25% update. MACRA
established a new payment framework, called the Quality Payment Program, which modified certain Medicare payments to
“eligible clinicians,” including physicians, dentists, and other practitioners. MACRA represents a fundamental change in
physician reimbursement. The implications of MACRA continue to be uncertain and will depend on future regulatory activity and
physician activity in the marketplace. MACRA reporting requirements and quality metrics may encourage physicians to move
from smaller practices to larger physician groups or hospital employment, leading to further consolidation of the industry. These
and other shifts in payment and risk sharing within an outcome-based model are leading to, among other trends, increasing use of
management tools to oversee individual providers and coordinate their services. The focus on utilization puts downward pressure
on the number and expense of services provided as payors are moving away from a fee for service model. The continued trend
toward capitated, value-based, and bundled payment approaches has the potential to diminish the market for certain healthcare
providers, particularly specialist physicians and providers of particular diagnostic technologies. This could adversely impact the
medical properties that house these physicians and medical technology providers.
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Certain of our facilities are also subject to periodic pre- and post-payment reviews and other audits by governmental
authorities, which could result in recoupments, denials, or delay of payments. Additionally, the introduction and explosion of new
stakeholders competing with traditional providers in the health market, as well as telemedicine, telehealth and mobile health, are
disrupting the heath industry and could lead to new trends in payment. All of the factors discussed — recoupment of past
payments or denial or delay of future payments — could adversely affect a tenant’s or operator’s ability to satisfy its contractual
obligations, including making rental payments under, and otherwise complying with the terms of its leases and other agreements
with us. Assisted and independent living services generally are not reimbursable under government reimbursement programs,
such as Medicare and Medicaid. Most of the resident fee revenues generated by our SHOPs, therefore, are derived from private
pay sources consisting of the income or assets of residents or their family members. The rates for these residents are set by the
facilities based on local market conditions and operating costs.

We regularly assess the financial implications of reimbursement rule changes on our tenants and operators, but we cannot
make any assurances that current rules or future updates will not materially adversely affect our tenants and operators, which, in
turn, could have a material adverse effect on their ability to pay rent and other obligations to us. See Item 1A. “Risk Factors —
Risks Related to the Healthcare Industry — Reductions or changes in reimbursement from third-party payors, including Medicare
and Medicaid, or delays in receiving these reimbursements could adversely affect the profitability of our tenants and operators and
hinder their ability to make rent payments to us” and “— A reduction in Medicare payment rates for skilled nursing facilities may
have an adverse effect on the Medicare reimbursements received by one of our tenants.”

Other Regulations

Our investments are subject to various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, including, among other
things, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, zoning regulations, land use controls, environmental controls relating to air
and water quality, noise pollution and indirect environmental impacts such as increased motor vehicle activity. We did not make
any material capital expenditures in connection with these regulations during the year ended December 31, 2024 and we do not
expect that we will be required to make any such material capital expenditures during 2025. We believe that we have all permits
and approvals necessary under current law to operate our investments.

Environmental Regulations

As an owner of real property, we are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations regarding environmental,
health and safety matters. These laws and regulations address, among other things, asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, fuel, oil
management, wastewater discharges, air emissions, radioactive materials, medical wastes and hazardous wastes, and in certain
cases, the costs of complying with these laws and regulations and the penalties for non-compliance can be substantial. Even with
respect to properties that we do not operate or manage, we may be held primarily or jointly and severally liable for costs relating
to the investigation and clean-up of any property from which there is or has been an actual or threatened release of a regulated
material and any other affected properties, regardless of whether we knew of or caused the release. Such costs typically are not
limited by law or regulation and could exceed the property’s value. In addition, we may be liable for certain other costs, such as
governmental fines and injuries to persons, property or natural resources, as a result of any such actual or threatened release.

Under the terms of our lease and management agreements, we generally have a right to indemnification by the tenants,
operators and managers of our properties for any contamination caused by them. However, we cannot make any assurances that
our tenants, operators and managers will have the financial capability or willingness to satisfy their respective indemnification
obligations to us, and any such inability or unwillingness to do so may require us to satisfy the underlying environmental claims.

We did not make any material capital expenditures in connection with environmental, health, and safety laws, ordinances and
regulations during the year ended December 31, 2024 and do not expect that we will be required to make any such material capital
expenditures during 2025.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2024, we had 26 employees located across the United States, none of whom are subject to a collective
bargaining agreement. Prior to the Internalization, we retained the Advisor pursuant to a long-term advisory contract to manage
our affairs on a day-to-day basis and the employees of the Advisor, Property Manager and their respective affiliates performed a
full range of services for us, including acquisitions, property management, accounting, legal, asset management, investor relations
and all general administrative services. Following the Internalization and the hiring of our own dedicated workforce, we no longer
had to incur fees from contracts with the Advisor and the Property Manager; instead, we began to incur expenses related to the
compensation and benefits of our officers, employees and consultants. See Note I — Organization and Note 9 — Related Party
Transactions and Arrangements to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
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We believe that a competitive compensation program is important to attract employees with the right skills, experience and
industry knowledge that can significantly benefit our performance and support our business objectives. All of our employees are
provided with a comprehensive benefits and wellness package, which include high-quality medical, dental and vision insurance,
life insurance, 401(k) matching, flexible spending accounts, generous vacation, holiday and personal time off policy, option to
work remotely, company workspaces/amenities and other benefits. We also provide continuous learning, improvement and
professional development for our employees to keep their skills current and to adapt to new responsibilities and emerging market
needs, including providing financial support for professional association memberships, continuing education credits and fees and
travel expenses to attend relevant conferences. As of December 31, 2024, 26.9% of our employees identified as minorities and
38.5% were females.

Estimate of Net Asset Value

On March 27, 2024, we published a new estimate of per-share net asset value (“Estimated Per-Share NAV”) equal to $13.00
as of December 31, 2023 (or $52.00 after reflecting the Reverse Stock Split). The Estimated Per-Share NAV published on
March 27, 2024 has not been adjusted since publication and will not be adjusted until the Board determines a new Estimated Per-
Share NAV. Dividends paid in the form of additional shares of common stock will, all things equal, cause the value of each share
of common stock to decline because the number of shares outstanding will increase when dividends paid in stock are issued;
however, because each stockholder will receive the same number of new shares, the total value of our common stockholder’s
investment, all things equal, will not change assuming no sales or other transfers. From October 2020 through January 2024, we
issued an aggregate of approximately 5.2 million shares as stock dividends (as adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split). No
other additional shares of common stock have been issued since October 2020. We intend to publish Estimated Per-Share NAV
periodically at the discretion of our Board, provided that such estimates will be made at least once annually unless we list our
common stock on a national securities exchange. See our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) on March 29, 2024 for more information on the methodologies and assumptions used to determine, and the
limitations and risks of, our Estimated Per-Share NAV.

Available Information

We electronically file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy
statements and all amendments to those filings with the SEC. One may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the
SEC’s Internet address located at https.//www.sec.gov. The website contains reports, proxy statements and information statements,
and other information, which one may obtain free of charge. In addition, copies of our filings with the SEC may be obtained from
our website www.nhpreit.com. Access to these filings is free of charge. We are not incorporating our website or any information
from these websites into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Set forth below are the risk factors that we believe are material to our investors and a summary thereof. The occurrence of
any of the risks discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and ability to pay dividends and they may also impact other distributions and the value of an
investment in our common and preferred stock.

Summary Risk Factors

e Our property portfolio has a high concentration of properties located in certain states. Our properties may be adversely
affected by economic cycles and risks inherent to those states.

*  We may be unable to enter into contracts for and complete property acquisitions or dispositions on advantageous terms and
our property acquisitions may not perform as we expect.

*  We may be unable to realize the anticipated synergies and other benefits of the Internalization or do so within the anticipated
time frame.

*  We have not paid our distributions on our common stock in cash since 2020, and there can be no assurance we will pay
distributions on our common stock in cash in the future.

»  Rising expenses could reduce cash flow.

+ Inflation may have an adverse effect on our investments and results of operations.

»  Damage from catastrophic weather and other natural events and climate change could result in losses to us.

*  We may suffer uninsured losses relating to real property or have to pay expensive premiums for insurance coverage.
*  Our success is dependent on the continued contributions of certain key personnel.

»  We have experienced net losses in the past and may experience additional losses in the future.
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Our real estate investments are concentrated in healthcare-related facilities, and we may be negatively impacted by adverse
trends in the healthcare industry.

The healthcare industry is heavily regulated, and new laws or regulations, changes to existing laws or regulations, loss of
licensure or failure to obtain licensure could result in the inability of our tenants to make rent payments to us.

If a tenant or lease guarantor declares bankruptcy or becomes insolvent, we may be unable to collect balances due under
relevant leases.

We may be unable to secure funds for future tenant improvements or capital needs.

We assume additional operating risks and are subject to additional regulation and liability because we depend on eligible
independent contractors to manage some of our facilities.

Joint venture investments could be adversely affected by our lack of sole decision-making authority, our reliance on the
financial condition of co-venturers and disputes between us and our co-venturers.

We may be unable to renew leases or re-lease space as leases expire.

Events that adversely affect the ability of seniors and their families to afford daily resident fees at our SHOPs could cause
our occupancy rates and resident fee revenues to decline.

Tenants and operators of our healthcare-related assets may be subject to significant legal actions that could subject them to
increased operating costs and substantial uninsured liabilities, which may affect their ability to pay their rent payments to us.

Our properties have been and may continue to be subject to impairment charges.

We are subject to risks associated with public health crises, such as pandemics and epidemics, which may have a material
adverse effect on our business.

Our business and operations could suffer if our operations experiences system failures or cyber incidents or a deficiency in
cybersecurity.

Our level of indebtedness may increase our business risks.

Our financing arrangements have restrictive covenants, which may limit our ability to pursue strategic alternatives and react
to changes in our business and industry or pay distributions.

The Estimated Per-Share NAV of our common stock is based upon subjective judgments, assumptions and opinions about
future events, and may not reflect the amount that our stockholders might receive for their shares.

Maryland law prohibits certain business combinations, which may make it more difficult for us to be acquired and may
discourage a third-party from acquiring us in a manner that might result in a premium price to our stockholders.

The share ownership restrictions for REITs and the 9.8% share ownership limit in our charter may inhibit market activity in
shares of our stock and restrict our business combination opportunities.

Our failure to remain qualified as a REIT would subject us to U.S. federal income tax and potentially state and local tax.

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to forgo or liquidate otherwise attractive investment opportunities.
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Risks Related to Our Properties and Operations

Our property portfolio has a high concentration of properties located in certain states. Our properties may be adversely
affected by economic cycles and risks inherent to those states.

A total of 10% or more of our consolidated annualized rental income on a straight-line basis for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2024 was generated from each of Florida, Pennsylvania and Georgia. Any adverse situation that disproportionately
affects operations or investments in these states may have a magnified adverse effect on our portfolio. Real estate markets are
subject to economic downturns, as they have been in the past, and we cannot predict how economic conditions will impact this
market in both the short and long-term. Declines in the economy or a decline in the real estate markets in these states could hurt
our financial performance and the value of our properties. Historically, Florida has been at greater risk of acts of nature such as
hurricanes and tropical storms, which may have worsened as a result of climate change, and has been subject to more pronounced
real estate downturns than other regions. Accordingly, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be
particularly susceptible to downturns or changes in the local Florida, Pennsylvania and Georgia economies where we operate.
Other factors that may negatively affect economic conditions include:

e increase in labor costs or labor shortage;

*  business layoffs or downsizing;

* industry slowdowns;

¢ relocations of businesses;

e climate change;

* changing demographics;

e increased telecommuting and use of alternative workplaces;

* infrastructure quality;

e any oversupply of, or reduced demand for, real estate;

e concessions or reduced rental rates under new leases for properties where tenants defaulted;
* increased insurance premiums;

e state budgets and payment to providers under Medicaid or other state healthcare programs; and
e changes in reimbursement for healthcare services from commercial insurers.

We may be unable to enter into contracts for and complete property acquisitions or dispositions on advantageous terms and
our property acquisitions may not perform as we expect.

In the near term, we expect to focus on disposing properties to reduce our existing indebtedness. There is no assurance that
we will be able to dispose of properties on terms that are found favorable to us or at the time we wish to do so. Over the longer
term, we expect to continue acquiring additional properties; pursuing this investment objective exposes us to numerous risks,
including:

e competition from other real estate investors with significant capital resources;
* we may acquire properties that are not accretive or dispose of properties at prices less than we originally contemplated;

* we may not successfully integrate, manage and lease the properties we acquire in a fashion that meets our expectations or
market conditions may result in future vacancies and lower-than expected rental rates;

* we may be unable to assume existing debt financing or obtain property-level debt financing or raise equity required to fund
acquisitions from other sources on favorable terms, or at all;

* we may need to spend more than budgeted amounts to make necessary improvements or renovations to acquired properties;

e agreements for the acquisition of properties are typically subject to customary conditions to closing that may or may not be
completed, and we may spend significant time and money on potential acquisitions that we do not consummate;

» the process of acquiring or pursuing the acquisition of a new property may divert the attention of our management team from
our existing business operations; and

*  we may acquire properties without recourse, or with only limited recourse, for liabilities, whether known or unknown.

We may be unable to realize the anticipated synergies and other benefits of the Internalization or do so within the anticipated
time frame.
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After the Internalization, we became an internally-managed REIT and are responsible for hiring and maintaining our own
workforce to facilitate the advisory and property management services. Because we are now internally managed, we are
responsible for directly compensating our officers, employees and consultants, as well as paying overhead expenses associated
with our workforce. There is no assurance that we will realize all, or any, of the anticipated cost-saving synergies of the
Internalization. We are now also subject to potential liabilities that are commonly faced by employers, such as workers’ disability
and compensation claims, potential labor disputes and other employee-related liabilities and grievances. We bear the cost of
establishing and maintaining employee compensation plans. In addition, as we have never previously operated as a self-managed
REIT, we may encounter unforeseen costs, expenses and difficulties associated with providing these services on a self-advised
basis.

We have not paid any distributions on our common stock in cash since 2020, and there can be no assurance we will pay
distributions on our common stock in cash in the future.

All dividends or other distributions on our common stock are paid in the discretion of our Board. We have not paid cash
distributions since 2020. From October 2020 through January 2024, we issued dividends in the form of common stock valued at
the Estimated Per-Share NAV in effect on the applicable date. We do not intend to declare any further stock dividends in the
future. There is also no assurance when or if we will pay dividends or distributions in cash in the future. We last published an
Estimated Per-Share NAV on March 27, 2024. The estimate was as of December 31, 2023 and has not been adjusted since
publication and will not be adjusted until the Board determines a new Estimated Per-Share NAV which is expected in late March
2025. Our ability to make future cash distributions on our common stock will depend on our future cash flows and indebtedness
and may further depend on our ability to obtain additional liquidity, which may not be available on favorable terms, or at all.
Further, if we do not pay dividends on our Series A Preferred Stock or Series B Preferred Stock, any accrued and unpaid
dividends payable with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock or Series B Preferred Stock become part of the liquidation
preference thereof, as applicable, and, whenever dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock or Series B Preferred Stock are in
arrears, whether or not authorized or declared, for six or more quarterly periods, holders of Series A Preferred Stock or Series B
Preferred Stock will have the right to elect two additional directors to serve on our Board.

If a tenant or lease guarantor declares bankruptcy or becomes insolvent, we may be unable to collect balances due under
relevant leases.

We have previously had tenants file for bankruptcy and seek the protections afforded under Title 11 of the United States
Code. There is no assurance we will not experience this in the future. A bankruptcy filing by one of our tenants or any guarantor
of a tenant’s lease obligations would result in a stay of all efforts by us to collect pre-bankruptcy debts from these entities or their
assets, unless we receive an enabling order from the bankruptcy court. Post-bankruptcy debts would be required to be paid
currently. If a lease is assumed by the tenant, all pre-bankruptcy balances owing under it must be paid in full. If a lease is rejected
by a tenant in bankruptcy, we would only have a general unsecured claim for damages. If a lease is rejected, it is unlikely we
would receive any payments from the tenant because our claim is capped at the rent reserved under the lease, without
acceleration, for the greater of one year or 15% of the remaining term of the lease, but not greater than three years, plus rent
already due but unpaid as of the date of the bankruptcy filing (post-bankruptcy rent would be payable in full). This claim could be
paid only if funds were available, and then only in the same percentage as that realized on other unsecured claims.

A tenant or lease guarantor bankruptcy could delay efforts to collect past due balances under the relevant leases and could
ultimately preclude full collection of these sums. A tenant or lease guarantor bankruptcy could cause a decrease or cessation of
rental payments that would mean a reduction in our cash flow and the amount available for dividends and other distributions to
our stockholders. In the event of a bankruptcy, there is no assurance that the debtor in possession or the bankruptcy trustee will
assume the lease.

A sale-leaseback transaction may be recharacterized in a tenant’s bankruptcy proceeding.

We may enter into sale-leaseback transactions, where we purchase a property and then lease the same property back to the
seller, who becomes our tenant as part of the transaction. In the event of the bankruptcy of a tenant, a transaction structured as a
sale-leaseback may be recharacterized as either a financing or a joint venture, and either type of recharacterization could adversely
affect our business. If the sale-leaseback were recharacterized as a financing, we might not be considered the owner of the
property, and as a result would have the status of a creditor. In that event, we would no longer have the right to sell or encumber
our ownership interest in the property. Instead, we would have a claim against the tenant for the amounts owed under the lease.
The tenant/debtor might have the ability to propose a plan restructuring the term, interest rate and amortization schedule of its
outstanding balance. If this plan were confirmed by the bankruptcy court, we would be bound by the new terms. If the sale-
leaseback were recharacterized as a joint venture, our lessee and we could be treated as co-venturers with regard to the property.
As a result, we could be held liable, under some circumstances, for debts incurred by the lessee relating to the property. Either of
these outcomes could adversely affect our cash flow.
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Our results of operations have been, and may continue to be, adversely impacted by our inability to collect rent from tenants.

On occasion, tenants at certain properties in our OMF segment and residents at certain properties in our SHOP segment have
been in default under their leases to us. These defaults negatively impact our results of operations. We incurred $1.5 million, $1.2
million and $3.2 million of bad debt expense, including straight-line rent write-offs, related to tenants in default under their leases
to us during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Further, even if we replace tenants in default to us in a manner that will allow us to transition the properties leased to those
tenants to our SHOP segment, there can be no assurance this strategy will be successful and we may be more exposed to changes
in property operating expenses. There also can be no assurance that we will be able to replace these tenants on a timely basis, or at
all, and our results of operations may therefore continue to be adversely impacted by bad debt expenses related to our inability to
collect rent from defaulting tenants. Transitions will also increase our exposure to risks associated with operating in this structure.

Our tenants or operators that experience deteriorating financial conditions have been, or may, in the future be, unwilling or
unable to pay us in full or on a timely basis due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, lack of funding, operational failures or for other
reasons. There is no assurance we will continue to collect at the current rates. Our ability to collect rents in future periods may be
impacted by issues or events that cannot be determined as present and the amount of cash rent collected during 2024 may not be
indicative of any future period.

We obtain only limited warranties when we purchase a property and therefore have only limited recourse if our due diligence
did not identify any issues that lower the value of our property.

We have acquired and may continue to acquire properties in “as is” condition on a “where is” basis and “with all faults,”
without any warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular use or purpose. In addition, purchase agreements we entered
into in the past, or may enter into in the future, may contain only limited warranties, representations and indemnifications that will
only survive for a limited period after the closing. The purchase of properties with limited warranties increases the risk that we
may lose some or all our invested capital in the property as well as the loss of rental income from that property if a situation or
loss occurs after the fact for which we have limited or no remedy.

Our properties and tenants may be unable to compete successfully.

The properties we have acquired and will acquire may face competition from nearby hospitals, senior housing properties and
other outpatient medical facilities that provide comparable services. Some of those competing facilities are owned by
governmental agencies and supported by tax revenues, and others are owned by nonprofit corporations and may be supported to a
large extent by endowments and charitable contributions. These types of support are not available to our properties. Similarly, our
tenants face competition from other medical practices in nearby hospitals and other medical facilities. Additionally, the
introduction and explosion of new stakeholders competing with traditional providers in the healthcare market, including
companies such as telemedicine, telehealth and mhealth, are disrupting the healthcare industry. Our tenants’ failure to compete
successfully with these other practices and providers could adversely affect their ability to make rental payments, which could
adversely affect our rental revenues.

Further, from time to time and for reasons beyond our control, referral sources, including physicians and managed care
organizations, may change their lists of hospitals or physicians to which they refer patients. This could adversely affect the ability
of our tenants to make rental payments, which could have a material adverse impact on us.

We may be unable to secure funds for future tenant improvements or capital needs.

If a tenant does not renew its lease or otherwise vacates its space, we will likely be required to expend substantial funds to
improve and refurbish the vacated space. In addition, we are typically responsible for any major structural repairs, such as repairs
to the foundation, exterior walls and rooftops, even if our leases with tenants may require tenants to pay routine property
maintenance costs, and the impact of such costs on our results of operations may be exacerbated during inflationary periods, such
as that experienced in recent years. If we need additional capital in the future to improve or maintain our properties or for any
other reason, we may have to obtain financing from sources beyond our cash flow from operations, such as borrowings, property
sales or future equity offerings to fund these capital requirements. These sources of funding may not be available on attractive
terms or at all, including, as a result of rising interest rates. Failure to procure additional funding for improvements would
adversely impact the value of the applicable property or our ability to lease the applicable property on favorable terms, if at all.

We have acquired or financed, and may continue to acquire or finance, properties with lock-out provisions which may prohibit
us from selling a property, or may require us to maintain specified debt levels for a period of years on some properties.
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Lock-out provisions, such as the provisions contained in certain mortgage loans we have entered into, could materially
restrict our ability to sell or otherwise dispose of properties or refinance properties, including by requiring a yield maintenance
premium to be paid in connection with the required prepayment of principal upon a sale or disposition. Lock-out provisions may
also prohibit us from reducing the outstanding indebtedness with respect to any properties, refinancing such indebtedness on a
non-recourse basis at maturity, or increasing the amount of indebtedness with respect to such properties. Lock-out provisions
could also impair our ability to take other actions during the lock-out period that may otherwise be in the best interests of our
stockholders. In particular, lock-out provisions could preclude us from participating in major transactions that could result in a
disposition of our assets or a change in control. Payment of yield maintenance premiums in connection with dispositions
(including for several of our dispositions in 2024 and 2025) or refinancings could adversely affect our cash flow, affecting our
results of operations and the ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Rising expenses could reduce cash flow.

The properties that we own or may acquire are subject to operating risks, any or all of which may negatively affect us. If any
property is not fully occupied or if rents are being paid in an amount that is insufficient to cover operating expenses, we could be
required to expend funds with respect to that property for operating expenses. Properties may be subject to increases in tax rates,
utility costs, operating expenses, insurance costs, repairs and maintenance and administrative expenses. In recent years, we have
experienced shortages in qualified labor and supply chain disruptions that have increased our operating costs, particularly in our
SHOP segment, and significant increases in insurance premiums across our portfolio. We may not be able to negotiate leases or
renewals on a triple-net basis or on a basis requiring the tenants to pay all or some of such expenses, in which event we may have
to pay those costs. If we are unable to lease properties on a triple-net basis or on a basis requiring the tenants to pay all or some of
such expenses, or if tenants fail to pay required tax, utility and other impositions, we could be required to pay those costs, which
could adversely affect our cash flow, affecting our results of operations and ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Inflation may have an adverse effect on our investments and results of operations.

Recent increases and continuing increases in the rate of inflation, both real and anticipated, have impacted and, may continue
to impact, our investments and results of operations. Inflation could erode the value of long-term leases that do not contain
indexed escalation provisions, or contain fixed annual rent escalation provisions that are at rates lower than the rate of inflation,
and increase expenses including those that cannot be passed through under our leases. Increased inflation could also increase our
general and administrative expenses and, as a result of an increase in market interest rate in response to higher than anticipated
inflation rate, increase our mortgage and debt interest costs, and these costs could increase at a rate higher than our rent increases.
An increase in our expenses or a failure of revenues to increase at least with inflation could adversely impact our results of
operations.

To help mitigate the adverse impact of inflation, most of our leases with tenants in our OMF segment contain rent escalation
provisions which increase the cash that is due under these leases over their respective terms. These provisions generally increase
rental rates during the terms of the leases either at fixed rates or indexed escalations (based on the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”)
or other measures). Leases with fixed or no escalation provisions may not keep pace with current rates of inflation, whereas leases
with indexed escalations may provide more protection against inflation. Although most of our leases contain rent escalation
provisions, these escalation rates are generally below the rate of inflation.

In addition to base rent, our net leases require the single-tenant OMF leases to pay all the properties operating expenses and
our multi-tenant OMF leases to pay their allocable share of operating expenses, which may include common area maintenance
costs, real estate taxes and insurance. Increased operating costs paid by our tenants under these net leases could have an adverse
impact on our tenants if increases in their operating expenses exceed increases in their revenue, which may adversely affect our
tenants’ ability to pay rent owed to us or property expenses to be paid, or reimbursed to us, by our tenants. Renewals of leases or
future leases for our net lease properties may not be negotiated on a triple-net basis or on a basis requiring the tenants to pay all or
some of such expenses, in which event we may have to pay those costs. If we are unable to lease properties on a triple-net basis or
on a basis requiring the tenants to pay all or some of such expenses, or if tenants fail to pay required tax, utility and other
impositions, we could be required to pay those costs.

Leases with residents at our SHOPs typically do not have rent escalations; however, we are able to renew leases at market
rates as they mature due to their short-term nature. As inflation rates increase, the cost of providing medical care at our SHOPs,
particularly labor costs and insurance premiums, will continue to increase. If we are unable to admit new residents or renew
resident leases at market rates, while bearing these increased costs from providing services to our residents, our results of
operations may be affected.
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Damage from catastrophic weather and other natural events and climate change could result in losses to us.

Certain of our properties are located in areas such as California and Florida that have experienced, and may continue to
experience, catastrophic weather and other natural events from time to time, including hurricanes or other severe weather,
flooding, fires, snow or ice storms, windstorms or earthquakes. These adverse weather and natural events could cause substantial
damages, losses and additional operational expenses to our properties which could exceed our insurance coverage and have also in
recent years contributed to increasing insurance premiums for our properties. In the event of a loss in excess of insured limits, we
could lose our capital invested in the affected property, as well as anticipated future revenue from that property. We could also
continue to be obligated to repay any mortgage indebtedness or other obligations related to the property.

To the extent that significant changes in the climate occur, we may experience extreme weather and changes in precipitation
and temperature and rising sea levels, all of which may result in physical damage to or a decrease in demand for properties located
in these areas or affected by these conditions. The impact of climate change may be material in nature, including destruction of
our properties, or occur for lengthy periods of time.

Growing public concern about climate change has resulted in the increased focus of local, state, regional, national and
international regulatory bodies on greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions and climate change issues. Legislation to regulate GHG
emissions has periodically been introduced in the U.S. Congress, and there has been a wide-ranging policy debate, both in the
U.S. and internationally, regarding the impact of these gases and possible means for their regulation. Federal, state or foreign
legislation or regulation on climate change could result in increased capital expenditures to improve the energy efficiency of our
existing properties or to protect them from the consequence of climate change and could also result in increased compliance costs
or additional operating restrictions that could adversely impact the businesses of our tenants and their ability to pay rent.

We may suffer uninsured losses relating to real property or have to pay expensive premiums for insurance coverage.

Our general liability, property and umbrella liability insurance coverage on all our properties may not be adequate to insure
against liability claims and provide for the costs of defense. Similarly, we may not have adequate coverage against the risk of
direct physical damage or to reimburse us on a replacement cost basis for costs incurred to repair or rebuild each property.
Moreover, there are types of losses, generally catastrophic in nature, such as losses due to wars, acts of terrorism, earthquakes,
floods, hurricanes, pollution or environmental matters that are uninsurable or not economically insurable, or may be insured
subject to limitations, such as large deductibles or co-payments. Insurance risks associated with such catastrophic events could
sharply increase the premiums we pay for coverage against property and casualty claims.

Changes in the cost or availability of insurance due to various reasons could also expose us to uninsured casualty losses. If
any of our properties incurs a casualty loss that is not fully insured, the value of our assets will be reduced by any uninsured loss.
In addition, other than any working capital reserve or other reserves we may establish, we have no source of funding to repair or
reconstruct any uninsured property. Also, to the extent we must pay unexpectedly large amounts for insurance, we could suffer
reduced earnings that would result in less cash flow.

Covenants, conditions and restrictions may impact our ability to operate a property.

Some of our properties are subject to ground leases or are contiguous to other parcels of real property, comprising part of the
same commercial center. In connection with such properties, there are significant covenants, conditions and restrictions restricting
the operation of such properties and any improvements on such properties, and related to granting easements on such properties.
Moreover, the operation and management of the contiguous properties may impact such properties. Compliance with covenants,
conditions and restrictions may adversely affect our operating costs and reduce the amount of cash flow that we generate. In
addition, there can be no assurance that the ground leases can be extended beyond the stated terms. As a ground lessee, we are
also exposed to the risk of reversion of the property upon expiration of the ground lease term or an earlier breach of the ground
lease, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our operating results may be negatively affected by potential development and construction delays and resultant increased
costs and risks.

We have acquired and developed, and may in the future acquire and develop, properties upon which we will construct
improvements. In connection with our development activities, we are subject to uncertainties associated with re-zoning for
development, environmental concerns of governmental entities or community groups and our builder or partner’s ability to build
in conformity with plans, specifications, budgeted costs, and timetables. Performance also may be affected or delayed by
conditions beyond our control. We may incur additional risks when we make periodic progress payments or other advances to
builders before they complete construction. If a builder or development partner fails to perform, we may resort to legal action to
rescind the purchase or the construction contract or to compel performance, but there can be no assurance any legal action would
be successful. These and other factors can result in increased costs of a project or loss of our investment. In addition, we will be
subject to normal lease-up risks relating to newly constructed projects. We also must rely on rental income and expense
projections and estimates of the fair market value of property upon completion of construction when agreeing upon a price at the
time we acquire the property. If our projections are inaccurate, we may pay too much for a property, and our return on our
investment could suffer.
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We compete with third parties in acquiring properties and other investments and attracting credit worthy tenants.

We compete with many other entities engaged in real estate investment activities, including individuals, corporations, private
investment funds, bank and insurance company investment accounts, other REITs, real estate limited partnerships, and other
entities engaged in real estate investment activities, many of which have greater resources than we do. These entities may enjoy
significant competitive advantages that result from, among other things, a lower cost of capital and enhanced operating
efficiencies. In addition, the number of entities and the amount of funds competing for suitable investments may increase.
Increased demand for assets will likely increase acquisition prices.

We also compete with other comparable properties for tenants, which impacts our ability to rent space and the amount of rent
charged. We could be adversely affected if additional competitive properties are built in locations near our properties, causing
increased competition for creditworthy tenants. This could result in decreased cash flow from our properties and may require us to
make capital improvements to properties that we would not have otherwise made, further impacting property cash flows.

Discovery of previously undetected environmentally hazardous conditions may adversely affect our operating results.

We are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations that (a) regulate certain activities and operations that
may have environmental or health and safety effects, such as the management, generation, release or disposal of regulated
materials, substances or wastes, (b) impose liability for the costs of cleaning up, and damages to natural resources from, past
spills, waste disposals on and off-site, or other releases of hazardous materials or regulated substances, and (c) regulate workplace
safety. Compliance with these laws and regulations could increase our operational costs. Violation of these laws may subject us to
significant fines, penalties or disposal costs, which could negatively impact our results of operations, financial position and cash
flows. Under various federal, state and local environmental laws (including those of foreign jurisdictions), a current or previous
owner or operator of currently or formerly owned, leased or operated real property may be liable for the cost of removing or
remediating hazardous or toxic substances on, under or in such property. The costs of removing or remediating could be
substantial. These laws often impose liability whether or not the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence
of such hazardous or toxic substances. Certain environmental laws and common law principles could be used to impose liability
for release of, and exposure to, hazardous substances, including asbestos-containing materials into the air, and third parties may
seek recovery from owners or operators of real properties for personal injury or property damage associated with exposure to
released hazardous substances. In addition, when excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials, mold
growth may occur, particularly if the moisture problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over a period of time. Some
molds may produce airborne toxins or irritants. Concern about indoor exposure to mold has been increasing, as exposure to mold
may cause a variety of adverse health effects and symptoms, including allergic or other reactions. As a result, the presence of
significant mold at any of our properties could require us to undertake a costly remediation program to contain or remove the
mold from the affected property or development project. Accordingly, we may incur significant costs to defend against claims of
liability, to comply with environmental regulatory requirements, to remediate any contaminated property, or to pay personal
injury claims.

Moreover, environmental laws also may impose liens on property or other restrictions on the manner in which property may
be used or businesses may be operated, and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures or prevent us from operating
such properties. Compliance with new or more stringent laws or regulations or stricter interpretation of existing laws may require
us to incur material expenditures. Future laws, ordinances or regulations or the discovery of currently unknown conditions or non-
compliances may impose material liability under environmental laws.

If we sell properties by providing financing to purchasers, defaults by the purchasers could adversely affect our cash flows.

In some instances, we may sell our properties by providing financing to purchasers. If we do so, we will bear the risk that the
purchaser may default on its debt, requiring us to seek remedies, a process which may be time-consuming and costly. Further, the
borrower may have defenses that could limit or eliminate our remedies. In addition, even in the absence of a purchaser default, the
proceeds from the sale will be delayed until the promissory notes or other property we may accept upon the sale are actually paid,
sold, refinanced or otherwise disposed of. In some cases, we may receive initial down payments in cash and other property in the
year of sale in an amount less than the selling price and subsequent payments will be spread over a number of years.
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We assume additional operational risks and are subject to additional regulation and liability because we depend on eligible
independent contractors to manage some of our facilities.

We invest in SHOPs using the RIDEA structure which permits REITs such as us to lease certain types of healthcare facilities
that we own or partially own to a TRS, provided that our TRS hires an independent qualifying management company to operate
the facility. Under this structure, the independent qualifying management company, which we also refer to as an operator,
receives a management fee from our TRS for operating the facility as an independent contractor. As the owner of the facility, we
assume most of the operational risk because we lease our facility to our own partially- or wholly-owned subsidiary rather than a
third-party operator. We are therefore responsible for any operating deficits incurred by the facility. We may in the future,
transition other OMF facilities, which may or may not be experiencing declining performance, to third-party managed facilities
using the RIDEA structure, in connection with which they would also transition from our OMF segment to our SHOP segment.
There can be no assurance these transitions will improve performance of the properties, and they will also increase our exposure
to risks associated with operating in this structure.

The income we generate from SHOPs is subject to a number of operational risks including fluctuations in occupancy levels
and resident fee levels, increases in the cost of food, materials, energy, labor (as a result of unionization, labor shortage, inflation
or otherwise) or other services, rent control regulations, national and regional economic conditions, the imposition of new or
increased taxes, capital expenditure requirements, professional and general liability claims, and the availability and cost of
professional and general liability insurance. There is no assurance we will be able to mitigate these declines. Further, we rely on
the personnel, expertise, technical resources and information systems, proprietary information, good faith and judgment of our
operators to set appropriate resident fees, provide accurate property-level financial results for our properties in a timely manner
and to otherwise operate our SHOPs in compliance with the terms of our management agreements and all applicable laws and
regulations. We also depend on our operators to attract and retain skilled management personnel who are responsible for the day-
to-day operations of our SHOPs. A shortage of nurses or other trained personnel or general inflationary pressures in recent years
have forced the operator to enhance pay and benefit packages to compete effectively for personnel, but it may not be able to offset
these added costs by increasing the rates charged to residents. The impact on staffing has resulted in increased turnover amongst
staff and greater reliance on staffing agencies, which could have the effect of increased insurance premiums. Further, recently
proposed changes in immigration policies could result in hiring and retention challenges if the immigration policies negatively
impact the pool of available workers. Furthermore, only a limited number of operators manage a substantial portion of our
SHOPs. Any additional increase in labor costs and other property operating expenses, any failure to attract and retain qualified
personnel, or significant changes in the operator’s senior management or equity ownership could adversely affect the income we
receive from our SHOPs.

The tenants of our SHOPs are generally required to be holders of the applicable healthcare licenses for the healthcare services
they administer. Any delay in obtaining the license, or failure to obtain one at all, could result in a delay or an inability to collect a
significant portion of our revenue from the impacted property. Furthermore, this licensing requirement subjects us (through our
ownership interest in our TRS) to various regulatory laws, including those described herein. Most states regulate and inspect
healthcare facility operations, patient care, construction and the safety of the physical environment. If one or more of our
healthcare real estate facilities fails to comply with applicable laws, our TRS, if it holds the healthcare license and is the entity
enrolled in government health care programs, would be subject to penalties including loss or suspension of license, certification or
accreditation, exclusion from government healthcare programs such as Medicare or Medicaid, administrative sanctions, civil
monetary penalties, and in certain instances, criminal penalties. Additionally, when we receive individually identifiable health
information relating to residents of our TRS-operated healthcare facilities, we may be subject to federal and state data privacy and
confidentiality laws and rules, and could be subject to liability in the event of an audit, complaint or data breach. Furthermore, to
the extent our TRS holds the healthcare license, it could have exposure to professional liability claims arising out of an alleged
breach of the applicable standard of care rules.

Joint venture investments could be adversely affected by our lack of sole decision-making authority, our reliance on the
financial condition of co-venturers and disputes between us and our co-venturers.

We have made investments in certain assets through joint ventures and may continue to enter into joint ventures, partnerships
and other co-ownership arrangements (including preferred equity investments) in the future. In such event, we may not be in a
position to exercise sole decision-making authority regarding the joint venture. Investments in joint ventures may, under certain
circumstances, involve risks not present were a third-party not involved, including the possibility that partners or co-venturers
might become bankrupt or fail to fund their required capital contributions. Co-venturers may have economic or other business
interests or goals which are inconsistent with our business interests or goals, and may be in a position to take actions contrary to
our policies or objectives. These investments may also have the potential risk of impasses on decisions, such as a sale, because
neither we nor the co-venturer would have full control over the joint venture. Disputes between us and co-venturers may result in
litigation or arbitration that would increase our expenses and prevent our officers or directors from focusing their time and effort
on our business. Consequently, actions by or disputes with co-venturers might result in subjecting properties owned by the joint
venture to additional risk. In addition, we may in certain circumstances be liable for the actions of our co-venturers.
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Net leases may not result in market rental rates over time.

Some of our rental income is generated by properties leased to tenants under net leases, which generally provide the tenant
greater discretion in using the leased property than ordinary property leases, such as the right to freely sublease the property, to
make alterations in the leased premises and to terminate the lease prior to its expiration under specified circumstances.
Furthermore, net leases typically have longer lease terms and, thus, there is an increased risk that contractual rental increases in
future years will fail to result in market rental rates during those years. Moreover, inflation could erode the value of long-term
leases that do not contain indexed escalation provisions.

We may be unable to renew leases or re-lease space as leases expire.

We may be unable to renew expiring leases on terms and conditions that are as, or more, favorable as the terms and
conditions of the expiring leases. In addition, vacancies may occur at one or more of our properties due to a default by a tenant on
its lease or expiration of a lease. Vacancies may reduce the value of a property as a result of reduced cash flow generated by the
property. Healthcare facilities in general and OMFs in particular tend to be specifically suited for the particular needs of their
tenants and we may not be able to locate suitable replacement tenants to lease the property for their specialized uses.
Alternatively, major renovations and expenditures may be required to adapt the properties for other uses in order for us to re-lease
vacant space or may be required to decrease the rent we intend to charge or provide other concessions in order to lease the
property to another tenant, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability
to make distributions to stockholders.

Our properties have been and may continue to be subject to impairment charges.

We periodically evaluate our real estate investments for impairment indicators. The judgment regarding the existence of
impairment indicators is based on factors such as market conditions, tenant performance and legal structure. For example, the
early termination of, or default under, a lease by a major tenant may lead to an impairment charge. If we determine that an
impairment has occurred, we are required to make a downward adjustment to the net carrying value of the property. Impairment
charges also indicate a potential permanent adverse change in the fundamental operating characteristics of the impaired property.
There is no assurance that these adverse changes will be reversed in the future and the decline in the impaired property’s value
could be permanent. We have incurred impairment charges, which have an immediate direct impact on our net loss for GAAP
purposes, including $24.9 million, during the year ended December 31, 2024. There can be no assurance that we will not take
additional charges in the future. Any future impairment could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results
of operations and liquidity.

Our real estate investments are relatively illiquid, and therefore we may not be able to dispose of properties when we desire to
do so or on favorable terms.

Investments in real properties are relatively illiquid. We may not be able to quickly alter our portfolio or generate capital by
selling properties. The real estate market is affected by many factors, such as general economic conditions, the availability of
financing, interest rates and other factors, including supply and demand, that are beyond our control. If we need or desire to sell a
property or properties, we cannot predict whether we will be able to do so at a price or on the terms and conditions acceptable to
us. We cannot predict the length of time needed to find a willing purchaser and to close the sale of a property. Further, we may be
required to invest monies to correct defects or to make improvements before a property can be sold. We can make no assurance
that we will have funds available to correct these defects or to make these improvements. Moreover, in acquiring a property or
incurring debt securing a property, we may agree to restrictions that prohibit the sale of that property for a period of time or
impose other restrictions, such as a limitation on the amount of debt that can be placed or repaid on that property. These types of
provisions restrict our ability to sell a property.

In addition, applicable provisions of the Code impose restrictions on the ability of a REIT to dispose of properties that are not
applicable to other types of real estate companies. Thus, we may be unable to realize our investment objectives by selling or
otherwise disposing of a property, or refinancing debt secured by the property, at attractive prices within any given period of time
or may otherwise be unable to complete any exit strategy.

Our success is dependent on the continued contributions of certain key personnel.

Our success depends on the continued contributions of our key executives, particularly Michael Anderson, our Chief
Executive Officer and President, and Scott Lappetito, our Chief Financial Officer, who have extensive market knowledge and
relationships and exercise substantial influence over our operational and financing activities. If we lose their services, such
relationships could diminish or be adversely affected. Our employment agreements with Messrs. Anderson and Lappetito do not
guarantee their continued employment with us. Many of our other senior executives also have extensive experience and strong
reputations in the real estate industry, particularly in the healthcare real estate sector. Many of these individuals have developed
specialized knowledge and skills in the healthcare real estate sector. The loss of services of one or more members of our senior
management team, or our inability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel, could adversely affect our business.
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If there are deficiencies in our disclosure controls and procedures or internal control over financial reporting, we could be
adversely impacted.

Our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting may not prevent all errors, misstatements
or misrepresentations. There can be no guarantee that our internal control over financial reporting will be effective in
accomplishing all control objectives all of the time. Deficiencies in our internal controls over financial reporting that may occur in
the future could result in misstatements of our results of operations, restatements of our financial statements or otherwise
adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

We have experienced net losses in the past and may experience additional losses in the future.

We have experienced net losses (calculated in accordance with GAAP) in recent years and we may not be profitable or
realize growth in our business. For a further discussion of the factors affecting our net losses, see Part II, Item 7, “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our Consolidated Financial Statements.

We are subject to risks associated with public health crises, such as pandemics and epidemics, which may have a material
adverse effect on our business.

We are subject to risks associated with public health crises, such as pandemics and epidemics. The scope and duration of any
future public health crisis, the pace at which government restrictions are imposed and lifted, the scope of additional actions taken
to mitigate the spread of disease, global vaccination and booster rates, the speed and extent to which global markets fully recover
from the disruptions caused by such a public health crisis, and the impact of these factors on our business, financial condition and
results of operations, will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence.

Risks Related to the Healthcare Industry

Our real estate investments are concentrated in healthcare-related facilities, and we may be negatively impacted by adverse
trends in the healthcare industry.

We own and seek to acquire a diversified portfolio of healthcare-related assets including OMFs, SHOPs and other healthcare-
related facilities. We are subject to risks inherent in concentrating investments in real estate and, in particular, healthcare-related
assets. A downturn in the commercial real estate industry generally could significantly adversely affect the value of our
properties. A downturn in the healthcare industry could particularly negatively affect our lessees’ ability to make lease payments
to us and our ability to pay dividends and other distributions to our stockholders. These adverse effects could be more pronounced
than if we diversified our investments outside of real estate or if our portfolio did not include a concentration in healthcare-related
assets.

Furthermore, the healthcare industry currently is experiencing rapid regulatory changes and uncertainty; changes in the
demand for and methods of delivering healthcare services; changes in third-party reimbursement policies; significant unused
capacity in certain areas, which has created substantial competition for patients among healthcare providers in those areas;
expansion of insurance providers into patient care; continuing pressure by private and governmental payors to reduce payments to
providers of services; and increased scrutiny of billing, referral and other practices by federal and state authorities. These factors
may adversely affect the economic performance of some or all of our tenants and, in turn, our revenues and cash flows.
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The healthcare industry is heavily regulated, and new laws or regulations, changes to existing laws or regulations, loss of
licensure or failure to obtain licensure could result in the inability of our tenants to make rent payments to us.

The healthcare industry is heavily regulated by federal, state and local governmental bodies. Our tenants and operators
generally are subject to laws and regulations covering, among other things, licensure, certification for participation in government
programs, relationships with physicians and other referral sources, and the privacy and security of patient health information.
Changes in these laws and regulations could negatively affect the ability of our tenants to make lease payments to us. Such
potential changes include changes in state and federal law and regulations that aim to curtail the role of private equity and REIT
ownership of assisted living facilities and skilled nursing facilities, and the potential for the federal government to attempt to enact
legislation or adopt regulations giving it general regulatory oversight over assisted living facilities (which are currently regulated
at the state level). In some states, healthcare facilities are subject to various state CON laws requiring governmental approval prior
to the development or expansion of healthcare facilities and services. The approval process in these states generally requires a
facility to demonstrate the need for additional or expanded healthcare facilities or services. CONs, where applicable, can also be
conditions to regulatory approval of changes in ownership or control of licensed facilities, addition of beds, investment in major
capital equipment, introduction of new services, termination of services previously approved through the CON process and other
control or operational changes. Many of our medical facilities and their tenants may require a license or CON to operate. Failure
to obtain a license or CON, or loss of a required license or CON, would prevent a facility from operating in the manner intended
by the tenant and may restrict a tenant’s or operator’s ability to expand properties and grow the tenant’s or operator’s business in
certain circumstances, which could have an adverse effect on the operator’s or tenant’s revenues, and in turn, negatively impact
their ability to make rental payments under, and otherwise comply with the terms of their leases with us. State CON laws are not
uniform throughout the United States and are subject to change. We cannot predict the impact of state CON laws on our
improvement of medical facilities or the operations of our tenants and operators. In addition, state CON laws often materially
impact the ability of competitors to enter into the marketplace of our facilities. The repeal of CON laws could allow competitors
to freely operate in previously closed markets. This could negatively affect the ability of our tenants to make rental payments to
us. In limited circumstances, loss of state licensure or certification or closure of a facility could ultimately result in loss of
authority to operate the facility and require new CON authorization to re-institute operations.

Furthermore, uncertainty surrounding the implementation of the ACA may adversely affect our tenants. As the primary
vehicle for comprehensive healthcare reform in the United States, the ACA was designed to reduce the number of individuals in
the United States without health insurance and change the ways in which healthcare is organized, delivered and reimbursed. The
ACA has faced ongoing legal challenges, including litigation seeking to invalidate some or all of the law or the manner in which it
has been interpreted. The legal challenges and legislative initiatives to roll back the ACA continues and the outcomes are
uncertain. In June of 2021, the Supreme Court of the United States for a third time declined to invalidate the ACA. There is no
assurance that future litigation or legislative initiatives will not attempt to do so. There are no current challenges to the ACA but
that could change based on the makeup of Congress and presidential administration. The regulatory uncertainty and the potential
impact on our tenants could have an adverse material effect on their ability to satisfy their contractual obligations. Further, we are
unable to predict the scope of future federal, state and local regulations and legislation, including Medicare and Medicaid statutes
and regulations or judicial decisions, or the intensity of enforcement efforts with respect to such regulations and legislation, and
any changes in the regulatory or judicial framework may have a material adverse effect on our tenants.

Health insurance coverage under the ACA is likely going to continue to expand in 2025. However, the repeal of the
individual mandate penalty included in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, recent actions to increase the availability of insurance
policies that do not include ACA minimum benefit standards, and support for Medicaid work requirements will likely impact the
market. Accordingly, current and future payments under federal and state healthcare programs may not be sufficient to sustain a
facility’s operations, which could adversely affect its ability to satisfy its contractual obligations, including making rental
payments under, and otherwise complying with the terms of, the facility’s leases and other agreements with us. These risks could
be mitigated by our limited participation in governmental-sponsored payor programs.

The ACA includes program integrity provisions that both create new authorities and expand existing authorities for federal
and state governments to address fraud, waste and abuse in federal health programs. In addition, the ACA expands reporting
requirements and responsibilities related to facility ownership and management, patient safety and care quality. In the ordinary
course of their businesses, our tenants and operators may be regularly subjected to inquiries, investigations and audits by federal
and state agencies that oversee these laws and regulations. If they do not comply with the additional reporting requirements and
responsibilities, the ability of our tenants to participate in federal health programs may be adversely affected. Moreover, there may
be other comprehensive healthcare reform legislation, which, depending on how they are implemented, could materially and
adversely affect our operators.

The ACA also requires the reporting and return of overpayments. Healthcare providers that fail to report and return an
overpayment could face potential liability under the FCA and the CMPL and exclusion from federal healthcare programs.
Accordingly, if our tenants fail to comply with the ACA’s requirements, they may be subject to significant monetary penalties and
excluded from participation in Medicare and Medicaid, which could materially and adversely affect their ability to pay rent and
satisfy other financial obligations to us.
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Reductions or changes in reimbursement from third-party payors, including Medicare and Medicaid, or delays in receiving
these reimbursements, could adversely affect the profitability of our tenants and operators and hinder their ability to make rent
payments to us.

Our tenants and operators may receive payments from the federal Medicare program, state Medicaid programs, private
insurance carriers and health maintenance organizations, among others. Efforts by such payors to reduce healthcare costs have
intensified in recent years and will likely continue, which may result in reductions or slower growth in reimbursement for certain
services provided by some of our tenants and operators. The Medicare and Medicaid programs have adopted a variety of
initiatives which have been incorporated and expanded by private insurance carriers, including health maintenance organizations
and other health plans, to extract greater discounts and impose more stringent cost controls upon healthcare provider operations.
Examples include, but are not limited to, changes in reimbursement rates and methodologies, such as bundled payments,
capitation payments and discounted fee structures. As a result, our tenants and operators may face significant limits on the
reimbursed and on reimbursement rates and fees. All of these changes could impact the ability of our tenants to pay rent or our
operator’s ability to meet their obligations to us. In addition, tenants and operators in certain states have experienced delays; some
of which are, have been, and may be late in receiving reimbursements, which have adversely affected their ability to make rent
payments to us. Further, failure of any of our tenants or operators to comply with various laws and regulations could jeopardize
their ability to continue participating in Medicare, Medicaid and other government-sponsored payment programs.

The healthcare industry continues to face various challenges, including increased government and private payor pressure on
healthcare providers to control or reduce costs. Coverage expansions under the ACA through the Medicaid expansion and health
insurance exchanges may be scaled back or eliminated in the future due to ongoing legal challenges and the future status of the
ACA is unknown. We cannot ensure that of our tenants or operators who currently depend on governmental or private payer
reimbursement will be adequately reimbursed for the services they provide.

Any slowdown in the United States economy can negatively affect state budgets, thereby putting pressure on states to
decrease spending on state programs including Medicaid. The need to control Medicaid expenditures may be exacerbated by the
potential for increased enrollment in state Medicaid programs due to unemployment and declines in family incomes. Historically,
some states have attempted to reduce Medicaid spending by limiting benefits and tightening Medicaid eligibility requirements.
Potential reductions to Medicaid program spending in response to state budgetary pressures could negatively impact the ability of
our tenants and operators to successfully operate their businesses.

Our tenants and operators may continue to experience a shift in payor mix away from fee-for-service payors, resulting in an
increase in the percentage of revenues attributable to managed care payors, and general industry trends that include pressures to
control healthcare costs. In addition, some of our tenants and operators may be subject to value-based purchasing programs, which
base reimbursement on the quality and efficiency of care provided by facilities and require the public reporting of quality data and
preventable adverse events to receive full reimbursement. Pressures to control healthcare costs and a shift away from traditional
health insurance reimbursement to managed care plans have resulted in an increase in the number of patients whose healthcare
coverage is provided under managed care plans, such as health maintenance organizations and preferred provider organizations.
MACRA has also established a new payment framework, which modified certain Medicare payments to eligible clinicians,
representing a fundamental change to physician reimbursement. These changes could have a material adverse effect on the
financial condition of some or all of our tenants in our properties. The financial impact on our tenants could restrict their ability to
make rent payments to us.

Required regulatory approvals can delay or prohibit transfers of our healthcare facilities.

Transfers of healthcare facilities to successor tenants and/or operators are typically subject to regulatory approvals or
ratifications, including, but not limited to, change of ownership approvals, zoning approvals, and Medicare and Medicaid provider
arrangements that are either not required, or enjoy reduced requirements, in connection with transfers of other types of
commercial operations and other types of real estate. The replacement of any tenant and/or operator could be delayed by the
regulatory approval process of any federal, state or local government agency necessary for the transfer of the facility or the
replacement of the tenant or, if applicable, operator, licensed to operate the facility. If we are unable to find a suitable replacement
tenant or operator upon favorable terms, or at all, we may take possession of a facility, which could expose us to successor
liability, require us to indemnify subsequent entities to whom we transfer the operating rights and licenses, or require us to spend
substantial time and funds to preserve the value of the property and adapt the facility to other use. Furthermore, transitioning to a
new tenant and/or operator could cause disruptions at the operations of the properties and, if there is a delay in the new tenant or
operator obtaining its ability to receive reimbursement from third-party payors.
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A reduction in Medicare payment rates for skilled nursing facilities may have an adverse effect on the Medicare
reimbursements received by one of our tenants.

Several government initiatives have resulted in reductions in funding of the Medicare and Medicaid programs and additional
changes in reimbursement regulations by the CMS, contributing to pressure to contain healthcare costs and additional operational
requirements, which may impact the ability of our tenant to make rent payments to us. The Medicare and Medicaid programs have
adopted a variety of initiatives which have been incorporated and expanded by private insurance carriers, including health
maintenance organizations and other health plans, to extract greater discounts and impose more stringent cost controls upon
healthcare provider operations. As a result, our tenant may face reductions in reimbursement rates and fees. A delay in receiving
reimbursements could adversely affect its ability to make rent payments to us. Similar delays, or reductions in reimbursements,
may continue to impose financial and operational challenges for our tenants and tenant, which may affect its ability to make
contractual payments to us. These risks could be mitigated by our limited participation in government-sponsored payor programs.

There have been numerous initiatives on the federal and state levels for comprehensive reforms affecting the payment for,
and availability of, healthcare services. We may own and acquire skilled nursing facility assets that rely on revenue from
Medicaid or Medicare. Our one skilled nursing facility has, and may continue to experience, limited increases or reductions in
Medicare payments and aspects of certain of these government initiatives, such as further reductions in funding of the Medicare
and Medicaid programs, additional changes in reimbursement regulations by CMS, enhanced pressure to contain healthcare costs
by Medicare, Medicaid and other payors, and additional operational requirements may adversely affect their ability to make rental
payments. For example, CMS is focused on reducing what it considers to be payment errors by identifying, reporting, and
implementing actions to reduce payment error vulnerabilities.

In addition, CMS is currently in the midst of transitioning Medicare from traditional fee for service reimbursement models to
a capitated system, which means medical providers are given a set fee per patient regardless of treatment required, and value-
based and bundled payment approaches, where the government pays a set amount for each beneficiary for a defined period of
time, based on that person’s underlying medical needs, rather than based on the actual services provided. Providers and facilities
are increasing responsible to care for and be financially responsible for certain populations of patients under the population health
models and this shift in patient management paradigm is creating and will continue to create unprecedented challenges for
providers and impact their ability to pay rent to us.

Certain of our facilities may be subject to pre- and post-payment reviews and audits by governmental authorities, which could
result in recoupments, denials or delay of payments and could adversely affect the profitability of our tenants and operators.

Certain of our facilities may be subject to periodic pre- and post-payment reviews and audits by governmental authorities. If
the review or audit shows a facility is not in compliance with federal and state requirements, previous payments to the facility
may be recouped and future payments may be denied or delayed. Recoupments, denials or delay of payments could adversely
affect the profitability of our tenants and hinder their ability to make rent payments to us and the ability of our operators to satisfy
their ongoing contractual obligations, and our results of operations could be adversely affected.

We may incur costs associated with complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act.

Our properties must also comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (the “Disabilities Act”). Under the
Disabilities Act, all places of public accommodation are required to comply with federal requirements related to access and use by
disabled persons. The Disabilities Act has separate compliance requirements for “public accommodations” and “commercial
facilities” that generally require that buildings and services, including restaurants and retail stores, be made accessible and
available to people with disabilities. The Disabilities Act’s requirements could require removal of access barriers and could result
in the imposition of injunctive relief, monetary penalties, or, in some cases, an award of damages. A determination that a property
does not comply with the Disabilities Act could result in liability for both governmental fines and damages. If we are required to
make unanticipated major modifications to any of our properties to comply with the Disabilities Act which are determined not to
be the responsibility of our tenants, we could incur unanticipated expenses that could have an adverse impact upon our cash flow.

Events that adversely affect the ability of seniors and their families to afford daily resident fees at our SHOPs could cause our
occupancy rates and resident fee revenues to decline.

Assisted and independent living services generally are not reimbursable under Medicare and our facilities have limited
participation in Medicaid. Most of the resident fee revenues generated by our SHOPs, therefore, are derived from private pay
sources consisting of the income or assets of residents or their family members. The rates for these residents are set by the
facilities based on local market conditions and operating costs. In light of the significant expense associated with building new
properties and staffing and other costs of providing services, typically only seniors with income or assets that meet or exceed the
comparable region median can afford the daily resident and care fees at our SHOPs. A weak economy, depressed housing market
or changes in demographics could adversely affect their continued ability to do so. If the operators of our SHOPs are unable to
attract and retain seniors that have sufficient income, assets or other resources to pay the fees associated with assisted and
independent living services, the occupancy rates, resident fee revenues and results of operations of our SHOPs could decline.

25



Termination of SHOP leases by residents pursuant to state law mandated contractual provisions could have an adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

State regulations generally require assisted living communities to have a written lease agreement with each resident that
permits the resident to terminate his or her lease for any reason on reasonable notice, unlike typical apartment lease agreements
that have initial terms of one year or longer. Due to these lease termination rights and the advanced age of the residents, the
resident turnover rate in our SHOPs may be difficult to predict. A large number of resident lease agreements may terminate at or
around the same time, and the affected units may remain unoccupied, which could have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Some tenants and operators of our healthcare-related assets must comply with fraud and abuse laws, the violation of which by
either may jeopardize the tenant’s ability to make rent payments to us.

There are various federal and state laws prohibiting fraudulent and abusive business practices by healthcare providers who
participate in, receive payments from or are in a position to make referrals in connection with government-sponsored healthcare
programs, including the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

Our lease arrangements with certain tenants and our management agreements with certain operators may also be subject to
these fraud and abuse laws. These laws include the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, the
knowing and willful offer, payment, solicitation or receipt of any form of remuneration in return for, or to induce, the referral of
any item or service reimbursed by Medicare or Medicaid; the Federal Physician Self-Referral Prohibition (commonly referred to
as the “Stark Law”), which, subject to specific exceptions, restricts physicians from making referrals for specifically designated
health services for which payment may be made under Medicare or Medicaid programs to an entity with which the physician, or
an immediate family member, has a financial relationship; the FCA, which prohibits any person from knowingly presenting false
or fraudulent claims for payment to the federal government, including claims paid by the Medicare and Medicaid programs, and
which can result in treble damages; and the CMPL, which authorizes the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services to
impose monetary penalties for certain fraudulent acts. Additionally, some states may have laws similar to the Federal Anti-
Kickback Statute and the Stark Law expanding their respective prohibitions to private insurance.

Each of these laws includes substantial criminal or civil penalties for violations that range from punitive sanctions, damage
assessments, penalties, imprisonment, denial of Medicare and Medicaid payments or exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid
programs. Certain laws, such as the FCA, allow for individuals to bring whistleblower actions on behalf of the government for
violations thereof. Additionally, certain states in which the facilities are located also have similar fraud and abuse laws. Federal
and state adoption and enforcement of such laws increase the regulatory burden and costs, and potential liability, of healthcare
providers. Investigation by a federal or state governmental body for violation of fraud and abuse laws or imposition of any of
these penalties upon one of our tenants could jeopardize that tenant’s and operator’s business, reputation, and ability to operate or
to make rent payments, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

Tenants and operators of our healthcare-related assets may be subject to significant legal actions that could subject them to
increased operating costs and substantial uninsured liabilities, which may affect their ability to pay their rent payments to us.

Our tenants and operators of our healthcare-related assets from time to time become subject to claims that their services have
resulted in patient injury or other adverse effects. The insurance coverage maintained by these tenants and operators may not
cover all claims made against them or continue to be available at a reasonable cost, if at all. In some states, insurance coverage for
the risk of punitive damages arising from professional liability and general liability claims or litigation may not, in certain cases,
be available to these tenants due to state law prohibitions or limitations of availability. As a result, these types of tenants and
operators operating in these states may be liable for punitive damage awards that are either not covered or are in excess of their
insurance policy limits. Recently, there has been an increase in governmental investigations of certain healthcare providers,
particularly in the area of Medicare and Medicaid false claims, as well as an increase in enforcement actions resulting from these
investigations. Insurance may not be available to cover such losses. Any adverse determination in a legal proceeding or
governmental investigation, whether currently asserted or arising in the future, could have a material adverse effect on a tenant’s
or operator’s financial condition. If a tenant or operator is unable to obtain or maintain insurance coverage, if judgments are
obtained in excess of the insurance coverage, if a tenant or operator is required to pay uninsured punitive damages, or if a tenant
or operator is subject to an uninsurable government enforcement action, the tenant could be exposed to substantial additional
liabilities, which may affect the tenant’s or operator’s business, operations and the tenant’s ability to pay rent to us, which could
have a material adverse effect on us.
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We may experience adverse effects as a result of potential financial and operational challenges faced by the tenants and
operators of any seniors housing facilities and skilled nursing facilities we own or acquire.

Tenants and operators of any seniors housing facilities and skilled nursing facilities may face operational challenges from
potentially reduced revenue streams and increased demands on their existing financial resources. The resources of our skilled
nursing units are primarily derived from government-funded reimbursement programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid.
Accordingly, our one skilled nursing facility and limited assisted living facilities that participate in Medicaid could be subject to
the potential negative effects of decreased reimbursement rates or other changes in reimbursement policy or programs offered
through such reimbursement programs. Revenue may also be adversely affected as a result of falling occupancy rates or slow
lease-ups for assisted and independent living facilities due to various factors. In addition, our facility operators may incur
additional demands on their existing financial resources as a result of increases in seniors housing facility operator liability,
insurance premiums and other operational expenses, which is worsened by the nationwide staffing shortage. The economic
deterioration of a tenant or operator could cause such operator to file for bankruptcy protection. The bankruptcy or insolvency of a
tenant or operator may adversely affect the income produced by the property or properties it operates.

The performance and economic condition of our tenant and operators may be negatively affected if they fail to comply with
various complex federal and state laws that govern a wide array of referrals, relationships and licensure requirements in the senior
healthcare industry. The violation of any of these laws or regulations by a seniors housing facility tenant or operator may result in
the imposition of fines or other penalties that could jeopardize that tenant’s or operator’s ability to make payments to us or to
continue operating its facility. In addition, legislative proposals are commonly being introduced or proposed in federal and state
legislatures that could affect major changes in the seniors housing sector, either nationally or at the state level. Any such
legislation could materially impact our tenant or operators in an adverse fashion.

We may change our targeted investments without stockholder consent.

We have acquired and expect to continue to acquire a diversified portfolio of healthcare-related assets including OMFs,
SHOPs and other healthcare-related facilities. However, the Board may change our investment policies in its sole discretion. We
may change our targeted investments and investment guidelines at any time without the consent of our stockholders, which could
result in our making investments that are different from, and possibly riskier than, initially anticipated by increasing our exposure
to, among other things, interest rate risk, default risk and real estate market fluctuations.

Risks Related to our Indebtedness
Our level of indebtedness may increase our business risks.

As of December 31, 2024, we had total outstanding indebtedness of $1.2 billion. We may incur additional indebtedness in the
future for various purposes. The amount of our indebtedness could have material adverse consequences for us, including:

*  hindering our ability to adjust to changing market, industry or economic conditions;

e limiting our ability to access the capital markets to raise additional equity or debt on favorable terms or at all, whether to
refinance maturing debt, to fund acquisitions, to fund dividends and other distributions or for other corporate purposes;

*  limiting the amount of free cash flow available for future operations, acquisitions, dividends and other distributions, stock
repurchases or other uses; and

e making us more vulnerable to economic or industry downturns, including interest rate increases.

In most instances, we acquire real properties by using either existing financing or borrowing new funds. We may incur debt
and pledge the underlying property as security for that debt to obtain funds to acquire additional properties or for other corporate
purposes. We may also borrow if we need funds to satisfy the REIT tax qualification requirement that we generally distribute
annually to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (which does not equal net income as calculated in
accordance with GAAP), determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding any net capital gain. We
also may borrow if we otherwise deem it necessary or advisable to assure that we maintain our qualification as a REIT.

If there is a shortfall between the cash flow from a property and the cash flow needed to service mortgage debt on that
property, especially if we acquire the property when it is being developed or under construction, we may use additional
borrowings to fund the shortfall. Using debt increases the risk of loss because defaults on indebtedness secured by a property may
result in lenders initiating foreclosure actions. In that case, we could lose the property securing the loan that is in default. For U.S.
federal income tax purposes, a foreclosure of any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property for a purchase price
equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the
mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property, we would recognize taxable income on foreclosure, but would not receive any
cash proceeds. In this event, we may be unable to pay the amount of distributions required in order to maintain our REIT status.
We may also fully or partially guarantee mortgage debt incurred by the subsidiary entities that own our properties. In those cases,
we will be responsible to the lender for repaying the debt if it is not paid by the entity. In the case of mortgages containing cross-
collateralization or cross-default provisions, a default on a single mortgage could affect multiple properties.
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Our financing arrangements have restrictive covenants, which may limit our ability to pursue strategic alternatives and react
to changes in our business and industry or pay distributions.

The agreements governing our borrowings contain provisions that affect or restrict our policies regarding dividends and other
distributions and our operations, require us to satisfy financial coverage ratios, and may restrict our ability to, among other things,
incur additional indebtedness, make certain investments, enter into certain transactions with our affiliates, discontinue insurance
coverage, merge with another company, and create, incur or assume liens. These or other limitations may adversely affect our
flexibility and our ability to achieve our investment and operating objectives. Our failure to comply with those covenants could
result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result in the acceleration of debt under such agreements. Any
such event of default or acceleration could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Changes in the debt markets could have a material adverse impact on our earnings and financial condition.

The commercial real estate debt markets are subject to volatility, resulting in, from time to time, the tightening of
underwriting standards by lenders and credit rating agencies and reductions in the availability of financing. For example, recent
credit and capital market conditions have been characterized by volatility and a tightening of credit standards. This may impact
our ability to access capital on favorable terms, in a timely manner, or at all, which could make obtaining funding for our capital
needs more challenging or expensive. We also face a heightened level of interest rate risk as the U.S. Federal Reserve Board
tapers its quantitative easing program and raises interest rates, such as in recent years. All of these actions will likely lead to
increases in borrowing costs.

If our overall cost of borrowings continue to increase, either due to increases in the index rates or due to increases in lender
spreads, we will need to factor such increases into pricing and projected returns for any future acquisitions. This may result in
future acquisitions generating lower overall economic returns. Volatility in the debt markets, may negatively impact our ability to
borrow monies to finance the purchase of, or other activities related to, our real estate assets may be negatively impacted. If we
are unable to borrow monies on terms and conditions that we find acceptable, our ability to purchase properties and meet other
capital requirements may be limited, and the return on the properties we do purchase may be lower. In addition, we may find it
difficult, costly or impossible to refinance maturing indebtedness.

Furthermore, the state of the debt markets could have an impact on the overall amount of capital being invested in real estate,
which may result in price or value decreases of real estate assets and could negatively impact the value of our assets, which could
have a material adverse effect on us.

Elevated interest rates may make it difficult for us to finance or refinance indebtedness secured by our properties and could
increase the amount of our debt payments.

We have borrowed, and may continue to borrow monies, secured and unsecured by our properties. During 2022 and 2023, the
U.S. Federal Reserve began a process of raising the federal funds rate and quantitative tightening to address rising inflation.
Recently, the U.S. Federal Reserve reduced interest rates for the first time in several years; however, it remains unclear as to
whether or how quickly interest rates will continue to decline. However, for most of the periods presented herein, rates were rising
or elevated versus historical lows, which may adversely impact our ability to refinance our indebtedness, including the
indebtedness secured by our properties, as the loans come due or we otherwise desire to do so on favorable terms, or at all. If
interest rates are higher when the indebtedness is refinanced, we may not be able to refinance indebtedness secured by the
properties and we may be required to obtain equity to repay the loan or to increase the collateral for the loan, which could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

In addition, we have incurred, and may continue to incur, variable-rate debt. The elevated federal funds rate in recent years
has increased the borrowing costs on our variable-rate debt and may increase the cost of any new debt we incur or refinance. We
have mortgages, credit facilities and derivative agreements that have terms that are based on the Secured Overnight Financing
Rate (“SOFR”). As of December 31, 2024, 63.0% of our total gross debt bore interest at variable rates. As of December 31, 2024,
we had one designated interest rate swap with a notional amount of $378.5 million, which effectively fixes a portion of our
variable-rate debt, and we had eight interest rate caps with a notional amount of $369.2 million, which, while not designated as
hedges for accounting purposes, do economically limit our exposure to increasing variable rates, but such interest rate swap and
caps may not be effective in reducing our exposure to interest rate changes.

In addition, the publication of SOFR began in April 2018, and, therefore, it has a limited history. The future performance of
SOFR cannot be predicted based on the limited historical performance. Future levels of SOFR may bear little or no relation to the
historical actual or historical indicative SOFR data.
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Any hedging strategies we utilize may not be successful in mitigating our risks.

We have used, and may continue to use, derivative financial instruments to hedge our exposure to changes in interest rates
with respect to borrowings made or to be made to acquire or own real estate assets, which instruments expose us to credit basis
and legal enforceability risks. Derivative financial instruments may include interest rate swap contracts, interest rate cap or floor
contracts, futures or forward contracts, options or repurchase agreements. In this context, credit risk is the failure of the
counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative contract. If the fair value of a derivative contract is positive, the
counterparty owes us, which creates credit risk for us. Basis risk occurs when the index upon which the contract is based is more
or less variable than the index upon which the hedged asset or liability is based, thereby making the hedge less effective. Finally,
legal enforceability risks encompass general contractual risks, including the risk that the counterparty will breach the terms of, or
fail to perform its obligations under, the derivative contract. These derivative instruments are speculative in nature and there is no
guarantee that they will be effective. If we are unable to manage these risks effectively, we could be materially and adversely
affected.

Risks Related to our Corporate Structure

Our common stock is not traded on a national securities exchange, and our share repurchase program (the “SRP”), which
provides for repurchases only in the event of death or disability of a stockholder, is suspended. Stockholders may have to hold
their shares for an indefinite period of time.

Our common stock is not listed on a national securities exchange and there is otherwise no active trading market for the
shares and our SRP is suspended. Even if not suspended, our SRP includes numerous restrictions that limit a stockholder’s ability
to sell shares of common stock to us, including limiting repurchases only to stockholders that have died or become disabled,
limiting the total value of repurchases pursuant to our SRP to the amount of proceeds received from issuances of common stock
pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan (“DRIP”) and limiting repurchases in any fiscal semester to 2.5% of the average
number of shares outstanding during the previous fiscal year. These limits are subject to the authority of the Board to identify
another source of funds for repurchases under the SRP. The Board may also reject any request for repurchase of shares at its
discretion or amend, suspend or terminate our SRP upon notice in its discretion. Shares that are repurchased will be repurchased
at a price equal to the applicable Estimated Per-Share NAV and may be at a substantial discount to the price the stockholder paid
for the shares.

The Estimated Per-Share NAV of our common stock is based upon subjective judgments, assumptions and opinions about
future events, and may not reflect the amount that our stockholders might receive for their shares.

We intend to publish an updated Estimated Per-Share NAV as of December 31, 2024 in late March 2025. We have engaged
an independent valuer to perform appraisals of our real estate assets in accordance with valuation guidelines established by the
Board. As with any methodology used to estimate value, the valuation methodologies that will be used by any independent valuer
to value our properties involve subjective judgments concerning factors such as comparable sales, rental and operating expense
data, capitalization or discount rate, and projections of future rent and expenses.

Under our valuation guidelines, our independent valuer estimates the market value of our principal real estate and real estate-
related assets, and we make a recommendation as to the net value of our real estate and real estate-related assets and liabilities
taking into consideration such estimate provided by the independent valuer. We review the valuation provided by the independent
valuer for consistency with our valuation guidelines and the reasonableness of the independent valuer’s conclusions. The
independent directors of the Board oversee and review the appraisals and valuations and make a final determination of the
Estimated Per-Share NAV. The independent directors of the Board rely on our input, including our view of the estimate and the
appraisals performed by the independent valuer, but the independent directors of the Board may, in their discretion, consider other
factors. Although the valuations of our real estate assets by the independent valuer are reviewed by us and approved by the
independent directors of the Board, neither we nor the independent directors of the Board will independently verify the appraised
value of our properties and valuations do not necessarily represent the price at which we would be able to sell any asset. As a
result, the appraised value of a particular property may be greater or less than its potential realizable value, which would cause our
Estimated per-share NAV to be greater or less than the potential realizable value of our assets.

The price at which shares of our common stock may be sold under the DRIP, if reinstated, would be the price at which shares
of our common stock may be repurchased by us pursuant to the SRP, if reinstated, would be based on Estimated Per-Share NAV
and may not reflect the price that our stockholders would receive for their shares in a market transaction, the proceeds that would
be received upon our liquidation or the price that a third-party would pay to acquire us.
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Because Estimated Per-Share NAV is only determined annually, it may differ significantly from our actual per-share net asset
value at any given time.

Our Board estimates the per-share net asset value of our common stock only on an annual basis. In connection with any
valuation, the Board estimate of the value of our real estate and real estate-related assets will be partly based on appraisals of our
properties. Because the process of making this estimate is conducted annually, this process may not account for material events
that occur after the estimate has been completed for that year. Material events could include the appraised value of our properties
substantially changing actual property operating results differing from what we originally budgeted or dividends and other
distributions to stockholders exceeding cash flow generated by us. Any such material event could cause a change in the Estimated
Per-Share NAV that would not be reflected until the next valuation. Also, cash dividends and other distributions in excess of our
cash flows provided by operations could decrease our Estimated Per-Share NAV. The Estimated Per-Share NAV reflected stock
dividends actually issued as of December 31, 2023, but has not been adjusted to reflect or consider any of the other stock
dividends that were issued and will not be adjusted for stock dividends paid or that may be issued in the future until the Board
determines a new Estimated Per-Share NAV which is expected in late March 2025. Dividends paid in the form of additional
shares of common stock will, all things equal, cause the value of each share of common stock to decline because the number of
shares outstanding increases when dividends paid in stock are issued reducing the Estimated Per-Share NAV. The Estimated Per-
Share NAV may not reflect the value of shares of our common stock at any given time, and our estimated per-share NAV may
differ significantly from our actual per-share net asset value at any given time.

The trading price of our Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock may fluctuate significantly.

The trading price of our Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock may be volatile and subject to significant
price and volume fluctuations in response to market and other factors, and is impacted by a number of factors, many of which are
outside our control. Among the factors that could affect the trading price are:

e our financial condition, including the level of our indebtedness, and performance;

*  our ability to grow through property acquisitions, the terms and pace of any acquisitions we may make and the availability
and terms of financing for those acquisitions;

e the financial condition of our tenants, including tenant bankruptcies or defaults;
e actual or anticipated quarterly fluctuations in our operating results and financial condition;
» the amount and frequency of our payment of dividends and other distributions;

* additional sales of equity securities, including Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, common stock or any other
equity interests, or the perception that additional sales may occur;

» the reputation of REITs and real estate investments generally and the attractiveness of REIT equity securities in comparison
to other equity securities, and fixed income debt securities;

e uncertainty and volatility in the equity and credit markets;
e increases in interest rates;
» inflation and continuing increases in the real or perceived inflation rate;

e changes in revenue or earnings estimates, if any, or publication of research reports and recommendations by financial
analysts or actions taken by rating agencies with respect to our securities or those of other REITsS;

e failure to meet analyst revenue or earnings estimates;

e strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings;

» the extent of investment in our Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock by institutional investors;
e the extent of short-selling of our Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock;

e general financial and economic market conditions and, in particular, developments related to market conditions for REITs
and other real estate related companies;

e failure to maintain our REIT status;
*  changes in tax laws;
*  domestic and international economic factors unrelated to our performance; and

e all other risk factors addressed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Moreover, although shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock are listed on The Nasdaq Global Market,
there can be no assurance that the trading volume for shares will provide sufficient liquidity for holders to sell their shares at the
time of their choosing or that the trading price for shares will equal or exceed the price paid for the shares. Because the shares of
Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock carry a fixed dividend rate, the trading price in the secondary market will
be influenced by changes in interest rates and will tend to move inversely to changes in interest rates. In particular, an increase in
market interest rates may result in higher yields on other financial instruments and may lead purchasers of shares of Series A
Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock to demand a higher yield on their purchase price, which could adversely affect the
market price of those shares. An increase in interest rates available to investors could also reduce the value of our common stock.

We currently do not pay cash distributions on our common stock and we may be unable to pay or maintain cash distributions
in the future or increase distributions over time.

There are many factors that can affect the availability and timing of cash distributions to stockholders, and we currently do
not pay cash distributions on our common stock. Distributions will be based principally on cash available from our operations.
The amount of cash available for distributions is affected by many factors, such as income from our properties and our operating
expense levels, as well as many other variables. Actual cash available for distributions may vary substantially from estimates. We
cannot assure a stockholder that we will be able to pay distributions or that distributions will increase over time with respect to
our capital stock. Our actual results may differ significantly from the assumptions used by our Board in establishing the
distribution rate to stockholders. We may not have sufficient cash from operations to make a distribution required to qualify or
maintain our qualification as a REIT, which may materially adversely affect a stockholder’s investment.

The limit on the number of shares a person may own may discourage a third-party from acquiring us in a manner that might
result in a premium price to our stockholders.

Our charter, with certain exceptions, authorizes our directors to take such actions as are necessary and desirable to preserve
our qualification as a REIT. Unless exempted (prospectively or retroactively) by the Board, no person may own more than 9.8%
in value of the aggregate of our outstanding shares of our capital stock or more than 9.8% (in value or in number of shares,
whichever is more restrictive) of any class or series of shares of our capital stock. This restriction may have the effect of delaying,
deferring or preventing a change in control of us, including an extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer or sale of
all or substantially all our assets) that might provide a premium price for holders of our common stock.

The terms of our Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, and the terms of other preferred stock we may issue, may
discourage a third- party from acquiring us in a manner that might result in a premium price to stockholders.

The change of control conversion and redemption features of the Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock may
make it more difficult for a party to acquire us or discourage a party from seeking to acquire us. Upon the occurrence of a change
of control, holders of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock will, under certain circumstances, have the right to
convert some of or all their shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock into shares of our common stock (or
equivalent value of alternative consideration) and under these circumstances we will also have a change of control redemption
right to redeem shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock. Upon exercise of this conversion right, the
holders will be limited to a maximum number of shares of our common stock pursuant to a predetermined ratio. These features of
the Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock may have the effect of discouraging a third-party from seeking to
acquire us or of delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control under circumstances that otherwise could provide the
holders of our common stock with the opportunity to realize a premium over the then-current market price or that stockholders
may otherwise believe is in their best interests. We may also issue other classes or series of preferred stock that could also have
the same effect.

We have a classified board, which may discourage a third-party from acquiring us in a manner that might result in a premium
price to our stockholders.

The Board is divided into three classes of directors. At each annual meeting, directors of one class are elected to serve until
the annual meeting of stockholders held in the third year following the year of their election and until their successors are duly
elected and qualify. The classification of our directors may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control
of us, including an extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer or sale of all or substantially all our assets) that might
result in a premium price for our stockholders.
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Maryland law prohibits certain business combinations, which may make it more difficult for us to be acquired and may
discourage a third-party from acquiring us in a manner that might result in a premium price to our stockholders.

Under Maryland law, “business combinations” between a Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder or an affiliate
of an interested stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes
an interested stockholder. These business combinations include, but are not limited to, a merger, consolidation, share exchange or,
in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. An interested
stockholder is defined as:

* any person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the voting power of the corporation’s outstanding
voting stock; or

» an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the
beneficial owner of, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding stock of the corporation.

A person is not an interested stockholder under the statute if the board of directors approved in advance the transaction by
which he or she otherwise would have become an interested stockholder. However, in approving a transaction, the board of
directors may provide that its approval is subject to compliance, at or after the time of approval, with any terms and conditions
determined by the board of directors.

After the five-year prohibition, any business combination between the Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder
generally must be recommended by the board of directors of the corporation and approved by the affirmative vote of at least:

*  80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of voting stock of the corporation; and

*  two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation other than shares held by the interested
stockholder with whom or with whose affiliate the business combination is to be effected or held by an affiliate or associate
of the interested stockholder.

These super-majority vote requirements do not apply if the corporation’s common stockholders receive a minimum price, as
defined under Maryland law, for their shares in the form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by the
interested stockholder for its shares. The business combination statute permits various exemptions from its provisions, including
business combinations that are exempted by the Board of directors prior to the time that the interested stockholder becomes an
interested stockholder. The business combination statute may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and increase
the difficulty of consummating any offer.

Our bylaws designate the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland as the sole and exclusive forum for certain actions and
proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders.

Our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Circuit Court for Baltimore
City, Maryland, or, if that court does not have jurisdiction, the United States District Court for the District of Maryland, Northern
Division, is the sole and exclusive forum for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, other than actions
arising under federal securities laws; (b) any Internal Corporate Claim, as such term is defined in the Maryland General
Corporation Law (the “MGCL”), or any successor provision thereof, including, without limitation, (i) any action asserting a claim
of breach of any duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or to our stockholders or (ii) any action
asserting a claim against us or any of our directors, officers or other employees arising pursuant to any provision of the MGCL,
our charter or our bylaws; or (c) any other action asserting a claim against us or any of our directors, officers or other employees
that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Our bylaws also provide that unless we consent in writing, none of the foregoing
actions, claims or proceedings may be brought in any court sitting outside the State of Maryland and the federal district courts are,
to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action
under the Securities Act. These choice of forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum
that the stockholder believes is favorable. Alternatively, if a court were to find these provisions of our bylaws inapplicable to, or
unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated
with resolving these matters in other jurisdictions.

Certain provisions in our bylaws and agreements may deter, delay or prevent a change in our control.

Provisions contained in our bylaws may deter, delay or prevent a change in control of our Board, including, for example,
provisions requiring qualifications for an individual to serve as a director and a requirement that certain of our directors be
“Managing Directors” and other directors be “Independent Directors”, as defined in our governing documents. Such provisions
may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us, including an extraordinary transaction (such as
a merger, tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that might otherwise result in a premium for our stockholders.
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Maryland law limits the ability of a third-party to buy a large stake in us and exercise voting power in electing directors, which
may discourage a third-party from acquiring us in a manner that might result in a premium price to our stockholders.

The Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act provides that holders of “control shares” of a Maryland corporation acquired in
a “control share acquisition” have no voting rights except to the extent approved by the stockholders by the affirmative vote of
two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding all shares of stock owned by the acquirer, by officers or by
employees who are directors of the corporation. “Control shares” are voting shares of stock which, if aggregated with all other
shares of stock owned by the acquirer or in respect of which the acquirer can exercise or direct the exercise of voting power
(except solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), would entitle the acquirer to exercise voting power in electing directors within
specified ranges of voting power. Control shares do not include shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of
having previously obtained stockholder approval or shares acquired directly from the corporation. A “control share acquisition”
means the acquisition of issued and outstanding control shares. The Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act does not apply (a) to
shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if the corporation is a party to the transaction, or (b) to acquisitions
approved or exempted by the charter or bylaws of the corporation.

Our bylaws contain a provision exempting from the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act any and all acquisitions of our
stock by any person. There can be no assurance that this provision will not be amended or eliminated at any time in the future.

The stockholder rights plan adopted by our Board may discourage a third-party from acquiring us in a manner that might
result in a premium price to our stockholders.

Our Board previously adopted a stockholder rights plan, with an original expiration date of May 18, 2023, extended to May
18, 2026 pursuant to that certain Amendment No. 1 Rights Agreement, dated as of May 18, 2020, with Computershare Trust
Company, N.A., as rights agent (the “Rights Agent”), dated of May 18, 2023 by and between us and the Rights Agent. In
connection with the stockholder rights plan, in December 2020, we paid a dividend of one common share purchase right (the
“Rights”) for each share of our common stock outstanding as authorized by our Board in its discretion. The Rights may expire
sooner than May 18, 2026 if the Rights are previously redeemed, exchanged or terminated, or if our common stock is listed on
NYSE or NASDAQ, 364 days from the commencement of trading. If a person or entity, together with its affiliates and associates,
acquires beneficial ownership of 2.0% or more of our then outstanding common stock, subject to certain exceptions, each Right
would entitle its holder (other than the acquirer, its affiliates and associates) to purchase additional shares of our common stock at
a substantial discount to the then current per share estimated net asset value. In addition, under certain circumstances, we may
exchange the Rights (other than Rights beneficially owned by the acquirer, its affiliates and associates), in whole or in part, for
shares of common stock on a one-for-one basis. The stockholder rights plan could make it more difficult for a third-party to
acquire us or a large block of our common stock without the approval of our Board, which may discourage a third-party from
acquiring us in a manner that might result in a premium price to our stockholders.

Our business and operations could suffer if our operations experiences system failures or cyber incidents or a deficiency in
cybersecurity.

Our internal information technology networks and related systems (as well as those of our tenants, operators and other third-
party operators of our healthcare facilities) are vulnerable to damage from any number of sources, including computer viruses,
unauthorized access, energy blackouts, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication failures. Any system failure or
accident that causes interruptions in our operations could result in a material disruption to our business. We may also incur
additional costs to remedy damages caused by these disruptions.

As reliance on technology has increased, so have the risks posed to those systems. We must continuously monitor and
develop their networks and information technology to prevent, detect, address and mitigate the risk of unauthorized access,
misuse, computer viruses, and social engineering, such as phishing. We are continuously working, including with the aid of third-
party service providers, to install new, and to upgrade existing, network and information technology systems, to create processes
for risk assessment, testing, prioritization, remediation, risk acceptance, and reporting, and to provide awareness training around
phishing, malware and other cyber risks to ensure that our operations are protected against cyber risks and security breaches.
However, these upgrades, processes, new technology and training may not be sufficient to protect us from all risks. Even the most
well protected information, networks, systems and facilities remain potentially vulnerable because the techniques and
technologies (including artificial intelligence) used in attempted attacks and intrusions evolve and generally are not recognized
until launched against a target. In some cases, attempted attacks and intrusions are designed not to be detected and, in fact, may
not be detected. Such attacks also may be further enhanced in frequency or effectiveness through threat actors’ use of artificial
intelligence.

The remediation costs and lost revenues experienced by a subject of an intentional cyberattack or other event which results in
unauthorized third-party access to systems to disrupt operations, corrupt data or steal confidential information may be significant
and significant resources may be required to repair system damage, protect against the threat of future security breaches or to
alleviate problems, including reputational harm, loss of revenues and litigation, caused by any breaches. Additionally, any failure
to adequately protect against unauthorized or unlawful processing of personal data, or to take appropriate action in cases of
infringement may result in significant penalties under privacy law.
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Furthermore, a security breach or other significant disruption involving our information technology networks could:
e result in misstated financial reports, violations of loan covenants, missed reporting deadlines or missed permitting deadlines;
e affect our ability to properly monitor our compliance with the rules and regulations regarding our qualification as a REIT;

e result in the unauthorized access to, and destruction, loss, theft, misappropriation or release of, proprietary, confidential,
sensitive or otherwise valuable information (including information about our tenant operators and other third-party operators
of our healthcare facilities, as well as the patients or residents at those facilities), which others could use to compete against
us or for disruptive, destructive or otherwise harmful purposes and outcomes;

e result in our inability to maintain the building systems relied upon by our tenants for the efficient use of their leased space;
*  require significant management attention and resources to remedy any damages that result;

e subject us to claims for breach of contract, damages, credits, penalties or termination of leases or other agreements; or

e adversely impact our reputation among our tenants, operators and investors generally.

Although we intend to continue to implement industry-standard security measures, there can be no assurance that those
measures will be sufficient. Further, while we carry cyber liability insurance, such insurance may not be adequate to cover all
losses related to such events.

We depend on our OP and its subsidiaries for cash flow and are structurally subordinated in right of payment to the
obligations of our OP and its subsidiaries.

We conduct, and intend to continue conducting, all of our business operations through our OP, and, accordingly, we rely on
distributions from our OP and its subsidiaries to provide cash to pay our obligations. There is no assurance that our OP or its
subsidiaries will be able to, or be permitted to, pay distributions to us that will enable us to pay dividends and other distributions
to our stockholders and meet our other obligations. Each of our OP’s subsidiaries is a distinct legal entity and, under certain
circumstances, legal and contractual restrictions may limit our ability to obtain cash from these entities. In addition, any claims we
may have will be structurally subordinated to all existing and future liabilities and obligations of our OP and its subsidiaries.
Therefore, in the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization, our assets and those of our OP and its subsidiaries will be
available to satisfy the claims of our creditors or to pay dividends and other distributions to our stockholders only after all the
liabilities and obligations of our OP and its subsidiaries have been paid in full.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Risks
Our failure to remain qualified as a REIT would subject us to U.S. federal income tax and potentially state and local tax.

We elected to be taxed as a REIT, commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2013, and intend to operate in a
manner that will allow us to continue to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. However, we may terminate our
REIT qualification inadvertently or if the Board determines that doing so is in our best interests. Our qualification as a REIT
depends upon our satisfaction of certain asset, income, organizational, distribution, stockholder ownership and other requirements
on a continuing basis. We have structured, and intend to continue structuring, our activities in a manner designed to satisfy all the
requirements to qualify as a REIT. However, the REIT qualification requirements are extremely complex and interpretation of the
U.S. federal income tax laws governing qualification as a REIT is limited. Furthermore, any opinion of our counsel, including tax
counsel, as to our eligibility to remain qualified as a REIT is not binding on the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) and is not a
guarantee that we will continue to qualify as a REIT. Accordingly, we cannot be certain that we will be successful in operating so
that we can remain qualified as a REIT. Our ability to satisfy the asset tests depends on our analysis of the characterization and
fair market values of our assets, some of which are not susceptible to a precise determination, and for which we will not obtain
independent appraisals. Our compliance with the REIT income or quarterly asset requirements also depends on our ability to
successfully manage the composition of our income and assets on an ongoing basis. Accordingly, if certain of our operations were
to be recharacterized by the IRS, such recharacterization could jeopardize our ability to satisfy all requirements for qualification
as a REIT. Furthermore, future legislative, judicial or administrative changes to the U.S. federal income tax laws could be applied
retroactively, which could result in our disqualification as a REIT.

If we fail to continue to qualify as a REIT for any taxable year, and we do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions,
we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income at the corporate rate. In addition, we would generally be
disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year in which we lose our REIT qualification.
Losing our REIT qualification would reduce our net earnings available for investment or distribution to stockholders because of
the additional entity-level tax liability. In addition, amounts paid to stockholders that are treated as dividends for U.S. federal
income tax purposes would no longer qualify for the dividends paid deduction, and we would no longer be required to make
distributions. If we lose our REIT qualification, we might be required to borrow funds or liquidate some investments in order to
pay the applicable taxes.
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Even as a REIT, in certain circumstances, we may incur tax liabilities that would reduce our cash available for distribution to
our stockholders.

Even as a REIT, we may be subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes. For example, net income from the sale of
properties that are “dealer” properties sold by a REIT and that do not meet a safe harbor available under the Code (a “prohibited
transaction” under the Code) will be subject to a 100% tax. We may not make sufficient distributions to avoid excise taxes
applicable to REITs. Similarly, if we were to fail an income test (and did not lose our REIT status because such failure was due to
reasonable cause and not willful neglect), we would be subject to tax on the income that does not meet the income test
requirements. We also may decide to retain net capital gains we earn from the sale or other disposition of our property and pay
U.S. federal income tax directly on such income. In that event, our stockholders would be treated as if they earned that income
and paid the tax on it directly. However, stockholders that are tax-exempt, such as charities or qualified pension plans, would have
no benefit from their deemed payment of such tax liability unless they file U.S. federal income tax returns and seek a refund of
such tax. We also will be subject to corporate tax on any undistributed REIT taxable income. We also may be subject to state and
local taxes on our income or property, including franchise, payroll and transfer taxes, either directly or at the level of the OP or at
the level of the other companies through which we indirectly own our assets, such as any TRSs, which are subject to full U.S.
federal, state, local and foreign corporate-level income taxes. Any taxes we pay directly or indirectly will reduce our cash flow.

To qualify as a REIT, we must meet annual distribution requirements, which may force us to forgo otherwise attractive
opportunities or borrow funds during unfavorable market conditions. This could delay or hinder our ability to meet our
investment objectives and reduce our stockholders’ overall return.

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute annually to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income
(which does not equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP), determined without regard to the deduction for
dividends paid and excluding net capital gain. We will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our undistributed REIT taxable
income and net capital gain and to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on any amount by which distributions we make with respect to
any calendar year are less than the sum of (a) 85% of our ordinary income, (b) 95% of our capital gain net income and (c) 100%
of our undistributed income from prior years. These requirements could cause us to distribute amounts that otherwise would be
spent on investments in real estate assets and it is possible that we might be required to borrow funds, possibly at unfavorable
rates, or sell assets to fund these distributions. Although we intend to make distributions sufficient to meet the annual distribution
requirements and to avoid U.S. federal income and excise taxes on our earnings while we qualify as a REIT, it is possible that we
might not always be able to do so.

Recharacterization of sale-leaseback transactions may cause us to lose our REIT status.

We will use commercially reasonable efforts to structure any sale-leaseback transaction we enter into so that the lease will be
characterized as a “true lease” for U.S. federal income tax purposes, thereby allowing us to be treated as the owner of the property
for U.S. federal income tax purposes. However, the IRS may challenge this characterization. In the event that any sale-leaseback
transaction is challenged and recharacterized as a financing transaction or loan for U.S. federal income tax purposes, deductions
for depreciation and cost recovery relating to the property would be disallowed. If a sale-leaseback transaction were so
recharacterized, we might fail to continue to satisfy the REIT qualification asset tests or income tests and, consequently, lose our
REIT status effective with the year of recharacterization. Alternatively, the amount of our REIT taxable income could be
recalculated which might also cause us to fail to meet the distribution requirement for a taxable year.

Certain of our business activities are potentially subject to the prohibited transaction tax.

For so long as we qualify as a REIT, our ability to dispose of property during the first few years following acquisition may be
restricted to a substantial extent as a result of our REIT qualification. Under applicable provisions of the Code regarding
prohibited transactions by REITs, while we qualify as a REIT and provided we do not meet a safe harbor available under the
Code, we will be subject to a 100% penalty tax on the net income from the sale or other disposition of any property (other than
foreclosure property) that we own, directly or indirectly through any subsidiary entity, including the OP, but generally excluding
TRSs, that is deemed to be inventory or property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business.
Whether property is inventory or otherwise held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business
depends on the particular facts and circumstances surrounding each property. We intend to avoid the 100% prohibited transaction
tax by (a) conducting activities that may otherwise be considered prohibited transactions through a TRS (but such TRS will incur
corporate rate income taxes with respect to any income or gain recognized by it), (b) conducting our operations in such a manner
so that no sale or other disposition of an asset we own, directly or indirectly through any subsidiary, will be treated as a prohibited
transaction, and (c) structuring certain dispositions of our properties to comply with the requirements of the prohibited transaction
safe harbor available under the Code for properties that, among other requirements, have been held for at least two years. Despite
our present intention, no assurance can be given that any particular property we own, directly or through any subsidiary entity,
including the OP, but generally excluding TRSs, will not be treated as inventory or property held primarily for sale to customers
in the ordinary course of a trade or business.
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TRSs are subject to corporate-level taxes and our dealings with TRSs may be subject to a 100% excise tax.

A REIT may own up to 100% of the stock of one or more TRSs. Both the subsidiary and the REIT must jointly elect to treat
the subsidiary as a TRS. A corporation of which a TRS directly or indirectly owns more than 35% of the voting power or value of
the stock will automatically be treated as a TRS. Overall, no more than 20% (25% for taxable years beginning prior to January 1,
2018) of the gross value of a REIT’s assets may consist of stock or securities of one or more TRSs. A TRS may hold assets and
earn income that would not be qualifying assets or income if held or earned directly by a REIT, including gross income from
operations pursuant to management contracts. We lease our SHOPs that are “qualified health care properties” to one or more
TRSs which, in turn, contract with independent third-party management companies to operate those qualified health care
properties on behalf of those TRSs. In addition, we may use one or more TRSs generally to hold properties for sale in the ordinary
course of a trade or business or to hold assets or conduct activities that we cannot conduct directly as a REIT. A TRS is subject to
applicable U.S. federal, state, local and foreign income tax on its taxable income, as well as limitations on the deductibility of its
interest expenses. In addition, the Code imposes a 100% excise tax on certain transactions between a TRS and its parent REIT that
are not conducted on an arm’s-length basis.

If the OP failed to qualify as a partnership or is not otherwise disregarded for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would
cease to qualify as a REIT.

If the IRS were to successfully challenge the status of the OP as a partnership or disregarded entity for U.S. federal income
tax purposes, the OP would be taxable as a corporation. In such event, this would reduce the amount of distributions that the OP
could make to us. This also would result in our failing to qualify as a REIT, and we would become subject to a corporate-level tax
on our income. This substantially would reduce our cash available to pay dividends and other distributions to our stockholders. In
addition, if any of the partnerships or limited liability companies through which the OP owns its properties, in whole or in part,
loses its characterization as a partnership and is otherwise not disregarded for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the partnership or
limited liability company would be subject to taxation as a corporation, thereby reducing distributions to the OP. Such a
recharacterization of an underlying property owner could also threaten our ability to maintain our REIT qualification.

If our qualified health care properties are not properly leased to a TRS or the managers of those qualified health care
properties do not qualify as “eligible independent contractors,” we could fail to qualify as a REIT.

In general, under the REIT rules, we cannot directly operate any of our seniors housing properties that are qualified health
care properties and can only indirectly participate in the operation of qualified health care properties on an after-tax basis by
leasing those properties to independent health care facility operators or to TRSs. A qualified health care property is any real
property (and any personal property incident to that real property), which is, or is necessary or incidental to the use of, a hospital,
nursing facility, assisted living facilities, congregate care facility, qualified continuing care facility, or other licensed facility
which extends medical or nursing or ancillary services to patients and is operated by a provider of those services that is eligible
for participation in the Medicare program with respect to that facility. Furthermore, rent paid by a lessee of a qualified health care
property that is a “related party tenant” of ours will not be qualifying income for purposes of the two gross income tests applicable
to REITs. However, a TRS that leases qualified health care properties from us will not be treated as a related party tenant with
respect to our qualified health care properties that are managed by an eligible independent contractor.

An eligible independent contractor is an independent contractor that, at the time such contractor enters into a management or
other agreement with a TRS to operate a qualified health care property, is actively engaged in the trade or business of operating
qualified health care properties for any person not related to us or the TRS. Among other requirements to qualify as an
independent contractor, a manager must not own, directly or applying attribution provisions of the Code, more than 35% of the
shares of our outstanding stock (by value), and no person or group of persons can own more than 35% of the shares of our
outstanding stock and 35% of the ownership interests of the manager (taking into account only owners of more than 5% of our
shares and, with respect to ownership interest in such managers that are publicly traded, only holders of more than 5% of such
ownership interests). The ownership attribution rules that apply for purposes of the 35% thresholds are complex. There can be no
assurance that the levels of ownership of our shares by our managers and their owners will not be exceeded.

If our leases with TRSs are not respected as true leases for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we likely would fail to qualify as
a REIT.

To qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy two gross income tests, under which specified percentages of our gross income must be
derived from certain sources, such as “rents from real property.” Rent paid by TRSs to the OP pursuant to the lease of our
qualified healthcare properties will constitute a substantial portion of our gross income. For that rent to qualify as rents from real
property for purposes of the REIT gross income tests, the leases must be respected as true leases for U.S. federal income tax
purposes and not be treated as service contracts, joint ventures or some other type of arrangement. If our leases are not respected
as true leases for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we may fail to qualify as a REIT.
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We may choose to make distributions partly in cash and partly in shares of our common stock, in which case our stockholders
may be required to pay U.S. federal income taxes in excess of the cash portion of such distributions they receive.

In connection with our qualification as a REIT, we are required to distribute annually to our stockholders at least 90% of our
REIT taxable income (which does not equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP), determined without regard to
the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gain. The IRS has issued Revenue Procedures authorizing elective
cash/stock distributions to be made by “publicly offered REITs,” like us, in order to satisfy this requirement, provided that at least
20% of the aggregate amount of a distribution to stockholders is paid in cash and certain other parameters detailed in the Revenue
Procedures are satisfied. Taxable stockholders receiving such distributions will be required to include the full amount of such
distributions as ordinary dividend income to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined for U.S.
federal income tax purposes. As a result, U.S. stockholders may be required to pay U.S. federal income taxes with respect to such
distributions in excess of the cash portion of the distribution received.

Accordingly, U.S. stockholders receiving a distribution partly in cash and partly in shares of our common stock may be
required to sell shares received in such distribution or may be required to sell other stock or assets owned by them, at a time that
may be disadvantageous, in order to satisfy any tax imposed on such distribution. If a U.S. stockholder sells the shares that it
receives as part of the distribution in order to pay this tax, the sales proceeds may be less than the amount included in income with
respect to the distribution, depending on the value of the shares at the time of the sale. Furthermore, with respect to certain non-
U.S. stockholders, we may be required to withhold U.S. tax with respect to such distribution, including in respect of all or a
portion of such distribution that is payable in stock, by withholding or disposing of part of the shares included in such distribution
and using the proceeds of such disposition to satisfy the withholding tax imposed. Because there is no established trading market
for shares of our common stock, stockholders may not be able to sell shares of our common stock to pay taxes owed on dividend
income.

Our current distribution policy with respect to distributions on shares of our common stock is to pay such distributions solely
in shares of our common stock. Such distributions are not taxable to our stockholders.

The taxation of distributions can be complex; however, distributions to stockholders that are treated as dividends for U.S.
federal income tax purposes generally will be taxable as ordinary income, which may reduce our stockholders’ after-tax
anticipated return from an investment in us.

Amounts that we pay to our taxable stockholders out of current and accumulated earnings and profits (and not designated as
capital gain dividends or qualified dividend income) generally will be treated as dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes
and will be taxable as ordinary income. Noncorporate stockholders are entitled to a 20% deduction with respect to these ordinary
REIT dividends which would, if allowed in full, result in a maximum effective U.S. federal income tax rate on these ordinary
REIT dividends of 29.6% (or 33.4% including the 3.8% surtax on net investment income); however, the 20% deduction will end
after December 31, 2025.

However, a portion of the amounts that we pay to our stockholders generally may (a) be designated by us as capital gain
dividends taxable as long-term capital gain to the extent that such portion is attributable to net capital gain recognized by us, (b)
be designated by us as qualified dividend income, taxable at capital gains rates, to the extent that such portion is attributable to
dividends we receive from TRSs, or (c) constitute a return of capital to the extent that such portion exceeds our accumulated
earnings and profits as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes. With respect to qualified dividend income, the current
maximum U.S. federal tax rate applicable to U.S. noncorporate stockholders is 20% (or 23.8% including the 3.8% surtax on net
investment income). Dividends payable by REITs, however, generally are not eligible for this reduced rate and, as described
above, through December 31, 2025, will be subject to an effective rate of 29.6% (or 33.4% including the 3.8% surtax on net
investment income). Although this does not adversely affect the taxation of REITs or dividends payable by REITs, the more
favorable rates applicable to regular corporate qualified dividends could cause investors who are individuals, trusts and estates to
perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stock of non-REIT corporations that pay
dividends, which could adversely affect the value of the stock of REITs, including shares of our stock. Tax rates could be changed
in future legislation. A return of capital is not taxable but has the effect of reducing the tax basis of a stockholder’s investment in
shares of our stock. Amounts paid to our stockholders that exceed our current and accumulated earnings and profits and a
stockholder’s tax basis in shares of our stock generally will be taxable as capital gain.

Our stockholders may have tax liability on distributions that they elect to reinvest in shares of our common stock, but they
would not receive the cash from such distributions to pay such tax liability.

Stockholders who participate in the DRIP generally will be deemed to receive distributions in an amount equal to the fair
market value of the shares of our common stock received on the date of distribution, regardless of whether such shares were
purchased at a discount to fair market value, and will be taxed on any such distribution to the extent it was not a tax-free return of
capital. As a result, unless a stockholder is a tax-exempt entity, it may have to use funds from other sources to pay its tax liability
on the distributions reinvested in shares of our common stock pursuant to the DRIP.
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Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge our liabilities effectively and may cause us to incur tax
liabilities.

The REIT provisions of the Code may limit our ability to hedge our liabilities. Any income from a hedging transaction we
enter into to manage the risk of interest rate changes, price changes or currency fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or to
be made to acquire or carry real estate assets, or in certain cases to hedge previously acquired hedges entered into to manage risks
associated with property that has been disposed of or liabilities that have been extinguished, if properly identified under applicable
Treasury Regulations, does not constitute “gross income” for purposes of the 75% or 95% gross income tests. To the extent that
we enter into other types of hedging transactions, the income from those transactions will likely be treated as non-qualifying
income for purposes of both of the gross income tests. As a result of these rules, we may need to limit our use of advantageous
hedging techniques or implement those hedges through a TRS. This could increase the cost of our hedging activities because the
TRS would be subject to tax on gains or expose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would
otherwise want to bear. In addition, losses in a TRS generally will not provide any tax benefit, except for being carried forward
against future taxable income of the TRS.

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to forgo or liquidate otherwise attractive investment opportunities.

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must ensure that we meet the REIT gross income tests annually and that at the
end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of the value of our assets consists of cash, cash items, government securities and
qualified REIT real estate assets, including certain mortgage loans and certain kinds of mortgage-related securities. The remainder
of our investment in securities (other than securities that qualify for the 75% asset test and securities of qualified REIT
subsidiaries and TRSs) generally cannot exceed 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any one issuer, 10% of the total value
of the outstanding securities of any one issuer, or 5% of the value of our assets as to any one issuer. In addition, no more than
20% of the value of our total assets may consist of stock or securities of one or more TRSs and no more than 25% of our assets
may consist of publicly offered REIT debt instruments that do not otherwise qualify under the 75% asset test. If we fail to comply
with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter, we must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar
quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax
consequences. As a result, we may be required to liquidate assets from our portfolio or not make otherwise attractive investments
in order to maintain our qualification as a REIT.

The ability of the Board to revoke our REIT qualification without stockholder approval may subject us to U.S. federal income
tax and reduce distributions to our stockholders.

Our charter provides that the Board may revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election, without the approval of our
stockholders, if it determines that it is no longer in our best interests to continue to qualify as a REIT. While we intend to maintain
our qualification as a REIT, we may terminate our REIT election if we determine that qualifying as a REIT is no longer in our
best interests. If we cease to be a REIT, we would become subject to corporate-level U.S. federal income tax on our taxable
income (as well as any applicable state and local corporate tax) and would no longer be required to distribute most of our taxable
income to our stockholders, which may have adverse consequences on our total return to our stockholders and on the value of
shares of our stock.

We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could increase our tax liability, reduce our operating
flexibility, and reduce the value of shares of our stock.

Changes to the tax laws may occur, and any such changes could have an adverse effect on an investment in shares of our
stock or on the market value or the resale potential of our assets. Our stockholders are urged to consult with an independent tax
advisor with respect to the status of legislative, regulatory or administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect
on an investment in shares of our stock.

Although REITs generally receive better tax treatment than entities taxed as non-REIT “C corporations,” it is possible that
future legislation would result in a REIT having fewer tax advantages, and it could become more advantageous for a company that
invests in real estate to elect to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a non-REIT “C corporation.” As a result, our
charter provides the Board with the power, under certain circumstances, to revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election and
cause us to be taxed as a non-REIT “C corporation,” without the vote of our stockholders. The Board has duties to us and could
only cause such changes in our tax treatment if it determines that such changes are in our best interests.
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The share ownership restrictions for REITs and the 9.8% share ownership limit in our charter may inhibit market activity in
shares of our stock and restrict our business combination opportunities.

In order to qualify as a REIT, five or fewer individuals, as defined in the Code, may not own, actually or constructively, more
than 50% in value of the issued and outstanding shares of our stock at any time during the last half of each taxable year, other than
the first year for which a REIT election is made. Attribution rules in the Code determine if any individual or entity actually or
constructively owns shares of our stock under this requirement. Additionally, at least 100 persons must beneficially own shares of
our stock during at least 335 days of a taxable year for each taxable year, other than the first year for which a REIT election is
made. To help ensure that we meet these tests, among other purposes, our charter restricts the acquisition and ownership of shares
of our stock.

Our charter, with certain exceptions, authorizes our directors to take such actions as are necessary and desirable to preserve
our qualification as a REIT while we so qualify. Unless exempted by the Board, for so long as we qualify as a REIT, our charter
prohibits, among other limitations on ownership and transfer of shares of our stock, any person from beneficially or constructively
owning (applying certain attribution rules under the Code) more than 9.8% in value of the aggregate outstanding shares of our
stock and more than 9.8% (in value or in number of shares, whichever is more restrictive) of any class or series of the outstanding
shares of our stock. The Board may not grant an exemption from these restrictions to any proposed transferee whose ownership in
excess of the 9.8% ownership limit would result in the termination of our qualification as a REIT. These restrictions on
transferability and ownership will not apply, however, if the Board determines that it is no longer in our best interests to continue
to qualify as a REIT or that compliance with the restrictions is no longer required in order for us to continue to so qualify as a
REIT.

These ownership limits could delay or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for
shares of our stock or otherwise be in the best interests of the stockholders.

Non-U.S. stockholders will be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax and may be subject to U.S. federal income tax on
dividends and other distributions received from us and upon the disposition of shares of our stock.

Subject to certain exceptions, amounts paid to non-U.S. stockholders will be treated as dividends for U.S. federal income tax
purposes to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits. Such dividends ordinarily will be subject to U.S.
withholding tax at a 30% rate, or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty, unless the dividends are
treated as “effectively connected” with the conduct by the non-U.S. stockholder of a U.S. trade or business. Capital gain
distributions attributable to sales or exchanges of “U.S. real property interests” (“USRPIs”), generally will be taxed to a non-U.S.
stockholder (other than a “qualified foreign pension fund,” certain entities wholly owned by a qualified foreign pension fund and
certain foreign publicly-traded entities) as if such gain were effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business. However, a
capital gain distribution will not be treated as effectively connected income if (a) the distribution is received with respect to a class
of stock that is “regularly traded,” as defined in applicable Treasury regulations on an established securities market located in the
United States and (b) the non-U.S. stockholder does not own more than 10% of such class of our stock at any time during the one-
year period ending on the date the distribution is received.

Gain recognized by a non-U.S. stockholder upon the sale or exchange of shares of our stock generally will not be subject to
U.S. federal income taxation unless such stock constitutes a USRPI . Shares of our stock will not constitute a USRPI so long as
we are a “domestically-controlled qualified investment entity.” A domestically-controlled qualified investment entity includes a
REIT if at all times during a specified testing period, less than 50% in value of such REIT’s stock is held directly or indirectly by
non-U.S. stockholders. Recently proposed regulations would apply special look-through rules to certain U.S. corporate
stockholders in determining whether a REIT is domestically controlled. We believe that we currently are, but there can be no
assurance that we will continue to be, a domestically-controlled qualified investment entity.

Even if we do not qualify as a domestically-controlled qualified investment entity at the time a non-U.S. stockholder sells or
exchanges shares of our stock, gain arising from such a sale or exchange would not be subject to U.S. taxation as a sale of a
USRPI if (a) the shares are of a class of our stock that is “regularly traded,” as defined by applicable Treasury regulations, on an
established securities market, and (b) such non-U.S. stockholder owned, actually and constructively, 10% or less of the
outstanding shares of such class of stock at all times during the shorter of (x) five-year period ending on the date of the sale and
(y) the period during which the non-U.S. stockholders held such shares of our stock.

Potential characterization of dividends and other distributions or gain on sale may be treated as unrelated business taxable
income to tax-exempt investors.

If (a) we are a “pension-held REIT,” (b) a tax-exempt stockholder has incurred (or is deemed to have incurred) debt to
purchase or hold shares of our stock, or (c) a holder of shares of our stock is a certain type of tax-exempt stockholder, dividends
on, and gains recognized on the sale of, shares of our stock by such tax-exempt stockholder may be subject to U.S. federal income
tax as unrelated business taxable income under the Code.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 1C. Cybersecurity

We understand the importance of preventing, assessing, identifying and managing material risks associated with
cybersecurity threats. Cybersecurity processes to assess, identify and manage risks from cybersecurity threats have been
incorporated as a part of our overall risk assessment process. On a regular basis we implement into our operations these
cybersecurity processes, technologies and controls to assess, identify and manage material risks. Specifically, we engage a third-
party information technology and cybersecurity firm to assist with network and endpoint monitoring, cloud system monitoring
and assessment of our incident response procedures. Further, we employ periodic penetration testing and tabletop exercises to
inform our risk identification and assessment of material cybersecurity threats.

To manage our material risks from cybersecurity threats and to protect against, detect and prepare to respond to cybersecurity
incidents, we undertake the below listed activities:

*  monitor emerging data protection laws and implement changes to our processes to comply;
e conduct periodic data handling and use requirement training for our employees;

e conduct annual cybersecurity management and incident training for employees involved in our systems and processes that
handle sensitive data; and

e conduct regular phishing email simulations for all employees.

Our incident response plan coordinates the activities that we and our third-party information technology and cybersecurity
providers take to prepare to respond and recover from cybersecurity incidents, which include processes to triage, assess severity,
investigate, escalate, contain and remediate an incident, as well as to comply with potentially applicable legal obligations.

As part of the above processes, we engage with third party providers to review our cybersecurity program and help identify
areas for continued focus, improvement and compliance.

Our processes also include assessing cybersecurity threat risks associated with our use of third-party services providers in
normal course of business use, including those in our supply chain or who have access to our tenant and employee data or our
systems. Third-party risks are included within our cybersecurity risk management processes discussed above. In addition, we
assess cybersecurity considerations in the selection and oversight of our third-party services providers, including due diligence on
the third parties that have access to our systems and facilities that house systems and data.

Our Audit Committee of the Board is responsible for oversight of our risk assessment, risk management, disaster recovery
procedures and cybersecurity risks. Members of the Board regularly engage in discussions with management on cybersecurity-
related news events and discuss any updates to our cybersecurity risk management and strategy programs. Our management is
responsible for assessing and managing our material risks from cybersecurity threats. Management has primary responsibility for
our overall cybersecurity risk management program and supervises both our internal information technology and cybersecurity
personnel and our third-party vendors. Our management team supervises efforts to prevent, detect and mitigate cybersecurity risks
and incidents through various means, which may include briefings from both internal and external information technology and
cybersecurity personnel, threat intelligence and other information obtained from governmental, public or private sources as well
as alerts and reports produced by security tools deployed in our information technology environment.

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have not encountered risks from cybersecurity threats that have
materially affected us, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our business strategy, results of operations or financial
position.
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Item 2. Properties

The following table presents certain additional information about the properties we owned as of December 31, 2024:

Weighted
Number Average
of Rentable Percent Remaining Gross Asset
Portfolio Properties Square Feet Leased "©® Lease Term ? Value
(In
thousands)
Outpatient Medical Facilities 148 4,716,949 89.7% 6.5 $ 1,381,166
Seniors Housing Operating Properties 45 @ 3,683,949 78.5% © N/A 1,082,953
Total Portfolio 193 8,400,898 $ 2,464,119
(1) Inclusive of leases signed but not yet commenced as of December 31, 2024.

@
3)

4
®)

(6)

Weighted-average remaining lease term in years is calculated based on square feet as of December 31, 2024.

Gross asset value represents total real estate investments, at cost ($2.5 billion total as of December 31, 2024), net of gross market lease intangible liabilities
($22.8 million total as of December 31, 2024). Cumulative impairment charges are already reflected within gross asset value.

Includes one parcel of land with a total gross asset value of $0.6 million.

Weighted by unit count as of December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2024, we had 3,919 rentable units in our SHOP segment. The SHOP segment
excludes one closed SHOP with 39 rentable units, one SHOP with 20 units under renovation and one land parcel.

Percentage leased for the OMF segment is presented as of the end of the period shown; percentage leased for the SHOP segment is presented for the duration
of the period shown.

N/A Not applicable.
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The following table details the geographic distribution, by state, of our portfolio as of December 31, 2024:

Rentable Units
Number of Annualized Annualized Rentable Rentable in SHOP
State Properties ” Rental Income ® Rental Income % Square Feet Square Feet % Segment
(In thousands)

Alabama — $ — — % — — % —
Arizona 14 10,170 3.1 % 509,806 6.1 % —
Arkansas 3 15,315 4.7 % 248,783 3.0 % 299
California 7 14,874 4.6 % 366,613 4.4 % 156
Colorado 3 1,771 0.5 % 67,133 0.8 % —
Florida 22 68,754 21.2 % 1,099,729 13.1 % 812
Georgia 16 33,502 10.4 % 802,179 9.5 % 624
Idaho — — — % — — % —
Illinois 16 19,601 6.1 % 530,955 6.3 % 317
Indiana 11 5,672 1.8 % 225,861 2.7 % —
Towa 11 29,175 9.0 % 505,781 6.0 % 583
Kansas 1 3,471 1.1 % 49,360 0.6 % 71
Louisiana 1 — — % 17,830 0.2 % —
Maryland 1 1,046 0.3 % 36,260 0.4 % —
Massachusetts 3 948 0.3 % 36,563 0.4 % —
Michigan 11 18,133 5.6 % 404,434 4.8 % 291
Minnesota 1 1,098 0.3 % 36,375 0.4 % —
Mississippi 3 1,515 0.5 % 73,859 0.9 % —
Missouri 2 8,934 2.8 % 96,016 1.1 % 146
Nevada 2 3,291 1.0 % 86,342 1.0 % —
New Jersey 1 734 0.2 % 25,164 0.3 % —
New York 5 2,908 0.9 % 136,982 1.6 % —
North Carolina 3 1,737 0.5 % 90,650 1.1 % —
Ohio 5 7,934 2.5 % 172,085 2.0 % —
Oklahoma 2 1,084 0.3 % 47,407 0.6 % —
Oregon 6 10,699 33 % 322,354 3.8 % 252
Pennsylvania 16 37,524 11.6 % 1,413,595 16.8 % 289
South Carolina 2 1,103 0.3 % 52,527 0.6 % —
Tennessee 3 3,473 1.1 % 175,669 2.1 % —
Texas 6 4,173 1.3 % 282,120 3.4 % —
Virginia 1 1,633 0.3 % 62,165 0.7 % —
Washington 1 2,031 0.6 % 52,900 0.6 % —
Wisconsin 13 11,270 3.5 % 373,401 4.4 % 79
Total 192 $ 323,573 100 % 8,400,898 100 % 3,919

(1) Includes one land parcel located in Iowa.

(2) Annualized rental income on a straight-line basis for the leases in place in the property portfolio as of December 31, 2024, which includes tenant concessions
such as free rent, as applicable, as well as annualized gross revenue from our SHOPs based off the fourth quarter of 2024.
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Future Minimum Lease Payments

The following table presents future minimum base rental cash payments due to us (excluding our SHOP segment) over the
next ten years and thereafter as of December 31, 2024. The SHOP segment is excluded as the leased units with residents are
generally for annual periods or month-to-month. These amounts exclude tenant reimbursements and contingent rent payments, as
applicable, that may be collected from certain tenants based on provisions related to performance thresholds and increases in
annual rent based on exceeding certain economic indexes, among other items.

Future Minimum

(In thousands) Base Rent Payments
2025 $ 102,490
2026 98,736
2027 89,887
2028 76,345
2029 66,636
2030 60,069
2031 54,372
2032 47,926
2033 37,945
2034 34,844
Thereafter 80,678
$ 749,928

Future Lease Expirations Table

The following is a summary of lease expirations for the next ten years at the properties we owned (excluding our SHOP
segment) as of December 31, 2024:

Annualized Rental Percent of
Number of Income as a Leased Portfolio Rentable
Leases Annualized Percentage of the Rentable Square Feet
Year of Expiration Expiring Rental Income Total Portfolio Square Feet Expiring
(In thousands)
2025 59 $ 6,068 7.2% 231,301 6.9%
2026 77 8,019 9.5% 393,347 11.8%
2027 101 12,972 15.4% 547,366 16.4%
2028 61 12,478 14.8% 472,066 14.2%
2029 53 7,460 8.9% 308,304 9.2%
2030 42 6,387 7.6% 259,910 7.8%
2031 16 4,871 5.8% 188,948 5.7%
2032 33 13,975 16.6% 467,067 14.0%
2033 10 2,675 3.2% 106,787 3.2%
2034 65 9,303 11.0% 360,758 10.8%
Total 517 $ 84,208 100.0% 3,335,854 100.0%

(1) Annualized rental income on a straight-line basis for the leases in place in the property portfolio as of December 31, 2024, which includes tenant concessions
such as free rent, as applicable.

Property Financings

See Note 4 — Mortgage Notes Payable, Net and Note 5 — Credit Facilities to our Consolidated Financial Statements for
property financings as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
We are not a party to, and none of our properties are subject to, any material pending legal proceedings.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information

No established public market currently exists for our shares of common stock. Until our shares are listed on a national
exchange, if ever, our stockholders may not sell their shares unless the buyer meets the applicable suitability and minimum
purchase requirements. There is a limited public market for our common stock. Shares of our common stock trade on the over-
the-counter market and are quoted on the OTC Pink tier of the OTC Markets under the symbol “HLTC,” which quotations are
limited and sporadic. Quotations on the OTC Pink reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail markup, mark-down, or commission
and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

Estimated Per-Share Net Asset Value

On March 27, 2024, we published a new Estimated Per-Share NAV equal to $13.00 as of December 31, 2023 (the “Valuation
Date”) (and $52.00 after reflecting the Reverse Stock Split), which was unanimously adopted by the independent directors of the
Board. The Estimated Per-Share NAV of $13.00 fell within the range of the values reported by Kroll, LLC (“Kroll”), an
independent third-party real estate advisory firm engaged by us. The range of values provided by Kroll was based on the
estimated fair value of our assets less the estimated fair value of our liabilities and the liquidation value of our Series A Preferred
Stock and the liquidation value of our Series B Preferred Stock, divided by the number of shares of our common stock
outstanding as of December 31, 2023. In determining the Estimated Per-Share NAV of $13.00, the independent directors of the
Board considered various factors, including the information provided by Kroll, the impact of the stock dividend that was issued in
January 2024 and the fact that properties under contract for sale at December 31, 2023 were valued based on their contract sale
prices and without giving consideration to the reinvestment of the sale proceeds. The valuation was performed in compliance with
the Institute of Portfolio Alternatives Practice Guideline 2013-01 titled “Valuations of Publicly Registered Non-Listed REITs,”
issued April 29, 2013. See our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 29, 2024 for more information on the
methodologies and assumptions used to determine, and the limitations and risks of, our updated Estimated Per-Share NAV.

Holders

As of February 21, 2025 we had 28,296,439 shares of common stock outstanding held by a total of 44,877 stockholders of
record.

Dividends and Other Distributions

We elected to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable year ended
December 31, 2013. As a REIT, we are required to distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (which does not
equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP), determined without regard for the deduction for dividends paid and
excluding net capital gains.

The amount of dividends and other distributions payable to our stockholders is determined by the Board and is dependent on
a number of factors, including funds available for dividends and other distribution, our financial condition, provisions in our
agreements that may restrict our ability to pay dividends and other distributions, capital expenditure requirements, as applicable,
requirements of Maryland law and annual dividends and other distribution requirements needed to maintain our status as a REIT
under the Code. Our ability to make future cash distributions on our common stock will depend on our future cash flows and
indebtedness and may further depend on our ability to obtain additional liquidity, which may not be available on favorable terms,
or at all. Dividends and other distribution payments are not assured.

Other information concerning the dividends called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Dividends and
Other Distributions.”.

Tax Characteristics of Dividends

All common dividends in the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were issued as stock dividends, which do not
represent taxable dividends to shareholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes. All dividends paid on the Series A Preferred
Stock and Series B Preferred Stock (first payment was made in January 2022) were considered 100% return of capital for income
for tax purposes for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

The Board suspended repurchases under the SRP effective August 14, 2020. No further repurchase requests under the SRP
may be made unless and until the SRP is reactivated. We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock during the year
ended December 31, 2024. For additional information on the SRP, see Note § — Stockholders’ Equity to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Item 6. [Reserved]
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated Financial
Statements. The following information contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to risks and uncertainties. Should
one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements. See “Forward-Looking Statements” elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a description
of these risks and uncertainties.

Overview

We are a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We acquire, own and manage a diversified portfolio of healthcare-
related real estate focused on outpatient medical facilities and senior housing operating properties. As of December 31, 2024, we
owned 193 properties (including one land parcel) located in 31 states and comprised of 8.4 million rentable square feet.

Substantially all of our business is conducted through the OP and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Prior to consummation of
the Internalization on September 27, 2024, our former Advisor managed our day-to-day business with the assistance of our
Property Manager. Prior to the Internalization, the Advisor and Property Manager were under common control with the Advisor
Parent and these related parties received compensation and fees for providing services to us. In connection with the
Internalization, we internalized our advisory and property management functions with our own dedicated workforce; the Property
Manager became our wholly-owned subsidiary as a result of the Internalization. See Note I — Organization and Note 9 —
Related Party Transactions and Arrangements to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. Effective
September 30, 2024, we also effected the Reverse Stock Split.

We operate in two reportable business segments for management and financial reporting purposes: OMFs and SHOPs. All of
our properties across both business segments are located throughout the United States. In our OMF operating segment, we own,
manage and lease single and multi-tenant OMFs where tenants are required to pay their pro rata share of property operating
expenses, which may be subject to expense exclusions and floors, in addition to base rent. Our Property Manager or third-party
managers manage our OMFs. In our SHOP segment, we invest in seniors housing properties through the RIDEA structure. As of
December 31, 2024, we had four eligible independent contractors operating 44 SHOPs.

We declared and issued quarterly dividends entirely in shares of our common stock from October 2020 through January
2024. We do not intend to declare any further stock dividends in the future.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Set forth below is a summary of the critical accounting policies and estimates that management believes are important to the
preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements. Certain of our accounting estimates are particularly important for an
understanding of our financial position and results of operations and require the application of significant judgment by our
management. As a result, these estimates are subject to a degree of uncertainty. These significant accounting estimates and critical
accounting policies include:
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Revenue Recognition

Our revenues, which are derived primarily from lease contracts, include rent received from tenants in our OMF segment. As
of December 31, 2024, these leases had a weighted average remaining lease term of 6.5 years. Rent from tenants in our OMF
segment (as discussed below) is recorded in accordance with the terms of each lease on a straight-line basis over the initial term of
the lease. Because many of the leases provide for rental increases at specified intervals, straight-line basis accounting requires us
to record a receivable for, and include in revenue from tenants on a straight-line basis, unbilled rent receivables that we will only
receive if the tenant makes all rent payments required through the expiration of the initial term of the lease. When we acquire a
property, the acquisition date is considered to be the commencement date for purposes of this calculation. For new leases after
acquisition, the commencement date is considered to be the date the tenant takes control of the space. For lease modifications, the
commencement date is considered to be the date the lease modification is executed. We defer the revenue related to lease
payments received from tenants in advance of their due dates. Tenant revenue also includes operating expense reimbursements
which generally increase with any increase in property operating and maintenance expenses in our OMF segment. In addition to
base rent, dependent on the specific lease, tenants are generally required to pay either (i) their pro rata share of property operating
and maintenance expenses, which may be subject to expense exclusions and floors, or (ii) their share of increases in property
operating and maintenance expenses to the extent they exceed the properties’ expenses for the base year of the respective leases.
Under ASC 842, we have elected to report combined lease and non-lease components in a single line “Revenue from tenants.” For
expenses paid directly by the tenant, under both ASC 842 and 840, we have reflected them on a net basis.

Our revenues also include resident services and fee income primarily related to rent derived from lease contracts with
residents in our SHOP segment, held using a structure permitted under RIDEA. Rental income from residents in our SHOP
segment is recognized as earned when services are provided. Residents pay monthly rent that covers occupancy of their unit and
basic services, including utilities, meals and some housekeeping services. The terms of the leases are short term in nature,
primarily month-to-month.

We defer the revenue related to lease payments received from tenants and residents in advance of their due dates. Pursuant to
certain of our lease agreements, tenants are required to reimburse us for certain property operating and maintenance expenses
related to non-SHOP assets (recorded in revenue from tenants), in addition to paying base rent, whereas under certain other lease
agreements, the tenants are directly responsible for all operating and maintenance costs of the respective properties.

We continually review receivables related to rent and unbilled rent and determine collectability by taking into consideration
the tenant’s payment history, the financial condition of the tenant, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates
and economic conditions in the area in which the property is located. Under the leasing standards, we are required to assess, based
on credit risk only, if it is probable that we will collect virtually all of the lease payments at lease commencement date and it must
continue to reassess collectability periodically thereafter based on new facts and circumstances affecting the credit risk of the
tenant. If we determine that it is probable it will collect virtually all of the lease payments (rent and common area maintenance),
the lease will continue to be accounted for on an accrual basis (i.e. straight-line). However, if we determine it is not probable that
we will collect virtually all of the lease payments, the lease will be accounted for on a cash basis and a full reserve would be
recorded on previously accrued amounts in cases where it was subsequently concluded that collection was not probable. Cost
recoveries from tenants are included in operating revenue from tenants in accordance with current accounting rules, on the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss in the period the related costs are incurred, as
applicable.

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we recorded reductions in revenue of $1.5 million, $1.2 million
and $3.2 million, respectively, related to uncollectible accounts. Approximately $1.3 million of bad debt expense recorded in the
year ended December 31, 2022, related to previously disposed properties. There were no significant write-offs related to
previously disposed properties during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Investments in Real Estate

Investments in real estate are recorded at cost. Improvements and replacements are capitalized when they extend the useful
life or improve the productive capacity of the asset. Costs of repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

At the time an asset is acquired, we evaluate the inputs, processes and outputs of the asset acquired to determine if the
transaction is a business combination or asset acquisition. If an acquisition qualifies as a business combination, the related
transaction costs are recorded as an expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. If an acquisition
qualifies as an asset acquisition, the related transaction costs are generally capitalized and subsequently amortized over the useful
life of the acquired assets. See the “Purchase Price Allocation” section below for a discussion of the initial accounting for
investments in real estate.
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Disposal of real estate investments that represent a strategic shift in operations that will have a major effect on our operations
and financial results are required to be presented as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of operations. No
properties were presented as discontinued operations during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. Properties that
are intended to be sold are to be designated as “held for sale” on the consolidated balance sheets at the lesser of carrying amount
or fair value less estimated selling costs when they meet specific criteria to be presented as held for sale, most significantly that
the sale is probable within one year. We evaluate probability of sale based on specific facts including whether a sales agreement is
in place and the buyer has made significant non-refundable deposits. Properties are no longer depreciated when they are classified
as held for sale. There were no real estate investments held for sale as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Purchase Price Allocation

In both a business combination and an asset acquisition, we allocate the purchase price of acquired properties to tangible and
identifiable intangible assets or liabilities based on their respective fair values. Tangible assets may include land, land
improvements, buildings, fixtures and tenant improvements on an as-if vacant basis. Intangible assets may include the value of in-
place leases and above- and below-market leases and other identifiable assets or liabilities based on lease or property specific
characteristics. In addition, any assumed mortgages receivable or payable and any assumed or issued non-controlling interests (in
a business combination) are recorded at their estimated fair values. In allocating the fair value to assumed mortgages, amounts are
recorded to debt premiums or discounts based on the present value of the estimated cash flows, which is calculated to account for
either above or below-market interest rates. In allocating the fair value to any assumed or issued non-controlling interests,
amounts are recorded at their fair value at the close of business on the acquisition date. In a business combination, the difference
between the purchase price and the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired is either recorded as goodwill or as a bargain
purchase gain. In an asset acquisition, the difference between the acquisition price (including capitalized transaction costs) and the
fair value of identifiable net assets acquired is allocated to the non-current assets. All acquisitions during the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were asset acquisitions. We acquired four properties during the year ended December 31,
2024.

For acquired properties with leases classified as operating leases, we allocate the purchase price to tangible and identifiable
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their respective fair values. In making estimates of fair values for
purposes of allocating purchase price, we utilize a number of sources, including independent appraisals that may be obtained in
connection with the acquisition or financing of the respective property and other market data. We also consider information
obtained about each property as a result of our pre-acquisition due diligence in estimating the fair value of the tangible and
intangible assets acquired and intangible liabilities assumed.

Tangible assets include land, land improvements, buildings, fixtures and tenant improvements on an as-if vacant basis. We
utilize various estimates, processes and information to determine the as-if vacant property value. We estimate the fair value using
data from appraisals, comparable sales, discounted cash flow analysis and other methods. Fair value estimates are also made using
significant assumptions such as capitalization rates, market rental rates, discount rates and land values per square foot.

Identifiable intangible assets include amounts allocated to acquired leases for above- and below-market lease rates and the
value of in-place leases. Factors considered in the analysis of the in-place lease intangibles include an estimate of carrying costs
during the expected lease-up period for each property, taking into account current market conditions and costs to execute similar
leases. In estimating carrying costs, we include real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses and estimates of lost
rentals at contract rates during the expected lease-up period, which typically ranges from six to 24 months. We also estimate costs
to execute similar leases including leasing commissions, legal and other related expenses.

Above-market and below-market lease values for acquired properties are initially recorded based on the present value (using
a discount rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between (i) the contractual amounts
to be paid pursuant to each in-place lease and (ii) management’s estimate of market rental rates for each corresponding in-place
lease, measured over a period equal to the remaining initial term of the lease for above-market leases and the remaining initial
term plus the term of any below-market fixed rate renewal options for below-market leases.

The aggregate value of intangible assets related to customer relationships, as applicable, is measured based on our evaluation
of the specific characteristics of each tenant’s lease and our overall relationship with the tenant. Characteristics considered by us
in determining these values include the nature and extent of its existing business relationships with the tenant, growth prospects
for developing new business with the tenant, the tenant’s credit quality and expectations of lease renewals, among other factors.
We did not record any intangible asset amounts related to customer relationships during the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023.
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Accounting for Leases
Lessor Accounting

We evaluate new leases (by us or by a predecessor lessor/owner) pursuant to ASC 842: Leases to determine lease
classification. A lease is classified by a lessor as a sales-type lease if the significant risks and rewards of ownership reside with the
tenant. This situation is met if, among other things, there is an automatic transfer of title during the lease, a bargain purchase
option, the non-cancelable lease term is for more than a major part of the remaining economic useful life of the asset (e.g., equal
to or greater than 75%), the present value of the minimum lease payments represents substantially all (e.g., equal to or greater than
90%) of the leased property’s fair value at lease inception, or the asset is so specialized in nature that it provides no alternative use
to the lessor (and therefore would not provide any future value to the lessor) after the lease term. Further, such new leases would
be evaluated to consider whether they would be failed sale-leaseback transactions and accounted for as financing transactions by
the lessor. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had no leases as a lessor that would be considered as sales-type leases or
financings under sale-leaseback rules.

As a lessor of real estate, we have elected, by class of underlying assets, to account for lease and non-lease components (such
as tenant reimbursements of property operating and maintenance expenses) as a single lease component as an operating lease
because (i) the non-lease components have the same timing and pattern of transfer as the associated lease component; and (ii) the
lease component, if accounted for separately, would be classified as an operating lease. Additionally, only incremental direct
leasing costs may be capitalized under the accounting guidance. Indirect leasing costs in connection with new or extended tenant
leases, if any, are being expensed.

Lessee Accounting

We are also the lessee under certain land leases which will continue to be classified as operating leases under transition
elections unless subsequently modified. These leases are reflected on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024
and 2023, and the rent expense is reflected on a straight-line basis over the lease term in the consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

For lessees, the accounting standard requires the application of a dual lease classification approach, classifying leases as
either operating or finance leases based on the principle of whether or not the lease is effectively a financed purchase by the
lessee. Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, while lease expense for
finance leases is recognized based on an effective interest method over the term of the lease. Also, lessees must recognize a right-
of-use asset (“ROU”) and a lease liability for all leases with a term of greater than 12 months regardless of their classification.
Further, certain transactions where at inception of the lease the buyer-lessor accounted for the transaction as a purchase of real
estate and a new lease, may be required to have symmetrical accounting to the seller-lessee if the transaction was not a qualified
sale-leaseback and accounted for as a financing transaction. For additional information and disclosures related to our operating
leases, see Note 16 — Commitments and Contingencies to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

When circumstances indicate the carrying value of a property may not be recoverable, we review the property for
impairment. This review is based on an estimate of the future undiscounted cash flows, excluding interest charges, expected to
result from the property’s use and eventual disposition. These estimates consider factors such as expected future operating
income, market and other applicable trends and residual value, as well as the effects of leasing demand, competition and other
factors. If an impairment exists, due to the inability to recover the carrying value of a property, we would recognize an
impairment loss in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss to the extent that the carrying value exceeds
the estimated fair value of the property for properties to be held for use. For properties held for sale, the impairment loss recorded
would equal the adjustment to fair value less estimated cost to dispose of the asset. These assessments have a direct impact on net
loss because recording an impairment loss results in an immediate negative adjustment to earnings.

Above-and Below-Market Lease Amortization

Capitalized above-market lease values are amortized as a reduction of revenue from tenants over the remaining terms of the
respective leases and the capitalized below-market lease values are amortized as an increase to revenue from tenants over the
remaining initial terms plus the terms of any below-market fixed rate renewal options of the respective leases. If a tenant with a
below-market rent renewal does not renew, any remaining unamortized amount will be taken into income at that time.

Capitalized above-market ground lease values are amortized as a reduction of property operating expense over the remaining
terms of the respective leases. Capitalized below-market ground lease values are amortized as an increase to property operating
expense over the remaining terms of the respective leases and expected below-market renewal option periods.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Recent Accounting Pronouncements to our Consolidated
Financial Statements for further discussion.
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Results of Operations

Below is a discussion of our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. See the “Results of
Operations” section located under Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 for a
discussion of our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 and comparisons between December 31, 2023 and

2022.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

Net loss attributable to common stockholders was $203.5 million and $86.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023, respectively. The following table shows our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and
the year-to-year change by line item of the consolidated statements of operations:

(in thousands)

Revenue from tenants

Operating expenses:
Property operating and maintenance
Impairment charges
Termination fees to related parties
Operating fees to related parties
Acquisition and transaction related
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization

Total expenses

Operating loss before loss on sale of real estate investments

Gain (loss) on sale of real estate investments
Operating loss
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense
Interest and other income
Gain on extinguishment of debt
Gain (loss) on non-designated derivatives
Total other expenses, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests
Allocation for preferred stock

Net loss attributable to common stockholders
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Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2024 2023 $ %

$ 353,794 § 345925 § 7,869 23 %
221,148 217,792 3,356 1.5%
24,881 4,676 20,205 NM
106,650 — 106,650 NM
19,203 25,527 (6,324) (24.8)%
7,949 545 7,404 NM
22,744 18,928 3,816 20.2 %
84,067 82,873 1,194 1.4 %
486,642 350,341 136,301 38.9 %
(132,848) (4,4106) (128,432) NM
9,307 (322) 9,629 NM
(123,541) (4,738) (118,803) NM
(69,447) (66,078) (3,369) 5.D)%
1,051 734 317 43.2 %
392 — 392 NM
1,544 (1,995) 3,539 NM
(66,460) (67,339) 879 1.3 %
(190,001) (72,077) (117,924)  (163.6)%
(262) (303) 41 13.5 %
(190,263) (72,380) (117,883)  (162.9)%
567 82 485 NM
(13,799) (13,799) — NM
$ (203,495) $ (86,097) § (117,398) (136.4)%




Net Operating Income

We, through our chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”), evaluate the performance of the combined properties in each
segment based on total revenues from tenants, less property operating costs. As such, this excludes all other items of expense and
income included in the financial statements in calculating net loss (each item discussed separately in “Other Results of
Operations” below). We use net operating income (“NOI”) to assess and compare property level performance and to make
decisions concerning the operation of our properties. We believe that NOI is useful as a performance measure because, when
compared across periods, NOI reflects the impact on operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental rates, operating expenses
and acquisition activity on an unleveraged basis, providing perspective not immediately apparent from consolidated loss before
income taxes. NOI presented by us may not be comparable to NOI reported by other REITs that define NOI differently. We
believe that in order to facilitate a clear understanding of our operating results, NOI should be examined in conjunction with net
income (loss) and net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders (each as determined in accordance with GAAP) as
presented in our Consolidated Financial Statements. NOI should not be considered as an alternative to net income (loss) and net
income (loss) attributable to common stockholders (each as determined in accordance with GAAP) as an indication of our
performance or to cash flows as a measure of our liquidity. A reconciliation of NOI to net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders can be found in Note 15 — Segment Reporting to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Segment Results — Outpatient Medical Facilities

The following table presents the components of NOI and the period to period change within our OMF segment for the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease) to NOI
(In thousands) 2024 2023 $ %
Revenue from tenants $ 137,317  $ 135,449 $ 1,868 1.4 %
Less: Property operating
and maintenance 39,201 37,954 1,247 33 %
NOI $ 98,116 $ 97,495 § 621 0.6 %
Number of Properties at December 31, Occupancy” for the Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2024 2023
Total Portfolio 148 156 89.7 % 90.6 %

(1) Occupancy for the OMF segment is presented as of the end of the period shown.

Revenue from tenants primarily reflects contractual rent received from tenants in our OMFs and operating expense
reimbursements. These reimbursements generally increase in proportion with the increase in property operating and maintenance
expenses in our OMF segment. Pursuant to many of our lease agreements in our OMFs, tenants are required to pay their pro rata
share of property operating and maintenance expenses, which may be subject to expense exclusions and floors, in addition to base
rent. Property operating and maintenance expenses reflect the costs associated with our OMFs, including real estate taxes,
utilities, repairs, maintenance and unaffiliated third-party property management fees.

The OMF NOI increase for the year ended December 31, 2024 over the prior year was primarily driven by the acquisition of
four properties in the first quarter of 2024, partially offset by the disposition of 12 OMF properties in the third and fourth quarters
of 2024.

Segment Results — Seniors Housing Operating Properties

The following table presents the revenue and property operating and maintenance expense and the period to period change
within our SHOP segment for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease) to NOI
(In thousands) 2024 2023 $ %
Revenue from tenants $ 216,477 $ 210,476 $ 6,001 2.9 %
Less: Property operating
and maintenance 181,947 179,838 2,109 1.2 %
NOI $ 34,530 § 30,638 $ 3,892 12.7 %
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Number of Properties at December 31, Average Unit Occupancy for the Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2024 2023
Total communities 45 48 77.4 % 74.4 %

Revenues from tenants within our SHOP segment are generated in connection with rent and services offered to residents
depending on the level of care required, as well as fees associated with other ancillary services. Property operating and
maintenance expenses relate to the costs associated with staffing to provide care for the residents in our SHOPs, as well as food,
marketing, real estate taxes, management fees paid to our third-party operators and costs associated with maintaining the physical
site.

The SHOP NOI increase for the year ended December 31, 2024 over the prior year was primarily due to positive trends in
revenue driven by occupancy gains, partially offset by higher operating and maintenance expenses, which was primarily
attributable to macro inflationary impacts on labor costs.

Other Results of Operations

Impairment Charges

We recorded $24.9 million of impairment charges for the year ended December 31, 2024 related primarily to two held-for-
use SHOP properties ($13.4 million) and two held-for-use OMF properties ($11.2 million). We incurred $4.7 million of
impairment charges for the year ended December 31, 2023 related to one held-for-use SHOP property and one held-for-use OMF
property. See Note 3 — Real Estate Investments to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on
impairment charges.

Operating Fees to Related Parties

Prior to the consummation of the Internalization, our former Advisor and the Property Manager were paid for asset
management and property management services for managing our properties on a day-to-day basis. Following the consummation
of the Internalization, we are no longer paying the above-referenced fees to the related parties.

Operating fees to related parties decreased by $6.3 million to $19.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $25.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as a result of the Internalization.

See Note 9 — Related Party Transactions and Arrangements to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details
regarding our fees and expense reimbursements to our former Advisor.

Termination Fees to Related Parties

We recorded $106.7 million of termination fees to related parties for the year ended December 31, 2024 as a result of our
termination of the Advisory Agreement with our former Advisor and transition to self-management through the Internalization,
comprised of an internalization fee of $98.2 million, an asset management fee of $5.5 million and a property management fee of
$2.9 million. See Note I — Organization to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details regarding the
Internalization.

Acquisition and Transaction Related Expenses

Acquisition and transaction related expenses were $7.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 and $0.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023. This increase was primarily due to $5.3 million of advisory, legal and other professional costs
and non-recurring employee transition expenses directly related to the Internalization.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by $3.8 million to $22.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024
compared to $18.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase was primarily attributable to employee
compensation costs incurred by us after the Internalization and certain severance and other compensation reimbursement
payments made to our former Advisor prior to the Internalization.

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $1.2 million to $84.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024
from $82.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase was primarily attributable to amortization of deferred
leasing commissions.

Gain (Loss) on Sale of Real Estate Investments

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we disposed of two SHOPs, 12 OMFs and one land parcel for an aggregate
contract sales price of $118.1 million. One of the two disposed SHOPs was previously impaired by $2.1 million in the year ended
December 31, 2023. These dispositions resulted in an aggregate gain on sale of $9.3 million in the year ended December 31,
2024.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, we disposed of four SHOPs and one OMF for an aggregate contract sales price of
$13.8 million. Two of the four disposed SHOPs were previously impaired by $15.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2022.
These dispositions resulted in an aggregate loss on sale of $0.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2023.

See Note 3 — Real Estate Investments, Net to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on the
dispositions noted above.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased by $3.4 million to $69.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $66.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023. The increase in interest expense was mainly due to higher average balances of amounts
outstanding under our indebtedness during the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.
This increase was partially offset by lower weighted average interest rates.

Inclusive of our non-designated interest rate caps, the weighted-average economic interest rate on our total gross borrowings
was 5.0% as of both December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Interest and Other Income

Interest and other income includes income from our investment securities and interest income earned on cash and cash
equivalents held during the period. Interest and other income was approximately $1.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2024 and approximately $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Interest and other income increased in 2024 due to
higher interest rates on, and balances of, our cash accounts.

Gain on Extinguishment of Debt

We recorded a $0.4 million gain on extinguishment of debt in 2024 in connection with the repayment of a loan prior to
maturity relating to the sale of an OMF.

Gain (Loss) on Non-Designated Derivatives

Gain on non-designated derivative instruments for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 related to interest rate caps
that are designed to protect us from adverse interest rate changes in connection with our Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities and
OMF Warehouse Facility, which have variable interest rates.

The gain recorded in the year ended December 31, 2024 was due to increases in forward-interest rate curves, and represents
the increase in fair value as well as $6.8 million of cash received from our interest rate caps.

The loss recorded in the year ended December 31, 2023 was due to decreases in forward-interest rate curves, and represents
the decrease in fair value as well as $5.6 million of cash received from our interest rate caps.

Income Tax Expense

Income taxes generally relate to our SHOPs, which are leased to our TRS. We recorded income tax expense of $0.3 million
for both years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Because of our TRS’s recent operating history of losses and the adverse economic impacts from increases in the rate of
inflation in recent years on the results of operations of our SHOP assets, we are not able to conclude that it is more likely than not
that we will realize the future benefit of our deferred tax assets and recorded a full valuation allowance; thus we have recorded a
100% valuation allowance on our net deferred tax assets through December 31, 2024. If and when we believe it is more likely
than not that we will recover our deferred tax assets, we will reverse the valuation allowance as an income tax benefit in our
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Allocation for Preferred Stock

Allocation for preferred stock was $13.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. These amounts represent
the allocation of our net income that is related to holders of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

The following table presents a reconciliation of our net cash provided by operations from our net loss for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023:

(in thousands) Year Ended December 31, Increase

Cash flows from operating activities: 2024 2023 (Decrease)

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year $ 91,316 $ 76,538 $ 14,778
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (79,846) 21,624 (101,470)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 63,972 (62,817) 126,789
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (1,347) 55,971 (57,318)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year $ 74,095 $ 91,316 $ (17,221)
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash flows from operating activities decreased by $101.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to
2023, primarily due to the termination fee incurred in connection with the Internalization in 2024. This was partially offset by
higher property NOI in 2024.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash flows from investing activities increased by $126.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to
2023, primarily due to higher disposition volume and lower acquisition volume in 2024.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash flows from financing activities decreased by $57.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to 2023,
primarily due to lower proceeds from mortgages and credit facilities and higher pay downs on our mortgages in 2024. This was
partially offset by higher paydowns on the credit facilities in 2023 and proceeds from the Promissory Note (as defined below) in
connection with the Internalization in 2024.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our existing principal demands for cash are to fund acquisitions, capital expenditures, the payment of our operating and
administrative expenses, debt service obligations (including principal repayment), the repayment of the Promissory Note (as
discussed below, which was fully repaid in January 2025) and distributions to holders of our Series A Preferred Stock and Series
B Preferred Stock. We closely monitor our current and anticipated liquidity position relative to our current and anticipated
demands for cash and believe that we have sufficient current liquidity to meet our financial obligations for at least the next twelve
months.

Our future liquidity requirements and available liquidity, however, depend on many factors, such as recent and continuing
increases in inflation, labor shortages, supply chain disruptions and higher property insurance, property tax and interest rates, all
of which have and may continue to have adverse impacts on our results of operations and thus ultimately our liquidity. Moreover,
these adverse impacts may also impact our tenant and residents’ ability to pay rent and thus our cash flows. For more information
about the risks and uncertainties associated with inflation, labor shortages and labor costs, see the Inflation section below and Part
I —Item 1A. Risk Factors section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We expect to fund our future short-term operating liquidity requirements, including distributions to holders of Series A
Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock, through a combination of current cash on hand, net cash provided by our operating
activities, potential future advances under our Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities and OMF Warehouse Facility, net cash
provided by our property dispositions (as discussed below) and potential new financings utilizing certain of our currently
unencumbered properties.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had $21.7 million and $46.4 million of cash and cash equivalents, respectively. The
Barclays OMF Loan Agreement requires us to maintain a minimum balance of cash and cash equivalents of $12.5 million at all
times.

Internalization and Promissory Note

Pursuant to the merger agreement dated August 6, 2024 (the “Internalization Agreement”) effecting the Internalization, (i) the
outstanding membership interests of our former Advisor were converted into the right to receive from us an internalization fee of
$98.2 million and (ii) the Advisor Parent received (x) an asset management fee of $5.5 million, representing the aggregate base
management fee that we would have been required to pay to our former Advisor during the remaining three month notice period
required to terminate the advisory agreement, and (y) a property management fee of $2.9 million, representing the aggregate
management fees that we would have been required to pay to the Property Manager through the current term of the property
management agreement, subject to certain other adjustments (collectively, the “Closing Payments” in an aggregate amount of
$106.6 million). For more information regarding the Internalization, including the fees paid therewith, see Note I — Organization
and Note 9 — Related Party Transactions and Arrangements to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Because the Closing Payments exceeded our Available Cash (as defined in the Internalization Agreement), we paid the
Advisor Parent aggregate cash consideration of $75.0 million (such cash amount, the “Closing Date Cash Consideration”), and we
issued to the Advisor Parent an unsecured promissory note (the “Promissory Note”) in a principal amount of $30.3 million, equal
to the difference between the Closing Date Cash Consideration and the Closing Payments. The Promissory Note was a senior
unsecured obligation and ranks equal in right of payment with all of our existing and future indebtedness. As of December 31,
2024, the full principal amount under the Promissory Note was outstanding. In January 2025, we disposed of 11 OMFs for an
aggregate contract sales price of $114.4 million and used a portion of the net proceeds to fully repay the outstanding balance on
the Promissory Note (including any unpaid interest at the time of payment).
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Following the Internalization, we are no longer required to pay asset management and property management fees to the
Advisor Parent. We paid total asset management fees of $16.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 and total
property management fees, including capitalized leasing commissions, of $3.6 million, during the year ended December 31, 2024,
exclusive of the asset management fee and property management fee paid to the Advisor Parent as part of the Closing Payments
discussed above.

Financings

As of December 31, 2024, our Net Debt to Gross Asset Value ratio (net debt divided by gross asset value) was approximately
45.9%. Net debt totaled $1.1 billion, which represents gross debt ($1.2 billion) less cash and cash equivalents ($21.7 million).
Gross asset value totaled $2.5 billion, which represents total real estate investments, at cost ($2.5 billion), net of gross market
lease intangible liabilities ($22.8 million). Cumulative impairment charges are reflected within gross asset value.

As of December 31, 2024, we had total gross borrowings of $1.2 billion, at a weighted-average interest rate of 5.40% and a
weighted-average remaining term of 4.1 years. The weighted-average interest rate includes the impact of “pay-fixed” swaps that
are designated as hedging instruments on a portion of our variable-rate debt, but does not include the impact of our non-
designated interest rate caps (discussed below). Inclusive of our non-designated interest rate caps, the weighted-average economic
interest rate on our total gross borrowings was 5.0% as of December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024, the carrying value of our real estate investments, at cost was $2.5 billion, with $1.3 billion of this
asset value pledged as collateral for mortgage notes payable, $619.0 million of this asset value pledged to secure advances under
our credit facilities. These real estate assets are not available to satisfy other debts and obligations, or to serve as collateral with
respect to new indebtedness, as applicable, unless the existing indebtedness associated with the property is satisfied or the
property is removed from the borrowing base of the credit facilities, which would impact availability thereunder.

Unencumbered real estate investments, at cost as of December 31, 2024 was $533.1 million. There can be no assurance as to
the amount of liquidity we would be able to generate from leveraging these unencumbered real estate investments, if we are able
to leverage them at all.

Mortgage Notes Payable

As of December 31, 2024, we had $789.6 million in mortgage notes payable outstanding, all of which is either fixed-rate or
effectively fixed through our interest rate swap at a weighted-average annual interest rate of 4.56% and a weighted-average
remaining term of 5.2 years. Future scheduled principal payments on our mortgage notes payable for 2025 are $0.9 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we entered into the BMO CPC Mortgage Loan in connection with a four-property
acquisition also completed in the year ended December 31, 2024. The mortgage has a principal balance of $7.5 million, bears
interest at an annual fixed rate of 6.84% and matures in February 2034 with no principal amounts due until that time.

For additional information on our mortgage notes, see Note 4 — Mortgage Notes Payable, net to our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Credit Facilities

As of December 31, 2024, we had $362.2 million outstanding under our credit facilities, which bore interest at a weighted-
average annual rate of 7.23% and had a weighted-average remaining term of 1.8 years. Inclusive of our non-designated interest
rate caps, the weighted average economic interest rate on our credit facilities was 5.94% as of December 31, 2024.

For additional information on our credit facilities, see Note 5 — Credit Facilities to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Non-Designated Interest Rate Caps

Our interest rate caps are used to limit our exposure to interest rate movements on our Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities
for economic purposes; however, we do not elect to apply hedge accounting to these instruments. As of December 31, 2024, we
had eight SOFR-based interest rate caps with an aggregate notional amount of $369.2 million, which limits one-month SOFR to
3.50% and have varying maturities through January 2027. Although these interest rate caps are not designated hedging
instruments, we consider them economically related to our variable-rate credit facility borrowings.

As SOFR has increased beyond 3.50%, we received cash payments of $6.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2024 and
$5.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2023.

We paid total premiums of $1.5 million to renew one cap with an aggregate notional amount of $58.1 million which matured
during the year ended December 31, 2024. We also paid a premium of $0.3 million for a new interest rate cap with a notional
amount of $7.0 million which matures in January 2027. We have five interest rate caps with a notional amount of $289.4 million
which mature in 2025, which represents the next maturing interest rate caps. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we paid
premiums of $10.0 million to renew expiring interest rate cap contracts.
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Capital Expenditures

During the year ended December 31, 2024, our capital expenditures were $21.9 million, of which $9.0 million related to our
OMF segment and $12.9 million related to our SHOP segment. We anticipate a consistent rate of capital expenditures for the
OMF and SHOP segments in 2025.

Acquisitions — Year Ended December 31, 2024

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we acquired four single-tenant OMFs for an aggregate contract purchase price of
$12.6 million. These acquisitions were funded with $7.5 million of new mortgage debt from our BMO CPC Mortgage Loan and
the remainder with cash on hand.

Dispositions — Year Ended December 31, 2024

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we disposed of two SHOPs, 12 OMFs and one land parcel for an aggregate
contract sales price of $118.1 million.

Dispositions — Subsequent to December 31, 2024

Subsequent to December 31, 2024, we disposed of 11 OMFs for an aggregate contract sales price of $114.4 million and used
a portion of the net proceeds to fully repay the outstanding balance on the Promissory Note (including any unpaid interest at the
time of payment) as discussed above.

Share Repurchase Program
We did not repurchase any shares during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures

This section discusses certain of the non-GAAP financial measures we use to evaluate our performance, including Funds
from Operations (“FFO”) and Adjusted Funds from Operations (“AFFO”). A description of these non-GAAP financial measures
and reconciliations to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, which is net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders, are provided below.

We consider FFO and AFFO to be useful supplemental measures for reviewing comparative operating and financial
performance because, by excluding the applicable items listed below, FFO and AFFO can help investors compare our operating
performance between periods or as compared to other companies. While FFO and AFFO are relevant and widely used measures
of operating performance of REITs, they do not represent, nor are they meant to replace, cash flows from operations and net
income or loss as defined by GAAP, and should not be considered alternatives to those measures in evaluating our liquidity or
operating performance. Rather, FFO and AFFO should be reviewed in conjunction with these and other GAAP measurements as
an indication of our operational performance and are not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund our future cash
requirements, including our ability to pay dividends and other distributions to our stockholders. Additionally, our computation of
FFO and AFFO may not be comparable to FFO and AFFO reported by other REITs that do not define FFO in accordance with the
current National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) definition or that interpret the current NAREIT
definition or define AFFO differently than we do.

The methods utilized to evaluate the performance of a publicly registered, non-listed REIT under GAAP should be construed
as more relevant measures of operational performance and considered more prominently than the non-GAAP measures, FFO and
AFFO, and the adjustments to GAAP in calculating FFO and AFFO.

Funds from Operations

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in accordance with GAAP, utilizing historical cost accounting which,
among other things, requires depreciation of real estate investments. As a result, our operating results imply that the value of our
real estate investments will decrease predictably over a set time period. However, we believe that the value of our real estate
investments will fluctuate over time based on various market conditions and as such, depreciation under historical cost accounting
may be less informative. FFO is a standard REIT industry metric defined by NAREIT as net income or loss (computed in
accordance with GAAP), adjusted for (i) real estate-related depreciation and amortization, (ii) impairment charges on depreciable
real property, (iii) gains or losses from sales of depreciable real property and (iv) similar adjustments for non-controlling interests
and unconsolidated entities.

We believe that the use of FFO provides a more complete understanding of our operating performance to investors and to
management, and when compared year-over-year, reflects the impact on our operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental
rates, operating costs, general and administrative expenses and interest costs, which may not be immediately apparent from net
loss.
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Adjusted Funds from Operations

We also believe that AFFO is a meaningful supplemental non-GAAP measure of our operating results. We calculate AFFO
by further adjusting FFO to reflect the performance of our portfolio for items we believe are not directly attributable to our
operations. We believe that AFFO is a beneficial indicator of our ongoing portfolio performance and isolates the financial results
of our operations. Our adjustments to FFO to arrive at AFFO include removing the impacts of (i) acquisition and transaction
related costs (including certain expenses directly related to the Internalization and the Reverse Stock-Split), (ii) amortization of
market-lease intangible assets and liabilities, (iii) adjustments for straight-line rent, (iv) termination fees to related parties, (v)
equity-based compensation expense, (vi) depreciation and amortization related to non-real estate related assets, (vii) mark-to-
market gains and losses from our non-designated derivatives, (viii) non-cash components of interest expense, (ix) casualty-related
charges, (x) gains or losses on extinguishment of debt and (xi) similar adjustments for non-controlling interests and
unconsolidated entities. We believe that AFFO is a recognized measure of sustainable operating performance by the REIT
industry and is useful in comparing the sustainability of our operating performance with the sustainability of the operating
performance of other real estate companies.

The table below reflects the items deducted from or added to net loss attributable to stockholders in our calculation of FFO
and AFFO for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Net loss attributable to common stockholders (in accordance with GAAP) $ (203,495 $ (86,097) $ (93,285)
Depreciation and amortization related to real estate assets 79,231 80,057 80,063
Impairment charges 24,881 4,676 27,630
(Gain) loss on sale of real estate investments (9,307) 322 125
Adjustments for non-controlling interests " (466) (403) (490)

FFO (as defined by NAREIT) attributable to common stockholders (109,156) (1,445) 14,043
(Accretion) amortization of market lease and other lease intangibles, net (1,428) (890) (625)
Straight-line rent adjustments (794) (1,049) (1,523)
Acquisition and transaction related ) 7,949 545 1,484
Termination fees to related parties 106,650 — —
Equity-based compensation 613 919 1,185
Depreciation and amortization on non-real estate assets 4,836 2,816 2,001
Mark-to-market (gains)/losses from derivatives ¥ 5,266 7,576 (3,541)
Non-cash components of interest expense ® 2,247 2,606 5,353
Adjustments for non-controlling interests " (540) 38 10
Gain on extinguishment of debt (392) — —
Casualty-related charges © 489 63 209

AFFO attributable to common stockholders $ 15,740 $ 11,179 $ 18,596

(1) Represents the portion of the adjustments allocable to non-controlling interests.

(2) Includes certain advisory, legal, accounting, information technology, tax and other professional expenses and other non-recurring employee transition
expenses of $4.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 that were directly related to the Internalization and the Reverse Stock Split. We do not
consider these expenses to be indicative of our performance given their unique and non-recurring nature.

(3) Represents the Closing Payments paid in connection with the Internalization. We do not consider such payments to be indicative of our performance given
its unique and non-recurring nature.

(4) Presented as total gains or losses from our non-designated derivatives net of cash received.

(5) Non-cash components of interest expense include (i) deferred financing cost amortization, (ii) mortgage discount and premium amortization and (iii)
amortized gains or losses from terminated hedging instruments.

(6) Includes labor, supplies and evacuation expenses from natural disasters not covered by insurance.
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Dividends and Other Distributions

Dividends on our Series A Preferred Stock are declared quarterly in an amount equal to $1.84375 per share each year
($0.460938 per share per quarter) to holders of Series A Preferred Stock, which is equivalent to 7.375% of per annum in the
$25.00 liquidation preference per share of Series A Preferred Stock. Dividends on our Series B Preferred Stock are declared
quarterly in an amount equal to $1.78125 per share each year ($0.445313 per share per quarter) to holders of Series B Preferred
Stock, which is equivalent to 7.125% of per annum in the $25.00 liquidation preference per share of Series B Preferred Stock.
Dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock are cumulative and payable quarterly in arrears on the
15th day of January, April, July and October of each year or, if not a business day, the next succeeding business day to holders of
record on the close of business on the record date set by our Board and declared by us. Any accrued and unpaid dividends payable
with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock or Series B Preferred Stock become part of the liquidation preference thereof.

Since mid-2020, we have not paid cash dividends on our shares of common stock but we issued stock dividends to the
holders from October 2020 until January 2024. The stock dividends were declared quarterly using a rate of $3.40 (as adjusted to
reflect the Reverse Stock Split) per share per year. The number of shares issued with each dividend is based on the estimated per
share asset value in effect on the applicable date. We do not intend to declare further stock dividends in the future.

The following table shows the sources for the payment of distributions to preferred stockholders, including distributions on
unvested restricted shares and Common OP Units, but excluding distributions related to Class B Units as these distributions are
recorded as an expense in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, for the periods indicated. No cash
distributions were made to common stockholders, restricted shareholders, holders of Common OP Units or holders of Class B
Units in the year ended December 31, 2024.

Three Months Ended Year Ended
March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 December 31, 2024 December 31, 2024
Percentage Percentage Percentage Percentage Percentage
of of of of of

(In thousands) Amounts  Distributions Amounts  Distributions Amounts Distributions Amounts Distributions Amounts Distributions
Distributions:
Dividends paid to holders of

Series A Preferred Stock $ 1,834 52.5% $ 1,834 52.5% $ 1,833 52.4% $ 1,832 52.4% $ 7333 52.4%
Dividends paid to holders of

Series B Preferred Stock 1,616 46.2% 1,616 46.2% 1,617 46.2% 1,617 46.3% 6,466 46.2%
Distributions paid to holders

of Series A Preferred

Units 46 1.3% 46 1.3% 47 1.3% 45 1.3% 184 1.3%
Total cash distributions $ 3,496 100.0% $ 3,496 100.0% $ 3,497 100.0% $ 3,494 100.0% $ 13,983 100.0%
Source of distribution

coverage:
Cash flows provided by

operations $ 2,543 727% $ 3,496 100.0 % $ — — % $ 3,494 100.0 % $ — — %

; )

Available cash on hand 953 27.3 % - % 3497 1000 % - o 13983 100.0 %
Total source of distribution

coverage $ 3,496 100.0 % $ 3,496 100.0 % $ 3,497 — % § 3,494 100.0 % $ 13,983 — %
Cash flows provided by

operations (in accordance

with GAAP) S 2543 S 8395 S O7.778) S 6994 $ (79,846
Net loss (in accordance with

GAAP) $ (15,550) $(116,918) $ (40,769) $ (17,026) $(190,263)

(1)  Assumes the use of available cash flows from operations before any other sources.

(2) Year-to-date total does not equal the sum of the quarters. Each quarter and year-to-date period is evaluated separately for purposes of this table. Cash
available cash on hand also includes proceeds from property dispositions and additional secured financings and borrowings under our credit facilities.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, cash flows used in operations were $79.8 million. We had not historically generated
sufficient cash flows from operations to fund the payment of dividends and other distributions at the current rate prior to
switching from paying cash dividends to stock dividends on our common stock. As shown in the table above, we funded
distributions to holders of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series A Preferred Units with cash flows
provided by operations and available cash on hand.
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Our ability to pay distributions on our Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series A Preferred Units and
other distributions depends on our ability to increase the amount of cash we generate from property operations which in turn
depends on a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, our ability to complete acquisitions of new properties and our ability
to improve operations at our existing properties. There can be no assurance that we will complete acquisitions on a timely basis or
on acceptable terms and conditions, if at all. Our ability to improve operations at our existing properties is also subject to a variety
of risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control, and there can be no assurance we will be successful in achieving
this objective.

Inflation

We may be adversely impacted by inflation on the leases with tenants in our OMF segment that do not contain indexed
escalation provisions, or those leases which have escalations at rates which do not exceed or approximate current inflation rates.
As of December 31, 2024, the increase to the 12-month CPI for all items, as published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics, was
3.2%. To help mitigate the adverse impact of inflation, most of our leases with our tenants in our OMF segment contain rent
escalation provisions which increase the cash that is due under these leases over time. These provisions generally increase rental
rates during the terms of the leases either at fixed rates or indexed escalations (based on CPI or other measures). Although most of
our leases with tenants in our OMF segment contain rent escalation provisions, these rates are generally below the current rate of
inflation.

In addition to base rent, depending on the specific lease, OMF tenants are generally required to pay either (i) their pro rata
share of property operating and maintenance expenses, which may be subject to expense exclusions and floors, or (ii) their share
of increases in property operating and maintenance expenses to the extent they exceed the properties’ expenses for the base year
of the respective leases. Property operating and maintenance expenses include common area maintenance costs, real estate taxes
and insurance. Increased operating costs paid by our tenants under these net leases could have an adverse impact on our tenants if
increases in their operating expenses exceed increases in their revenue, which may adversely affect our tenants’ ability to pay rent
owed to us or property expenses to be paid, or reimbursed to us, by our tenants. Renewals of leases or future leases for our net
lease properties may not be negotiated on a triple-net basis or on a basis requiring the tenants to pay all or some of such expenses,
in which event we may have to pay those costs. If we are unable to lease properties on a triple-net basis or on a basis requiring the
tenants to pay all or some of such expenses, or if tenants fail to pay required tax, utility and other impositions, we could be
required to pay those costs.

Leases with residents at our SHOPs typically do not have rent escalations; however, we are able to renew leases at market
rates as they mature due to their short-term nature. As inflation rates increase or persist at high levels, the cost of providing
medical care at our SHOPs, particularly labor costs, will increase. If we are unable to admit new residents or renew resident leases
at market rates, while bearing these increased costs from providing services to our residents, our results of operations may be
affected.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The market risk associated with financial instruments and derivative financial instruments is the risk of loss from adverse
changes in market prices or interest rates. Our long-term debt, which consists of secured financings, the Fannie Mae Master Credit
Facilities and the OMF Warehouse Facility, bear interest at fixed rates and variable rates. Our interest rate risk management
objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to lower our overall borrowing costs. To
achieve these objectives, from time to time, we may enter into interest rate hedge contracts such as swaps, caps, collars and
treasury rate lock agreements in order to mitigate our interest rate risk with respect to various debt instruments. We will not hold
or issue these derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes. As of December 31, 2024, we had entered into eight SOFR-
based non-designated interest rate caps with a current notional amount of approximately $369.2 million and one SOFR-based
designated interest rate swap with a notional amount of $378.5 million. We do not have any foreign operations and thus we are
generally not directly exposed to foreign currency fluctuations.

Mortgage Notes Payable

As of December 31, 2024, all of our mortgages were either fixed-rate ($425.7 million) or variable-rate ($364.0 million),
before consideration of interest rate swaps. Our mortgages had a gross aggregate carrying value of $789.6 million and a fair value
of $747.5 million as of December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2023, all of our mortgages were either fixed-rate ($442.9
million) or variable-rate ($378.5 million), before consideration of interest rate swaps. Our mortgages had a gross aggregate
carrying value of $821.4 million and a fair value of $787.7 million as of December 31, 2023.

Credit Facilities

Our Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities and OMF Warehouse Facility are variable-rate. Our Fannie Mae Master Credit
Facilities and OMF Warehouse Facility had a gross aggregate carrying amount of $362.2 million and a fair value of $363.0
million as of December 31, 2024. Our Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities had a gross aggregate carrying amount of $346.3
million and a fair value of $347.0 million, and our MOB Warehouse Facility had a gross carrying value of $14.7 million and a fair
value of $14.8 million as of December 31, 2023.
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Sensitivity Analysis - Interest Expense

Interest rate volatility associated with all of our variable-rate borrowings affects interest expense incurred and cash flow to
the extent they are not fixed via interest rate swap or capped via interest rate cap contracts.

Interest Rate Swaps

As noted above, we have one SOFR-based designated interest rate swap with a notional amount of $378.5 million, which
effectively create a fixed interest rate for a portion of our variable-rate debt. This interest rate swap effectively hedges all of our
variable rate debt with the exception of our Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities and OMF Warehouse Facility discussed below.

Interest Rate Caps

We also have entered into eight SOFR-based, non-designated interest rate cap contracts with a current notional amount of
$369.2 million as of December 31, 2024, which limits SOFR exposure on our Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities and OMF
Warehouse Facility to 3.50%. The active caps began limiting SOFR during the fourth quarter of 2022 as SOFR rates exceeded the
strike price of 3.50% and we are receiving monthly cash payments on these contracts. Because these are non-designated
derivatives, the amounts received are included in (loss) gain on non-designated derivatives in our statement of operations and
comprehensive loss.

Sensitivity

As of December 31, 2024, we are not currently negatively exposed to rising interest rates. Assuming all other variables
besides interest rates remain constant, a 100 basis point increase in variable interest rates would not impact our net interest
payments due to our interest rate swaps and effective interest rate caps. Assuming all other variables besides interest rates remain
constant, a 100 basis point decrease in variable interest rates would also not impact our swapped debt, and based on the SOFR rate
as of December 31, 2024, a 100 basis point decrease would not have a material impact on our net interest payments (inclusive of
cash received from our non-designated derivatives included in (loss) gain on non-designated derivatives).

Sensitivity Analysis - Fair Value of Debt

Changes in market interest rates on our debt instruments impacts their fair value, even if it has no impact on interest due on
them. For instance, if interest rates rise 100 basis points and the balances on our debt instruments remain constant, we expect the
fair value of our obligations to decrease, the same way the price of a bond declines as interest rates rise. The sensitivity analysis
related to our debt assumes an immediate 100 basis point move in interest rates from their December 31, 2024 levels, with all
other variables held constant. A 100 basis point increase in market interest rates would result in a decrease in the fair value of our
debt by $20.5 million. A 100 basis point decrease in market interest rates would result in an increase in the fair value of our debt
by $22.2 million. A 100 basis point increase in market interest rates would result in an increase in the fair value of our designated
interest rate swap by $6.4 million. A 100 basis point decrease in market interest rates would result in a decrease in the fair value
of our designated interest rate swap by $6.6 million.

These amounts were determined by considering the impact of hypothetical interest rate changes on our borrowing costs, and
assuming no other changes in our capital structure. The information presented above includes only those exposures that existed as
of December 31, 2024 and does not consider exposures or positions arising after that date. The information represented herein has
limited predictive value. Future actual realized gains or losses with respect to interest rate fluctuations will depend on cumulative
exposures, hedging strategies employed and the magnitude of the fluctuations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item 8 is hereby incorporated by reference to our Consolidated Financial Statements
beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

In accordance with Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) of the Exchange Act, our disclosure controls and procedures include
internal controls and other procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in this
and other reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the required time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. It should be
noted that no system of controls can provide complete assurance of achieving a company’s objectives and that future events may
impact the effectiveness of a system of controls.
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Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, together with other members of our management, carried out an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e) of the
Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on such evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of
December 31, 2024 at a reasonable level of assurance.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such
term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and
directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal
control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024. In
making that assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on its assessment, our management concluded that, as of
December 31, 2024, our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm
regarding internal control over financial reporting. The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting has not been
audited by our independent registered public accounting firm because we are a “non-accelerated filer” as defined under SEC rules.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
Trading Plans
None.
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections

Not Applicable.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our executive officers and directors, including
but not limited to, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer. A copy of our Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics may be obtained, free of charge, by sending a written request to our executive office: 540 Madison Ave., 27th Floor, New
York, NY 10022, Attention: Secretary. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is also publicly available on our website at
www.nhpreit.com. If we make any substantive amendments to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or grant any waiver,
including any implicit waiver, from a provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to our chief executive officer, chief
financial officer, chief accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar functions, we will disclose the nature of the
amendment or waiver on that website or in a report on Form 8-K.

We have also adopted insider trading policies and procedures governing the purchase, sale, and/or other dispositions of our
securities by directors, officers and employees, or the Company itself, that are reasonably designed to promote compliance with
insider trading laws, rules and regulations and the listing standards applicable to the Company (the “Insider Trading Policy”). Our
Insider Trading Policy is filed as Exhibit 19.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2025 annual
meeting of stockholders to be filed not later than 120 days after the end of the 2024 fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2025 annual
meeting of stockholders to be filed not later than 120 days after the end of the 2024 fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2025 annual
meeting of stockholders to be filed not later than 120 days after the end of the 2024 fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2025 annual
meeting of stockholders to be filed not later than 120 days after the end of the 2024 fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2025 annual
meeting of stockholders to be filed not later than 120 days after the end of the 2024 fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by
reference.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibit and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules
1. Financial Statements:
See the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements at page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
2. Financial Statement Schedules:
The following financial statement schedule is included herein at page F-42 of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K: Schedule IIT — Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation.
(b) Exhibits
See Exhibit Index below.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are included, or incorporated by reference, in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2024 (and are numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K):

Exhibit No. Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated August 6, 2024, by and among the Company, HTI Merger Sub, LLC,
2.1 Healthcare Trust Advisors, LLC and AR Global Investments, LLC (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 7, 2024 and incorporated by reference herein)

Composite Articles of Amendment and Restatement for the Company (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s

3.1 Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2024 filed with the SEC on
November 12, 2024 and incorporated by reference herein.
32 Articles Supplementary of the Company relating to election to be subject to Section 3-803 of the Maryland

General Corporation Law, dated November 9, 2017 (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2017 filed with the SEC on November 14, 2017 and
incorporated by reference herein)

33 Articles Supplementary relating to the designation of shares of 7.375% Series A Cumulative Redeemable
Perpetual Preferred Stock, dated December 6, 2019 (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on December 6, 2019 and incorporated by reference herein)

34 Articles Supplementary designating additional shares of 7.375% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual
Preferred Stock, dated September 15, 2020 (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2020 and incorporated by reference herein)

3.5 Articles Supplementary relating to the designation of shares of 7.125% Series B Cumulative Redeemable
Perpetual Preferred Stock, dated October 4, 2021 (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on October 4, 2021 and incorporated by reference herein)

3.6 Articles of Amendment to the Company’s Charter, filed September 26, 2024 (Reverse Stock Split) (filed as an

exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 30, 2024 and
incorporated by reference herein)

3.7 Articles of Amendment to the Company’s Charter, filed September 26, 2024 (Name Change and Par Value
Adjustment) (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
September 30, 2024 and incorporated by reference herein)

3.8 Composite Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2024 filed with the SEC on November 12, 2024
and incorporated by reference herein)

3.9 Amendment No. 3 to the Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 30, 2024 and incorporated by reference
herein)

4.1 Agreement of Limited Partnership of the OP, dated as of February 14, 2013 (filed as an exhibit to the

Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 filed with the SEC on
May 14, 2013 and incorporated by reference herein)

4.2 First Amendment, dated December 31, 2013, to the Agreement of Limited Partnership of the OP, dated
February 14, 2013 (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2013 filed with the SEC on March 7, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein)

473 Second Amendment, dated April 15, 2015, to the Agreement of Limited Partnership of the OP, dated as of
February 14, 2013 (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on October 6, 2016 and incorporated by reference herein)

4.4 Third Amendment, dated December 6, 2019, to the Agreement of Limited Partnership of the OP, dated
February 14, 2013 (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on December 6, 2019 and incorporated by reference herein)

4.5 Fourth Amendment, dated September 15, 2020, to the Agreement of Limited Partnership of the OP, dated
February 14, 2013 (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on September 15, 2020 and incorporated by reference herein)

4.6 Fifth Amendment, dated May 7, 2021, to the Agreement of Limited Partnership of the OP, dated February 14,
2013 (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 10,
2021 and incorporated by reference herein)

4.7 Sixth Amendment, dated October 4, 2021, to the Agreement of Limited Partnership of the OP, dated February
14, 2013 (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October
4, 2021 and incorporated by reference herein)

4.8 Rights Agreement, dated May 18, 2020, between the Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as
Rights Agent (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
May 19, 2020 and incorporated by reference herein)

4.9 * Description of Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
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Exhibit No.
10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

Description

Amended and Restated Property Management and Leasing Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2017, by and
among the Company, the OP and Healthcare Trust Properties, LLC (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 17, 2017 and incorporated by reference
herein)

First Amendment, dated as of April 9, 2018, to Amended and Restated Property Management and Leasing
Agreement, by and among the Company, the OP and Healthcare Trust Properties, LLC (filed as an exhibit
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 16, 2018 and incorporated by
reference herein)

Second Amendment, dated as of November 11, 2021, to Amended and Restated Property Management and
Leasing Agreement, by and among the Company, the OP and Healthcare Trust Properties, LLC (filed as an
exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2021 filed
with the SEC on November 12, 2021 and incorporated by reference herein)

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement Pursuant to the Employee and Director Incentive Restricted Share
Plan of the Company (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2016 filed with the SEC on August 15, 2016 and incorporated by reference herein)

Master Credit Facility Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2016, by and among the borrowers party thereto and
KeyBank National Association (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2016 filed with the SEC on November 10, 2016 and incorporated by
reference herein)

First Amendment to Master Credit Facility, dated April 26, 2017, by among the borrowers party thereto and
KeyBank National Association (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on March 20, 2018 and incorporated by reference
herein)

Reaffirmation, Joinder and Second Amendment to Master Credit Facility, dated October 26, 2017, by among
the borrowers party thereto and KeyBank National Association (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on March 20,
2018 and incorporated by reference herein)

Master Credit Facility Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2016, by and among the borrowers party thereto and
Capital One Multifamily Finance, LLC (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 filed with the SEC on November 10, 2016 and
incorporated by reference herein)

Reaffirmation, Joinder and First Amendment to Master Credit Facility, dated March 30, 2017, by among the
borrowers party thereto and Capital One Multifamily Finance, LLC (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on March 20,
2018 and incorporated by reference herein)

Second Amendment to Master Credit Facility, dated October 26, 2017, by among the borrowers party thereto
and Capital One Multifamily Finance, LLC (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on March 20, 2018 and incorporated by
reference herein)

Third Amendment to Master Credit Facility, dated March 2, 2018, by among the borrowers party thereto and
Capital One Multifamily Finance, LLC (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on March 20, 2018 and incorporated by
reference herein)

Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2019, by and among the borrower entities
party thereto, Capital One, National Association and the other lenders party thereto (filed as an exhibit to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 27, 2019 and incorporated
by reference herein)

Amended and Restated Guaranty of Recourse Obligations, dated as of December 20, 2019, by the OP in favor
of Capital One, National Association (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on December 27, 2019 and incorporated by reference herein)

Amended and Restated Hazardous Materials Indemnity Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2019, by the OP
and the borrower entities party thereto, for the benefit of Capital One, National Association (filed as an
exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 27, 2019 and
incorporated by reference herein)

Amended and Restated Employee and Director Incentive Restricted Share Plan of the Company, effective as of
August 31, 2017 (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2017 filed with the SEC on November 14, 2017 and incorporated by reference
herein)

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Employee and Director
Incentive Restricted Share Plan of the Company (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2017 filed with the SEC on November 14, 2017 and
incorporated by reference herein)
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Exhibit No.
10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25 **
10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

Description

Loan Agreement, dated as of December 28, 2017, among the borrower entities party thereto and Capital One,
National Association (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on January 4, 2018 and incorporated by reference herein)

Guaranty of Recourse Obligation, dated as of December 28, 2017, by the OP in favor of Capital One, National
Association (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
January 4, 2018 and incorporated by reference herein)

Hazardous Materials Indemnity Agreement, dated as of December 28, 2017, by the OP and the borrower
entities party thereto, for the benefit of Capital One, National Association (filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 4, 2018 and incorporated by
reference herein)

Loan Agreement, dated as of April 10, 2018, by and among the borrowers party thereto, and KeyBank
National Association, as lender (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on April 16, 2018 and incorporated by reference herein)

Promissory Note A -1, dated as of April 10, 2018, by the borrowers party thereto in favor of KeyBank National
Association, as lender (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on April 16, 2018 and incorporated by reference herein)

Promissory Note A-2, dated as of April 10, 2018, by the borrowers party thereto in favor of KeyBank National
Association, as lender (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on April 16, 2018 and incorporated by reference herein)

Guarantee Agreement, dated as of April 10, 2018, by the OP in favor of KeyBank National Association, as
(filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 16, 20138

Environmental Indemnity Agreement, dated as of April 10, 2018, by the borrowers party thereto and the OP in
favor of KeyBank National Association, as indemnitee (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 16, 2018 and incorporated by reference herein)

Form of Indemnification Agreement with Directors and Officers

Amended and Restated Senior Secured Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 13, 2019 by and among
the OP, KeyBank National Association and the other lender parties thereto (filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 filed with the SEC on
March 14, 2019 and incorporated by reference herein)

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Senior Secured Revolving Credit Agreement entered into as of
March 13, 2019 by and among the OP, KeyBank National Association and the other lender parties thereto
(filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019
filed with the SEC on March 24, 2020 and incorporated by reference herein)

Second Amendment to First Amended and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agreement, entered into as of
August 10, 2020, among the OP, the Company, the other guarantor parties thereto, KeyBank National
Association and the other lenders party thereto (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 13, 2020 and incorporated by reference herein)

Third Amendment to First Amended and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agreement, entered into as of
November 12, 2021, among the OP, the Company, the other guarantor parties thereto, KeyBank National
Association and the other lenders party thereto (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2021 filed with the SEC on November 12, 2021 and
incorporated by reference herein)

Fourth Amendment to First Amended and Restated Senior Credit Agreement, entered into as of August 11,
2022, among the OP, the Company, the other guarantor parties thereto, KeyBank National Association and
the other lenders party thereto (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2022 filed with the SEC on August 12, 2022 and incorporated by reference herein)

Loan Agreement dated as of May 24, 2023, among the borrower entities party thereto, Barclays Capital Real
Estate Inc., Société Générale Financial Corporation, and KeyBank National Association (filed as an exhibit
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 31, 2023 and incorporated by

Guaranty Agreement dated as of May 24, 2023, by the OP in favor of Barclays Capital Real Estate Inc., Société
Générale Financial Corporation, and KeyBank National Association (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 31, 2023 and incorporated by reference herein)

Environmental Indemnity Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2023, by the OP and the borrower entities party
thereto, for the benefit of Barclays Capital Real Estate Inc., Société Générale Financial Corporation, and
KeyBank National Association (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on May 31, 2023 and incorporated by reference herein)

Loan Agreement, dates as of December 22, 2023, among the borrower entities thereto and Capital One,
National Association (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2023 filed with the SEC on March 15, 2024 and incorporated by reference herein)

Loan Agreement, dated as of February 22, 2024, among the borrower entities party thereto and Bank of
Montreal (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2023 filed with the SEC on March 15, 2024 and incorporated by reference herein)
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Exhibit No.
10.36 %

10.37 *

19.1 *
21.1 %
23.1*
31.1 %

31.2%*
327
97

99.1

99.2

99.3

99.4

99.5

99.6

101.INS *

101.SCH *
101.CAL *
101.DEF *
101.LAB *
101.PRE *
104 *

Description

Employment Agreement, dated September 25, 2024, by and between the Company and Michael Anderson
(filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 30,
2024 and incorporated by reference herein)

Employment Agreement, dated December 20, 2024, by and between the Company and Scott Lappetito (filed as
an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 20, 2024 and
incorporated by reference herein)

Insider Trading Policy of the Company
List of Subsidiaries of the Company
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer of the Company pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule
13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule
13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Written statements of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer of the Company pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Compensation Clawback Policy (furnished as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2023 filed with the SEC on March 15, 2024)

Second Amended and Restated Share Repurchase Program (filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 14, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein)

Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Share Repurchase Program (filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 29, 2019 and incorporated by
reference herein)

Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Share Repurchase Program (filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 27, 2019 and incorporated by
reference herein)

Third Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Share Repurchase Program (filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 23, 2019 and incorporated by
reference herein)

Fourth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Share Repurchase Program (filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 21, 2019 and incorporated by
reference herein)

Fifth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Share Repurchase Program (filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 9, 2020 and incorporated by
reference herein)

XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its

XBRL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

rer Page Interactive Data File - the cover page interactive data file does not appear in the Interactive Data

File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

* Filed herewith
Furnished herewith
Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC.
By /s/ Michael Anderson
Michael Anderson

Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Capacity Date

/s/ Leslie D. Michelson Non-Executive Chair of the Board of Directors, Independent Director February 27, 2025
Leslie D. Michelson

/s/ Michael Anderson Chief Executive Officer, President and Director February 27, 2025
Michael Anderson (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Scott M. Lappetito Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer February 27, 2025

Scott M. Lappetito

/s/ Elizabeth K. Tuppeny

Elizabeth K. Tuppeny

/s/ Edward G. Rendell

Edward G. Rendell

/s/ B.J. Penn

B.J. Penn

/s/ Edward M. Weil, Jr.

Edward M. Weil, Jr.

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Independent Director

Independent Director

Independent Director

Director

February 27, 2025

February 27, 2025

February 27, 2025

February 27, 2025
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of National Healthcare Properties, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of National Healthcare Properties, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the
"Company") as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, of
changes in equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, including the related notes
and financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial
statements"). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2024 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or
complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Purchase Price Allocations for Property Acquisitions

As described in Note 2 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, during the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company
completed real estate acquisitions, net of below market lease liabilities assumed, of $13.1 million. For acquired properties with
leases classified as operating leases, management allocates the purchase price to tangible and identifiable intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values. Tangible assets include land, land improvements, buildings,
fixtures and tenant improvements on an as-if vacant basis. Management utilizes various estimates, processes and information to
determine the as-if vacant property value. Management estimates the fair value using data from appraisals, comparable sales,
discounted cash flow analysis and other methods. Fair value estimates are also made using significant assumptions such as
capitalization rates, market rental rates, discount rates, and land values per square foot. Identifiable intangible assets include
amounts allocated to acquired leases for above- and below-market lease rates and the value of in-place leases. Above-market and
below-market lease values for acquired properties are initially recorded based on the present value (using a discount rate which
reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between (i) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to
each in-place lease and (ii) management’s estimate of market rental rates for each corresponding in-place lease, measured over a
period equal to the remaining initial term of the lease for above-market leases and the remaining initial term plus the term of any
below- market fixed rate renewal options for below- market leases.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to purchase price allocations for property
acquisitions is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when developing the fair value estimates of
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed; (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity and effort in
performing procedures and evaluating management’s significant assumptions related to capitalization rates, market rental rates,
discount rates, and land values per square foot; and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included, among others (i) reading the purchase agreements
and lease documents; (ii) testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying data used by management in the fair value
estimates, and (iii) testing management’s process for estimating the fair value of tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, including testing management’s projected cash flows and evaluating the accuracy of valuation outputs.
Testing management’s process included evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation methods and reasonableness of the
significant assumptions related to capitalization rates, market rental rates, discount rates, and land values per square foot.
Evaluating the reasonableness of the significant assumptions included considering whether these assumptions were consistent
with external market data, comparable transactions, and evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. In conjunction with certain
purchase price allocations, professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating the reasonableness
of certain assumptions utilized by management related to capitalization rates, market rental rates, discount rates, and land values
per square foot.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York
February 27, 2025

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2019.
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ASSETS

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Real estate investments, at cost:

Land

Buildings, fixtures and improvements
Acquired intangible assets
Total real estate investments, at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total real estate investments, net
Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Derivative assets, at fair value
Straight-line rent receivable, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Deferred costs, net
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Mortgage notes payable, net

Credit facilities

Market lease intangible liabilities, net

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (including $30,267 and $295 due to related parties

as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively)
Operating lease liabilities

Deferred rent

Distributions payable
Total liabilities

Stockholders’ Equity

7.375% Series A cumulative redeemable perpetual preferred stock, $0.01 par value,
4,740,000 authorized as of December 31, 2024 and 2023; 3,977,144 issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023

7.125% Series B cumulative redeemable perpetual preferred stock, $0.01 par value,
3,680,000 authorized; 3,630,000 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and

2023

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 300,000,000 shares authorized, 28,296,439 shares and
27,886,255 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,

respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Distributions in excess of accumulated earnings
Total stockholders’ equity

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

December 31,

2024 2023
$ 190,082 $ 207,987
2,012,401 2,120,352
284,447 293,295
2,486,930 2,621,634
(725,831) (681,977)
1,761,099 1,939,657
21,652 46,409
52,443 44,907
19,206 28,370
22,841 26,325
7,480 7,713
40,033 35,781
21,269 15,997

$ 1,946,023 2,145,159
$ 779,160 808,995
362,216 361,026
6,125 8,165
89,575 48,356
8,109 8,038
7,217 6,500
3,496 3,496
1,255,898 1,244,576
40 40

36 36

1,132 1,115
2,533,706 2,509,303
16,640 23,464
(1,866,994)  (1,639,804)
634,560 894,154
5,565 6,429
690,125 900,583

$ 1,946,023 $ 2,145,159

Share and per share data have been adjusted for all periods presented to reflect an one-for-four reverse stock split effective

September 30, 2024.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Revenue from tenants $ 353,794 $ 345925 $ 335,846
Operating expenses:

Property operating and maintenance 221,148 217,792 213,444

Impairment charges 24,881 4,676 27,630

Termination fees to related parties 106,650 — —

Operating fees to related parties 19,203 25,527 25,353

Acquisition and transaction related 7,949 545 1,484

General and administrative 22,744 18,928 17,287

Depreciation and amortization 84,067 82,873 82,064

Total expenses 486,642 350,341 367,262
Operating loss before gain on sale of real estate investments (132,848) (4,4106) (31,416)
Gain (loss) on sale of real estate investments 9,307 (322) (125)
Operating loss (123,541) (4,738) (31,541)
Other (expense) income:

Interest expense (69,447) (66,078) (51,740)

Interest and other income 1,051 734 27

Gain on extinguishment of debt 392 — —

Gain (loss) on non-designated derivatives 1,544 (1,995) 3,834

Total other expenses, net (66,460) (67,339) (47,879)
Loss before income taxes (190,001) (72,077) (79,420)

Income tax expense (262) (303) (201)
Net loss (190,263) (72,380) (79,621)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests 567 82 135
Allocation for preferred stock (13,799) (13,799) (13,799)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (203,495) (86,097) (93,285)
Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Unrealized (loss) gain on designated derivatives (6,824) (13,446) 51,251
Comprehensive loss attributable to common stockholders $ (210,319) $ (99,543) $ (42,034)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding — Basic and Diluted " 28,286,391 28,280,430 28,260,835
Net loss per common share attributable to common stockholders — Basic

and Diluted " $ (7.19) § (3.04) $ (3.30)

(1) Retroactively adjusted for the effects of previous stock dividends (see Note I — Organization for details).

Share and per share data have been adjusted for all periods presented to reflect an one-for-four reverse stock split effective
September 30, 2024.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022
(In thousands, except share data)

Series A Preferred Series B Preferred

Stock Stock Common Stock
Accumulated Distributions
Number Number Additional Other in Excess of Total Non-
of Par of Par Number of Par Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’  controlling Total
Shares Value Shares Value Shares Value Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Equity Interests Equity

Balance, December 31, 2021 3,977,144 § 40 3,630,000 $ 36 24,820,439 $ 993 § 2,329,839 § (14,341) $ (1,282.871) $§ 1,033,696 § 6,704 $ 1,040,400
Issuance of Series B Preferred stock, net — — — — — — (42) — — (42) — (42)
Share-based compensation, net — — — — — — 1,185 — — 1,185 — 1,185
Distributions declared in common stock,
$0.85 per share — — — — 1,449,694 58 86,243 — (86,301) — — —
Dividends declared on Series A

Preferred Stock, $1.84 per share = = = = = = = = (7,333) (7,333) — (7,333)
Dividends declared on Series B Preferred

stock, $1.78 per share — — — — — — — — (6,466) (6,466) — (6,466)
Distributions to non-controlling interest

holders — — — — — — — — — — (184) (184)
Net loss — — — — — — — — (79,486) (79.,486) (135) (79.,621)
Unrealized loss on designated derivative — — — — — — — 51,251 — 51,251 — 51,251
Rebalancing of ownership percentage — — — — — — (166) — — (166) 166 —
Balance, December 31, 2022 3,977,144 40 3,630,000 36 26,270,133 1,051 2,417,059 36,910 (1,462,457) 992,639 6,551 999,190
Share-based compensation, net — — — — — — 919 — — 919 — 919
Distributions declared in common stock,

$0.85 per share — — — — 1,616,122 64 91,186 — (91,250) — — —
Dividends declared on Series A Preferred

Stock, $1.84 per share — — — — — — — — (7,333) (7,333) — (7,333)
Dividends declared on Series B Preferred

Stock, $1.78 per share — — — — — — — — (6,466) (6,466) — (6,466)
Distributions to non-controlling interest

holders — — — — — — — — — — (185) (185)
Contributions from non-controlling

interest holders — — — — — — — — — — 284 284
Net loss — — — — — — — — (72,298) (72,298) (82) (72,380)
Unrealized loss on designated derivative — — — — — — — (13,446) — (13,446) — (13,446)
Rebalancing of ownership percentage — — — — — — 139 — — 139 (139) —
Balance, December 31, 2023 3,977,144 40 3,630,000 36 27,886,255 1,115 2,509,303 23,464 1,639,804 894,154 6,429 900,583
Share-based compensation, net — — — — — — 613 — — 613 — 613
Distributions declared in common stock,

$0.85 per share — — — — 410,184 17 23,678 — (23,695) — — —
Dividends declared Series A Preferred

Stock, $1.84 per share — — — — — — — — (7,333) (7,333) — (7,333)
Dividends declared on Series B Preferred

Stock, $1.78 per share — — — — — — — — (6,466) (6,466) (6,466)
Distributions to non-controlling interest

holders — — — — — — — — — — (185) (185)
Contributions from non-controlling

interest holders — — — — — — — — — — — —
Net loss — — — — — — — — (189,696) (189,696) (567) (190,263)
Unrealized loss on designated derivative — — — — — — — (6,824) — (6,824) — (6,824)
Rebalancing of ownership percentage — — — — — — 112 — — 112 (112) —
Balance, December 31, 2024 3,977,144 § 40 3,630,000 $ 36 28,296,439  $ 1,132 § 2,533,706 § 16,640 $ 1,866,994) $ 684,560 § 5,565 $ 690,125

Share and per share data have been adjusted for all periods presented to reflect an one-for-four reverse stock split effective September 30,
2024.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of deferred financing costs
(Accretion) amortization of terminated swap
Amortization of mortgage premiums and discounts, net
Accretion of market lease and other intangibles, net
Bad debt expense
Equity-based compensation
(Gain) loss on non-designated derivative instruments
Cash received from non-designated derivative instruments
(Gain) loss on sales of real estate investments
Gain on extinguishment of debt
Impairment charges
Deferred tax valuation allowance
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Straight-line rent receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Deferred rent
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Property acquisitions
Investments in non-designated interest rate caps
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from sales of real estate investments
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments on credit facilities
Proceeds from credit facilities
Proceeds from mortgage notes payable
Payments on mortgage notes payable
Proceeds from interest rate swap terminations
Payments of deferred financing costs
Proceeds from promissory note
Proceeds from issuance of Series B Preferred Stock, net
Dividends paid on Series A Preferred stock
Dividends paid on Series B Preferred stock
Contributions from non-controlling interest holders
Distributions to non-controlling interest holders
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
$ (190,263) $ (72,380) $ (79,621)
84,067 82,873 82,064
3,376 6,702 4,879
(1,218) (4,195) 423
89 91 51
(1,428) (890) (625)
1,515 1,225 3,159
613 919 1,185
(1,544) 1,995 (3,834)
6,810 5,580 286
(9,307) 322 125
(392) — —
24,881 4,676 27,630
2,397 1,165 2,750
(794) (1,049) (1,523)
(4,443) (6,069) (3,036)
4,659 83 (2,924)
1,136 576 (2,694)
(79,846) 21,624 28,295
(5,606) (35,261) (25,538)
(1,709) (9,962) —
(21,908) (22,397) (27,993)
93,195 4,803 11,749
63,972 (62,817) (41,782)
(5,769) (200,602) (2,998)
6,960 34,748 30,000
— 240,000 —
(18,822) (1,139) (6,662)
— 5,413 —
— (8,748) (1,672)
30,267 — —
— — 42)
(7,333) (7,334) (7,333)
(6,466) (6,466) (6,466)
— 284 —
(184) (185) (184)
(1,347) 55,971 4,643
(17,221) 14,778 (8,844)
91,316 76,538 85,382
$ 74,095 $ 91,316 §$ 76,538
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash, cash equivalents, end of period
Restricted cash, end of period

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for income and franchise taxes

Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Common stock issued through stock dividends

Mortgages issued with acquisition of real estate investments
Accrued capital expenditures

Accrued offering costs on Series B Preferred Stock

Proceeds from real estate sales used to repay mortgage notes payable

Mortgage notes payable repaid with proceeds from real estate sales

(In thousands)

Proceeds from real estate sales used to repay amounts outstanding under the Prior Credit

Facility

Amounts outstanding under the Prior Credit Facility repaid with proceeds from real estate

sales

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
21,652 46,409 $ 53,654
52,443 44,907 22,884
74,095 91316 $ 76,538
61,038 63,720 $ 45,042

416 454 566
23,695 91,250 86,301
7,500 — —
455 2,902 —

— — 78
20,370 2,663 —
(20,370) (2,663) —
— 5,167 —

= (5,167) =

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2024

Note 1 — Organization

National Healthcare Properties, Inc. (formerly known as Healthcare Trust, Inc.) (including, as required by context, National
Healthcare Properties Operating Partnership, L.P. (the “OP”) and its subsidiaries, the “Company”) is a real estate investment trust
(“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Company acquires, owns and manages a diversified portfolio of healthcare-
related real estate, focused on outpatient medical facilities (“OMFs”) and senior housing operating properties (“SHOPs”).

As of December 31, 2024, the Company owned 193 properties (including one land parcel) located in 31 states and comprised
of 8.4 million rentable square feet.

Substantially all of the Company’s business is conducted through the OP and its wholly owned subsidiaries, including taxable
REIT subsidiaries (“TRSs”). Prior to the consummation of the Internalization (as defined below) on September 27, 2024, the
Company’s former advisor, Healthcare Trust Advisors, LLC (the “Advisor”), managed its day-to-day business with the assistance
of its property manager, Healthcare Trust Properties, LLC (the “Property Manager”). Prior to the consummation of the
Internalization, the Advisor and Property Manager were under common control with AR Global Investments, LLC (the “Advisor
Parent”), and these related parties received compensation and fees for providing services to the Company. See the
“Internalization” section in this Note for additional information.

The Company also reimbursed, and in the case of the Property Manager, continues to reimburse, these entities for certain
expenses they incur in providing these services to the Company. Healthcare Trust Special Limited Partnership, LLC (the “Special
Limited Partner”), which is also under common control with the Advisor Parent, also has an interest in the Company through
ownership of interests in the OP. As of December 31, 2024, the Company owned 44 SHOPs using the REIT Investment
Diversification and Empowerment Act of 2007 (“RIDEA”) structure in its SHOP segment. Under RIDEA, a REIT may lease
“qualified healthcare properties” on an arm’s length basis to a TRS if the property is operated on behalf of such subsidiary by a
person who qualifies as an “eligible independent contractor.”

The Company has three operating segments: (i) Outpatient Medical Facilities, (ii) Senior Housing Operating Properties, and
(iii) Triple net leased healthcare facilities. The Company aggregates its operating segments into two reportable business segments
for management and internal financial reporting purposes: OMFs and SHOPs. All of the Company’s properties across both
business segments are located throughout the United States. In its OMF operating segment, the Company owns, manages and
leases single and multi-tenant OMFs where tenants are required to pay their pro rata share of property operating expenses, which
may be subject to expense exclusions and floors, in addition to base rent. The Property Manager or third-party managers manage
the Company’s OMFs. In its SHOP segment, the Company invests in seniors housing properties through the RIDEA structure. As
of December 31, 2024, the Company had four eligible independent contractors operating 44 SHOPs.

The Company declared quarterly dividends entirely in shares of its common stock from October 2020 through January 2024.
Dividends payable entirely in shares of common stock are treated in a fashion similar to a stock split for accounting purposes
specifically related to per-share calculations for the current and prior periods. Since October 2020, the Company has issued an
aggregate of approximately 5.2 million shares as stock dividends (as adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split (as defined
below)). No other additional shares of common stock have been issued since October 2020. References made to weighted-average
shares and per-share amounts in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income have been
retroactively adjusted to reflect the cumulative increase in shares outstanding resulting from the stock dividends since October
2020 and through January 2024, and are noted as such throughout the accompanying financial statements and notes. See Note § —
Stockholder’s Equity for additional information on the stock dividends.

On March 27, 2024, the Company published a new estimate of per-share net asset value (“Estimated Per-Share NAV”) as
of December 31, 2023. The Estimated Per-Share NAV published on March 27, 2024 has not been adjusted since publication and
will not be adjusted until the Company’s board of directors (the “Board”) determines a new Estimated Per-Share NAV. The
Company intends to publish Estimated Per-Share NAV periodically at the discretion of the Board, provided that such estimates
will be made at least once annually unless the Company lists its common stock.

Internalization

On September 27, 2024 (the “Closing Date”), the Company consummated (the “Closing”) the transactions (the
“Internalization”) contemplated by that certain merger agreement dated August 6, 2024 (the “Internalization Agreement”) by and
among the Company, HTI Merger Sub, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (“Merger Sub”), the Advisor and the Advisor Parent.



NATIONAL HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2024

Consummation of the Internalization resulted in the internalization of the Company’s management through the merger of the
Advisor with and into Merger Sub, with the Advisor being the surviving entity (under the name “Healthcare Trust Advisors,
LLC”) and the termination of the Company’s prior arrangement for advisory management services provided by the Advisor
pursuant to the Advisory Agreement (as defined in Note 9 — Related Party Transactions and Arrangements). All assets, contracts
and employees necessary for the Company to conduct its business were contributed by the Advisor Parent (and/or its affiliates) to
the Advisor prior to the Closing Date, including all of the equity interests in the Property Manager, which became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company following the Internalization.

Pursuant to the Internalization Agreement, on the Closing Date, (i) the outstanding membership interests of the Advisor were
converted into the right to receive from the Company an internalization fee of $98.2 million and (ii) the Advisor Parent received
(x) an asset management fee of $5.5 million, representing the aggregate base management fee that the Company would have been
required to pay to the Advisor during the remaining three month notice period required to terminate the Advisory Agreement, and
(y) a property management fee of $2.9 million, representing the aggregate management fees that the Company would have been
required to pay to the Property Manager through the current term of the Property Management Agreement, in each case, as
adjusted to the extent the amount of such asset management and property management fees exceed or are less than the amount
required to be paid by the Advisor Parent to employees placed with the Company pursuant to the Internalization prior to the
Closing and the amounts due under contracts acquired by the Company in the Internalization relating to the pre-Closing period
(collectively, the “Closing Payments” in an aggregate amount of $106.6 million). The Advisor Parent also delivered cash to the
Company at Closing in order for the Company to pay any unpaid employee bonuses for calendar year 2023 and any accrued
bonuses for calendar year 2024 to the extent that the Company has previously reimbursed the Advisor Parent for, but the Advisor
Parent has not paid, such bonuses.

Pursuant to the Internalization Agreement, because the Closing Payments exceeded the Company’s Available Cash (as
defined in the Internalization Agreement), the Company paid the Advisor Parent an aggregate cash consideration of $75.0 million
(such cash amount, the “Closing Date Cash Consideration”), and the Company issued to the Advisor Parent an unsecured
promissory note (the “Promissory Note™) (as further defined in Note 9 — Related Party Transactions and Arrangements) in a
principal amount of $30.3 million, equal to the difference between the Closing Date Cash Consideration and the Closing
Payments. In January 2025, the Company repaid the Promissory Note in full including any unpaid interest at the time of payment.
See Note 9 — Related Party Transactions and Arrangements and Note 17 — Subsequent Events for additional information.

Reverse Stock Split

On September 26, 2024, following approval by the Board and in accordance with Maryland General Corporate Law, the
Company filed Articles of Amendment to the Company’s articles of amendment and restatement (as amended to date, the
“Charter”’) with the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland (“SDAT”) to effect a reverse stock split of the
Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “common stock™), at a ratio of one-for-four, which became effective on
September 30, 2024 (the “Reverse Stock Split”). As a result of the Reverse Stock Split, the par value of the common stock
adjusted to $0.04 per share. The number of authorized shares of common stock under the Charter remains unchanged.

All share and per share data in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been adjusted for all periods presented to reflect the
Reverse Stock Split.

Name Change and Common Stock Par Value Adjustment

On September 26, 2024, following approval by the Board, the Company filed Articles of Amendment (the “Second Charter
Amendment”) to the Company’s Charter with the SDAT to (i) change the Company’s name to “National Healthcare Properties,
Inc.” from “Healthcare Trust, Inc.” and (ii) adjust the par value of the Company’s common stock back to $0.01 per share
following the Reverse Stock Split, both of which became effective on September 30, 2024.

In connection with its name change, the Company, as the general partner of the OP, caused the name of the OP to be changed
to “National Healthcare Properties Operating Partnership, L.P.” from “Healthcare Trust Operating Partnership, L.P.”

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”).
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2024

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, the OP and its subsidiaries. All
intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation. In determining whether the Company has a controlling
financial interest in a joint venture and the requirement to consolidate the accounts of that entity, management considers factors
such as ownership interest, authority to make decisions and contractual and substantive participating rights of the other partners or
members as well as whether the entity is a variable interest entity (“VIE”) for which the Company is the primary beneficiary. The
Company has determined the OP is a VIE of which the Company is the primary beneficiary. Substantially all of the Company’s
assets and liabilities are held by the OP.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. Management makes significant estimates regarding revenue recognition, purchase price
allocations to record investments in real estate, impairments, fair value measurements and income taxes, as applicable.

Out-of-Period Adjustments

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company identified certain historical errors in its statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss), consolidated statements of changes in equity, and statements of cash flows since 2019, which
impacted the quarterly financial statements and annual periods previously issued. Specifically, the Company had understated
depreciation and amortization expense on certain capital improvements and deferred leasing commissions, thereby understating
previously reported depreciation and amortization expense by $0.1 million and $0.6 million for the years ended December 31,
2022, and pre-2022 periods, respectively.

As of December 31, 2022, the cumulative impact of recording the correct depreciation and amortization expense is an
understatement of depreciation and amortization expense of $0.7 million, accumulated depreciation of $0.3 million and deferred
costs of $0.4 million. The Company concluded that the errors noted above were not material for the year ended December 31,
2023 or any prior periods, and has adjusted the amounts on a cumulative basis in the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2023

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenues, which are derived primarily from lease contracts, include rent received from tenants in its OMF
segment. As of December 31, 2024, these leases had a weighted average remaining lease term of 6.5 years. Rent from tenants in
the Company’s OMF segment (as discussed below) is recorded in accordance with the terms of each lease on a straight-line basis
over the initial term of the lease. Because many of the leases provide for rental increases at specified intervals, straight-line basis
accounting requires the Company to record a receivable for, and include in revenue from tenants on a straight-line basis, unbilled
rent receivables that the Company will only receive if the tenant makes all rent payments required through the expiration of the
initial term of the lease. When the Company acquires a property, the acquisition date is considered to be the commencement date
for purposes of this calculation. For new leases after acquisition, the commencement date is considered to be the date the tenant
takes control of the space. For lease modifications, the commencement date is considered to be the date the lease modification is
executed. The Company defers the revenue related to lease payments received from tenants in advance of their due dates. Tenant
revenue also includes operating expense reimbursements which generally increase with any increase in property operating and
maintenance expenses in the Company’s OMF segment. In addition to base rent, dependent on the specific lease, tenants are
generally required to pay either (i) their pro rata share of property operating and maintenance expenses, which may be subject to
expense exclusions and floors or (ii) their share of increases in property operating and maintenance expenses to the extent they
exceed the properties’ expenses for the base year of the respective leases. Under ASC 842, the Company has elected to report
combined lease and non-lease components in a single line “Revenue from tenants.” For expenses paid directly by the tenant,
under both ASC 842 and 840, the Company has reflected them on a net basis.

The Company’s revenues also include resident services and fee income primarily related to rent derived from lease contracts
with residents in the Company’s SHOP segment, held using a structure permitted under RIDEA. Rental income from residents in
the Company’s SHOP segment is recognized as earned when services are provided. Residents pay monthly rent that covers
occupancy of their unit and basic services, including utilities, meals and some housekeeping services. The terms of the leases are
short term in nature, primarily month-to-month.



NATIONAL HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2024

The Company defers the revenue related to lease payments received from tenants and residents in advance of their due dates.
Pursuant to certain of the Company’s lease agreements, tenants are required to reimburse the Company for certain property
operating and maintenance expenses related to non-SHOP assets (recorded in revenue from tenants), in addition to paying base
rent, whereas under certain other lease agreements, the tenants are directly responsible for all operating and maintenance costs of
the respective properties.

The following table presents future base rent payments on a cash basis due to the Company as of December 31, 2024 over the
next five years and thereafter. These amounts exclude tenant reimbursements and contingent rent payments, as applicable, that
may be collected from certain tenants based on provisions related to sales thresholds and increases in annual rent based on
exceeding certain economic indexes, among other items. These amounts also exclude SHOP leases which are short-term in nature.

(In thousands) Base Rl;lrll:ul::yments
2025 $ 102,490
2026 98,736
2027 89,887
2028 76,345
2029 66,636
Thereafter 315,834

Total $ 749,928

The Company continually reviews receivables related to rent and unbilled rent and determines collectability by taking into
consideration the tenant’s payment history, the financial condition of the tenant, business conditions in the industry in which the
tenant operates and economic conditions in the area in which the property is located. Under the leasing standards, the Company is
required to assess, based on credit risk only, if it is probable that the Company will collect virtually all of the lease payments at
lease commencement date and it must continue to reassess collectability periodically thereafter based on new facts and
circumstances affecting the credit risk of the tenant. If the Company determines that it is probable it will collect virtually all of the
lease payments (rent and common area maintenance), the lease will continue to be accounted for on an accrual basis (i.e., straight-
line). However, if the Company determines it is not probable that it will collect virtually all of the lease payments, the lease will
be accounted for on a cash basis and a full reserve would be recorded on previously accrued amounts in cases where it was
subsequently concluded that collection was not probable. Cost recoveries from tenants are included in operating revenue from
tenants, in accordance with current accounting rules, on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss in the period the related costs are incurred, as applicable.

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded reductions in revenue of $1.5 million,
$1.2 million and $3.2 million, respectively, related to uncollectible accounts. Approximately $1.3 million of bad debt expense
recorded in the year ended December 31, 2022, related to previously disposed properties. There were no significant write-offs
related to previously disposed properties during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Investments in Real Estate

Investments in real estate are recorded at cost. Improvements and replacements are capitalized when they extend the useful
life or improve the productive capacity of the asset. Costs of repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

At the time an asset is acquired, the Company evaluates the inputs, processes and outputs of the asset acquired to determine if
the transaction is a business combination or asset acquisition. If an acquisition qualifies as a business combination, the related
transaction costs are recorded as an expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. If an acquisition
qualifies as an asset acquisition, the related transaction costs are generally capitalized and subsequently amortized over the useful
life of the acquired assets. See the “Purchase Price Allocation” section in this Note for a discussion of the initial accounting for
investments in real estate.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2024

Disposal of real estate investments that represent a strategic shift in operations that will have a major effect on the Company's
operations and financial results are required to be presented as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of
operations. No properties were presented as discontinued operations during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
Properties that are intended to be sold are to be designated as “held for sale” on the consolidated balance sheets at the lesser of
carrying amount or fair value less estimated selling costs when they meet specific criteria to be presented as held for sale, most
significantly that the sale is probable within one year. The Company evaluates probability of sale based on specific facts including
whether a sales agreement is in place and the buyer has made significant non-refundable deposits. Properties are no longer
depreciated when they are classified as held for sale. There were no real estate investments held for sale as of December 31, 2024
or 2023.

Purchase Price Allocation

In both a business combination and an asset acquisition, the Company allocates the purchase price of acquired properties to
tangible and identifiable intangible assets or liabilities based on their respective fair values. Tangible assets may include land, land
improvements, buildings, fixtures and tenant improvements on an as if vacant basis. Intangible assets may include the value of in-
place leases and above- and below-market leases and other identifiable assets or liabilities based on lease or property specific
characteristics. In addition, any assumed mortgages receivable or payable and any assumed or issued non-controlling interests (in
a business combination) are recorded at their estimated fair values. In allocating the fair value to assumed mortgages, amounts are
recorded to debt premiums or discounts based on the present value of the estimated cash flows, which is calculated to account for
either above or below-market interest rates. In allocating the fair value to any assumed or issued non-controlling interests,
amounts are recorded at their fair value at the close of business on the acquisition date. In a business combination, the difference
between the purchase price and the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired is either recorded as goodwill or as a bargain
purchase gain. In an asset acquisition, the difference between the acquisition price (including capitalized transaction costs) and the
fair value of identifiable net assets acquired is allocated to the non-current assets. The Company acquired four properties during
the year ended December 31, 2024. Each of these acquisitions were accounted for as an asset acquisition.

For acquired properties with leases classified as operating leases, the Company allocates the purchase price to tangible and
identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their respective fair values. In making estimates of fair
values for purposes of allocating purchase price, the Company utilizes a number of sources, including independent appraisals that
may be obtained in connection with the acquisition or financing of the respective property and other market data. The Company
also considers information obtained about each property as a result of the Company’s pre-acquisition due diligence in estimating
the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and intangible liabilities assumed.

The Company utilizes various estimates, processes and information to determine the as-if vacant property value. The
Company estimates the fair value using data from appraisals, comparable sales, discounted cash flow analysis and other methods.
Fair value estimates are also made using significant assumptions such as capitalization rates, market rental rates, discount rates
and land values per square foot.

Identifiable intangible assets include amounts allocated to acquired leases for above- and below-market lease rates and the
value of in-place leases. Factors considered in the analysis of the in-place lease intangibles include an estimate of carrying costs
during the expected lease-up period for each property, taking into account current market conditions and costs to execute similar
leases. In estimating carrying costs, the Company includes real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses and estimates
of lost rentals at contract rates during the expected lease-up period, which typically ranges from six to 24 months. The Company
also estimates costs to execute similar leases including leasing commissions, legal and other related expenses.

Above-market and below-market lease values for acquired properties are initially recorded based on the present value (using
a discount rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between (i) the contractual amounts
to be paid pursuant to each in-place lease and (ii) management’s estimate of market rental rates for each corresponding in-place
lease, measured over a period equal to the remaining initial term of the lease for above-market leases and the remaining initial
term plus the term of any below-market fixed rate renewal options for below-market leases.

The aggregate value of intangible assets related to customer relationships, as applicable, is measured based on the Company’s
evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant’s lease and the Company’s overall relationship with the tenant.
Characteristics considered by the Company in determining these values include the nature and extent of its existing business
relationships with the tenant, growth prospects for developing new business with the tenant, the tenant’s credit quality and
expectations of lease renewals, among other factors. The Company did not record any intangible asset amounts related to
customer relationships during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
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Accounting for Leases
Lessor Accounting

The Company evaluates new leases (by the Company or by a predecessor lessor/owner) pursuant to ASC 842: Leases to
determine lease classification. A lease is classified by a lessor as a sales-type lease if the significant risks and rewards of
ownership reside with the tenant. This situation is met if, among other things, there is an automatic transfer of title during the
lease, a bargain purchase option, the non-cancelable lease term is for more than a major part of the remaining economic useful life
of the asset (e.g., equal to or greater than 75%), the present value of the minimum lease payments represents substantially all (e.g.,
equal to or greater than 90%) of the leased property’s fair value at lease inception, or the asset is so specialized in nature that it
provides no alternative use to the lessor (and therefore would not provide any future value to the lessor) after the lease term.
Further, such new leases would be evaluated to consider whether they would be failed sale-leaseback transactions and accounted
for as financing transactions by the lessor.

As a lessor of real estate, the Company has elected, by class of underlying assets, to account for lease and non-lease
components (such as tenant reimbursements of property operating and maintenance expenses) as a single lease component as an
operating lease because (i) the non-lease components have the same timing and pattern of transfer as the associated lease
component; and (ii) the lease component, if accounted for separately, would be classified as an operating lease. Additionally, only
incremental direct leasing costs may be capitalized under the accounting guidance. Indirect leasing costs in connection with new
or extended tenant leases, if any, are being expensed.

Lessee Accounting

The Company is also the lessee under certain land leases which will continue to be classified as operating leases under
transition elections unless subsequently modified. These leases are reflected on the consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the rent expense is reflected on a straight-line basis over the lease term in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

For lessees, the accounting standard requires the application of a dual lease classification approach, classifying leases as
either operating or finance leases based on the principle of whether or not the lease is effectively a financed purchase by the
lessee. Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, while lease expense for
finance leases is recognized based on an effective interest method over the term of the lease. Also, lessees must recognize a right-
of-use asset (“ROU”) and a lease liability for all leases with a term of greater than 12 months regardless of their classification.
Further, certain transactions where at inception of the lease the buyer-lessor accounted for the transaction as a purchase of real
estate and a new lease may be required to have symmetrical accounting to the seller-lessee if the transaction was not a qualified
sale-leaseback and accounted for as a financing transaction. For additional information and disclosures related to the Company’s
operating leases, see Note 16 — Commitments and Contingencies.

Gain on Dispositions of Real Estate Investments

Gains on sales of rental real estate are not considered sales to customers and will generally be recognized pursuant to the
provisions included in ASC 610-20, Gains and Losses from the Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets (“ASC 610-20”).

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

When circumstances indicate the carrying value of a property may not be recoverable, the Company reviews the property for
impairment. This review is based on an estimate of the future undiscounted cash flows, excluding interest charges, expected to
result from the property’s use and eventual disposition. These estimates consider factors such as expected future operating
income, market and other applicable trends and residual value, as well as the effects of leasing demand, competition and other
factors. If an impairment exists, due to the inability to recover the carrying value of a property, the Company would recognize an
impairment loss in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss to the extent that the carrying value exceeds
the estimated fair value of the property for properties to be held for use. For properties held for sale, the impairment loss recorded
would equal the adjustment to fair value less estimated cost to dispose of the asset. These assessments have a direct impact on net
income (loss) because recording an impairment loss results in an immediate negative adjustment to earnings. For additional
information, see Note 3 — Real Estate Investments, Net.

Reportable Segments

The Company’s reportable segments, based on how it evaluates its business and allocates resources, are as follows: (i) OMF
and (ii) SHOP. For additional information see Note 15 — Segment Reporting.
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Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of up to 40 years for buildings and
building improvements, 15 years for land improvements and fixtures, and the shorter of the useful life or the remaining lease term
for tenant improvements and leasehold interests.

Construction in progress is not depreciated until the project has reached substantial completion. The value of certain other
intangibles such as certificates of need in certain jurisdictions are amortized over the expected period of benefit (generally the life
of the related building).

The value of in-place leases, exclusive of the value of above-market and below-market in-place leases, is amortized to
expense over the remaining periods of the respective leases.

The value of customer relationship intangibles, if any, is amortized to expense over the initial term and any renewal periods
in the respective leases, but in no event does the amortization period for intangible assets exceed the remaining depreciable life of
the building. If a tenant terminates its lease, the unamortized portion of the in-place lease value and customer relationship
intangibles is charged to expense.

Assumed mortgage premiums or discounts are amortized as an increase or reduction to interest expense over the remaining
terms of the respective mortgages.

Above and Below-Market Lease Amortization

Capitalized above-market lease values are amortized as a reduction of revenue from tenants over the remaining terms of the
respective leases and the capitalized below-market lease values are amortized as an increase to revenue from tenants over the
remaining initial terms plus the terms of any below-market fixed rate renewal options of the respective leases. If a tenant with a
below-market rent renewal does not renew, any remaining unamortized amount will be taken into income at that time.

Capitalized above-market ground lease values are amortized as a reduction of property operating expense over the remaining
terms of the respective leases. Capitalized below-market ground lease values are amortized as an increase to property operating
expense over the remaining terms of the respective leases and expected below-market renewal option periods.

Derivative Instruments

The Company may use derivative financial instruments to hedge all or a portion of the interest rate risk associated with its
borrowings. Certain of the techniques used to hedge exposure to interest rate fluctuations may also be used to protect against
declines in the market value of assets that result from general trends in debt markets. The principal objective of such agreements
is to minimize the risks and costs associated with the Company’s operating and financial structure as well as to hedge specific
anticipated transactions.

The Company records all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of
derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative, whether the Company has elected to designate a derivative in a hedging
relationship and apply hedge accounting and whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge
accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or
firm commitment attributable to a particular risk, such as interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges. Derivatives
designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted
transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. Derivatives may also be designated as hedges of the foreign currency exposure of a
net investment in a foreign operation. Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss
recognition on the hedging instrument with the recognition of the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are
attributable to the hedged risk in a fair value hedge or the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow
hedge. The Company may enter into derivative contracts that are intended to economically hedge certain of its risk, even though
hedge accounting does not apply, or the Company elects not to apply hedge accounting.

The accounting for subsequent changes in the fair value of these derivatives depends on whether each has been designated
and qualifies for hedge accounting treatment. If the Company elects not to apply hedge accounting treatment, any change in the
fair value of these derivative instruments is recognized immediately in gains (losses) on derivative instruments in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Prior to the adoption of ASU 2017-12 on January 1,
2019 if the derivative is designated and qualifies for hedge accounting treatment, the change in the estimated fair value of the
derivative is recorded in other comprehensive loss to the extent that it is effective, with any ineffective portion of a derivative’s
change in fair value immediately recognized in earnings. After the adoption of ASU 2017-12, if the derivative qualifies for hedge
accounting, all of the change in value is recorded in other comprehensive loss.
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Non-controlling Interests

The non-controlling interests represent the portion of the common and preferred equity in the OP that is not owned by the
Company as well as certain investment arrangements with other unaffiliated third parties whereby such investors receive an
ownership interest in certain of the Company’s property-owning subsidiaries and are entitled to receive a proportionate share of
the net operating cash flow derived from the subsidiaries’ property. Non-controlling interests are presented as a separate
component of equity on the consolidated balance sheets and presented as net loss attributable to non-controlling interests on the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Non-controlling interests are allocated a share of net income or
loss based on their share of equity ownership, including any preferential amounts. See Note 13 — Non-Controlling Interests for
additional information.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in bank accounts as well as investments in highly liquid money market funds with
original maturities of three months or less.

The Company deposits cash with high quality financial institutions. These deposits are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Company (“FDIC”) up to an insurance limit. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had deposits of $21.7
million and $46.4 million, of which $11.9 million and $34.2 million, respectively, were in excess of the amount insured by the
FDIC. Although the Company bears risk to amounts in excess of those insured by the FDIC, it does not anticipate any losses as a
result.

Deferred Costs

Deferred costs, net, consists of deferred financing costs related to the Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities (as defined in Note
5 — Credit Facilities), and deferred leasing costs. Deferred financing costs relating to mortgage notes payable (see Note 4 —
Mortgage Notes Payable, Net) are reflected net of the related financing in the mortgage notes payable, net line item of the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

Deferred financing costs associated with the Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities and mortgage notes payable represent
commitment fees, legal fees, and other costs associated with obtaining commitments for financing. These costs are amortized over
the term of the financing agreement using the effective interest method for the Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities and using the
effective interest method over the expected term for the mortgage notes payable.

Unamortized deferred financing costs are expensed if the associated debt is refinanced or paid down before maturity. Costs
incurred in seeking financial transactions that do not close are expensed in the period in which it is determined that the financing
will not close.

Deferred leasing costs, consisting primarily of lease commissions and professional fees incurred in connection with new
leases, are deferred and amortized over the term of the lease.

Equity-Based Compensation

The Company has a stock-based incentive award program for its directors, which is accounted for under the guidance of
share- based payments. The cost of services received in exchange for these stock awards is measured at the grant date fair value of
the award and the expense for such awards is included in general and administrative expenses and is recognized over the service
period (i.e., vesting) required or when the requirements for exercise of the award have been met (see Note /1 — Equity-Based
Compensation).

Income Taxes

The Company elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”),
commencing with the taxable year ended December 31, 2013. If the Company continues to qualify for taxation as a REIT, it
generally will not be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax to the extent it distributes all of its REIT taxable income (which
does not equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP) to its stockholders. REITs are subject to a number of
organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement that the Company distribute annually at least 90% of the
Company’s REIT taxable income to the Company’s stockholders.
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If the Company fails to continue to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year and does not qualify for certain statutory relief
provisions, the Company will be subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes at regular corporate rates beginning with the
year in which it fails to qualify and may be precluded from being able to elect to be treated as a REIT for the Company’s four
subsequent taxable years. The Company had no REIT taxable income requiring distribution to its stockholders for each of the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. Accordingly, no provision for U.S. federal or state income taxes related to such
REIT taxable income was recorded in the Company’s financial statements. Even if the Company continues to qualify as a REIT, it
may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its income and property, and U.S. federal income and excise taxes on its
undistributed income.

Certain limitations are imposed on REITs with respect to the ownership and operation of seniors housing properties.
Generally, to qualify as a REIT, the Company cannot directly or indirectly operate seniors housing properties. Instead, such
facilities may be either leased to a third-party operator or leased to a TRS and operated by a third party on behalf of the TRS.
Accordingly, the Company has formed a TRS that is wholly-owned by the OP to lease its SHOPs and the TRS has entered into
management contracts with unaffiliated third-party operators to operate the facilities on its behalf.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company owned 44 seniors housing properties which are leased and operated through its TRS.
The TRS is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the OP. A TRS is subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes. The Company
records net deferred tax assets to the extent the Company believes these assets will more likely than not be realized. In making
such determination, the Company considers all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing
taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies (including modifying intercompany leases
with the TRS) and recent financial operations. In the event the Company determines that it would not be able to realize the
deferred income tax assets in the future in excess of the net recorded amount, the Company establishes a valuation allowance
which offsets the previously recognized income tax asset. Deferred income taxes result from temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of the TRS’s assets and liabilities used for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax
purposes as well as net operating loss carryforwards. Significant components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities as of
December 31, 2024 consisted of deferred rent and net operating loss carryforwards. During the year ended December 31, 2023,
the Company modified 26 intercompany leases with the TRS which reduced intercompany rent.

Because of the TRS’ historical operating losses and the adverse economic impacts from increases in the rate of inflation in
recent years on the results of operations of the Company’s SHOP assets, the Company is not able to conclude that it is more likely
than not it will realize the future benefit of its deferred tax assets; thus the Company has provided a 100% valuation allowance of
$10.5 million and $8.1 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. If and when the Company believes it is more
likely than not that it will recover its deferred tax assets, the Company will reverse the valuation allowance as an income tax
benefit in its consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s consolidated TRS had net
operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately $40.5 million (of which $6.8 million were incurred
prior to January 1, 2018). Carryforwards from losses incurred prior to January 1, 2018, if unused, these will begin to expire in
2036. For net operating losses incurred subsequent to December 31, 2017, there is no expiration date. As of December 31, 2024,
the Company had a deferred tax asset of $10.5 million with a full valuation allowance.

The following table details the composition of the Company’s tax (expense) benefit for the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 and 2022, which includes U.S. federal and state income taxes incurred by the Company’s TRS. The Company estimated its
income tax (expense) benefit relating to its TRS using a combined federal and state rate of approximately 0.0% for the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. These income taxes are reflected in income tax (expense) benefit on the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
(In thousands) Current Deferred Current Deferred Current Deferred
Federal (expense) benefit $ — 3 1,936 § — 3 1,023 § — 3 2,145
State (expense) benefit (262) 461 (303) 142 (201) 604
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance — (2,397) — (1,165) — (2,749)
Total income tax benefit (expense) $ (262) $ — S 303) $ — $ (20D $ —

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had no material uncertain income tax positions. Generally, tax years prior
to 2021 remain open to examination due to net operating losses carry forwards.
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Per Share Data

Net loss per basic share of common stock is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of shares
(retroactively adjusted for the stock dividends and the Reverse Stock Split) of common stock issued and outstanding during such
period. Diluted net loss per share of common stock considers the effect of potentially dilutive shares of common stock outstanding
during the period.

CARES Act Grants

On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was signed into law and it provides funding to Medicare providers in order to provide
financial relief during the COVID-19 pandemic. Funds provided under the program were to be used for the preparation,
prevention and medical response to COVID-19, and were designated to reimburse providers for healthcare related expenses and
lost revenues attributable to COVID-19. The Company did not receive any funds through the CARES Act during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company received $4.5 million in funding from
CARES Act grants. For accounting purposes, the CARES Act funds are treated as a grant contribution from the government. The
funding the Company received was recognized as a reduction of property operating and maintenance expenses in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations to offset the negative impacts of COVID-19.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Adopted

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting —
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which requires incremental disclosures related to a public entity’s reportable
segments. Required disclosures include, on an annual and interim basis, significant segment expenses that are regularly provided
to the chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”) and included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss, an amount
for other segment items (which is the difference between segment revenue less segment expenses and less segment profit or loss)
and a description of its composition, the title and position of the CODM, and an explanation of how the CODM uses the reported
measure(s) of segment profit or loss in assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources. The standard also
permits disclosure of more than one measure of segment profit. The ASU should be adopted retrospectively unless it is
impracticable to do so. The Company adopted the annual requirements under ASU 2023-07 on January 1, 2024 and plans to adopt
interim requirements under ASU 2023-07. The Company has included financial statement disclosures in accordance with ASU
2023-07 within Note 15 — Segment Reporting.

Not yet Adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2023-09, Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures
(“ASU 2023-09”), which requires public entities on an annual basis to (1) disclose specific categories in the rate reconciliation
and (2) provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold (if the effect of those reconciling
items is equal to or greater than five percent of the amount computed by multiplying pretax income or loss by the applicable
statutory income tax rate). ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2025. The Company is
evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2023-09 on its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense
Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (“ASU 2024-03”). ASU 2024-03
requires public business entities (PBEs) to provide disaggregated disclosure in tabular format in the notes to financial statements
of specific expenses, including but not limited to: (i) employee compensation, (ii) depreciation, and (iii) intangible asset
amortization. In January 2025, the FASB issued ASU No. 2025-01, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—
Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Clarifying the Effective Date, to clarify that all public business entities
are required to adopt the guidance in annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods beginning
after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact these ASUs will have on its
disclosures.
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Note 3 — Real Estate Investments, Net
Property Acquisitions

The Company invests in healthcare-related facilities, primarily OMFs and SHOPs, which expand and diversify its portfolio
and revenue base. The Company owned 193 properties (including one land parcel) as of December 31, 2024. During the year
ended December 31, 2024, the Company acquired four single-tenant OMFs for an aggregate contract purchase price of
$12.6 million. All acquisitions in 2024, 2023 and 2022 were considered asset acquisitions for accounting purposes.

The following table presents the allocation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed during the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Real estate investments, at cost:
Land $ 1,266 $ 3,373
Buildings, fixtures and improvements 9,302 27,069
Total tangible assets 10,568 30,442
Acquired intangibles:
In-place leases and other intangible assets M 2,388 5,057
Market lease and other intangible assets 150 33
Market lease liabilities " — (271)
Total intangible assets and liabilities 2,538 4,819
Mortgage notes payable assumed, net (7,500) —
Cash paid for real estate investments, including acquisitions $ 5,606 $ 35,261
Number of properties purchased 4 7

(1) Weighted-average remaining amortization periods for in-place leases and above-market leases acquired were both 13.6 years as of December 31, 2024.
Weighted-average remaining amortization periods for in-place leases, above-market and below market leases acquired were 8.7 years, 11.3 years and 9.3
years, respectively, as of December 31, 2023.

Significant Tenants

As of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company did not have any tenants (including for this purpose, all affiliates of
such tenants) whose annualized rental income on a straight-line basis represented 10% or greater of total annualized rental income
on a straight-line basis for the portfolio. The following table lists the states where the Company had concentrations of properties
where annualized rental income on a straight-line basis represented 10% or more of consolidated annualized rental income on a
straight-line basis for all properties as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,

State 2024 2023 2022
Florida 21.2% 19.9% 19.2%
Pennsylvania 11.6% 10.6% *
Georgia 10.4% e kd

*  Not greater than 10%.
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Intangible Assets and Liabilities

Acquired intangible assets and liabilities consisted of the following as of the periods presented:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying

(In thousands) Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Intangible assets:
In-place leases $ 260,534 $ 214,961 $ 45,573 $ 269,363 $ 210,172 $ 59,191
Market lease assets 14,446 12,819 1,627 14,465 12,548 1,917
Other intangible assets 9,467 1,293 8,174 9,467 1,325 8,142

Total acquired intangible assets $ 284,447 $ 229,073 $ 55,374 $ 293,295 $ 224,045 $ 69,250
Intangible liabilities: -
Market lease liabilities $ 22,789 § 16,664 $ 6,125 $ 23,520 $ 15,355 $ 8,165

The following table discloses amounts recognized within the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss
related to amortization of in-place leases and other intangible assets, amortization and accretion of above- and below-market lease
assets and liabilities, net and the amortization of above-and below-market ground leases, for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Amortization of in-place leases and other intangible assets ") $ 12,258 $ 13,080 $ 15,076
Accretion of above-and below-market leases, net $ (1,420) $ (1,050) $ (795)
Amortization of above-and below-market ground leases, net ) $ 176§ 159 § 159

(1) Reflected within depreciation and amortization expense.
(2) Reflected within revenue from tenants.
(3) Reflected within property operating and maintenance expense.

The following table provides the projected amortization and adjustments to revenue from tenants for the next five years:

(In thousands) 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
In-place lease assets $ 9,589 $ 8,100 $ 5,048 § 3,730 $ 3,238
Other intangible assets 10 10 10 10 10
Total to be added to amortization expense $ 9,599 § 8,110 § 5,058 § 3,740 § 3,248
Above-market lease assets $ 364) $ (330) $ (243) $ (205) $ (112)
Below-market lease liabilities 1,134 980 664 600 557
Total to be added to revenue from tenants $ 770 $ 650 $ 421§ 395 $ 445
Dispositions

Year Ended December 31, 2024

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company disposed of two SHOPs, 12 OMFs and one land parcel for an
aggregate contract sales price of $118.1 million, which resulted in an aggregate gain on sale of $9.3 million. The Company had
previously recorded $2.1 million of impairment charges on the one of the two SHOP properties in the year ended December 31,
2023.

Subsequent to the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Subsequent to December 31, 2024, the Company disposed of 11 OMFs for an aggregate contract sales price of
$114.4 million and used a portion of the net proceeds to fully repay the outstanding balance on the Promissory Note (including
any unpaid interest at the time of payment).

Year Ended December 31, 2023

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company disposed of four SHOPs and one OMF for an aggregate contract
sales price of $13.8 million, which resulted in an aggregate loss on sale of $0.3 million. The Company had previously recorded
$15.1 million of impairment charges on two of the four disposed SHOP properties in the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Year Ended December 31, 2022

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company disposed of four SHOPs for an aggregate contract sales price of
$12.4 million, which resulted in an aggregate loss on sale of $0.1 million. The Company had previously recorded $34.0 million of
impairment charges on these properties in the year ended December 31, 2021.

Assets Held for Sale

When assets are identified by management as held for sale, the Company reflects them separately on its balance sheet and
stops recognizing depreciation and amortization expense on the identified assets and estimates the sales price, net of costs to sell,
of those assets. If the carrying amount of the assets classified as held for sale exceeds the estimated net sales price, the Company
records an impairment charge equal to the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the Company’s estimate of
the net sales price of the assets. For held-for-sale properties, the Company predominately uses the contract sales price as fair
market value.

There were no assets held for sale as of December 31, 2024 or 2023.
Assets Held for Use

When circumstances indicate the carrying value of a property classified as held for use may not be recoverable, the Company
reviews the property for impairment. For the Company, the most common triggering events are (i) concerns regarding the tenant
(i.e., credit or expirations) in the Company’s single-tenant properties or significant vacancy in the Company’s multi-tenant
properties and (ii) changes to the Company’s expected holding period as a result of business decisions or non-recourse debt
maturities. If a triggering event is identified, the Company considers the projected cash flows due to various performance
indicators, and where appropriate, the Company evaluates the impact on its ability to recover the carrying value of the properties
based on the expected cash flows on an undiscounted basis over its intended holding period. The Company makes certain
assumptions in this approach including, among others, the market and economic conditions, expected cash flow projections,
intended holding periods and assessments of terminal values. Where more than one possible scenario exists, the Company uses a
probability weighted approach in estimating cash flows. As these factors are difficult to predict and are subject to future events
that may alter management’s assumptions, the future cash flows estimated by management in its impairment analysis may not be
achieved, and actual losses or impairment may be realized in the future. If the undiscounted cash flows over the expected hold
period are less than the carrying value, the Company reflects an impairment charge to write the asset down to its fair value.

Property Damage and Insurance Recoveries

During the year ended December 31, 2024, one OMF property sustained fire damages estimated at $2.9 million, which the
Company recovered through its property insurance policy.
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Impairment Charges

The following table presents impairment charges by segment recorded during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and

2022:
Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022
OMF Segment:
Ilinois skilled nursing facilities " © $ — S — 3 10,644
Acuity Specialty Hospital Mesa ® 8,829 — —
Sassafras OMF ® (¢ — — 1,844
Sun City OMF @ © 2,409 2,554 —
Total OMF impairment charges 11,238 2,554 12,488
SHOP Segment:
Various held for use SHOPs ©(© 13,643 2,122 15,142
Total SHOP impairment charges 13,643 2,122 15,142
Total impairment charges $ 24,881 $ 4,676 $ 27,630
(1) These seven properties were impaired after the Company received an offer by the tenant to purchase all seven properties, which caused the Company to
reassess its expected holding period for these properties. As of December 31, 2024, these properties were disposed.
(2) This property was impaired to reduce its carrying value to its contractual sales price of $6.0 million as determined by a purchase and sale agreement
executed in 2024. The property was subsequently disposed in January 2025.
(3) The Company began marketing this property for sale in the fourth quarter of 2022 and this property was disposed in the year ended December 31, 2023.
(4) This property has been actively marketed for sale since September 2021. As of December 31, 2024, this property was not disposed.
(5) For the year ended December 31, 2024, includes two properties actively marketed for sale and one additional property that was disposed in 2024. Of the two
properties, one property was impaired in the year ended December 31, 2023 and one property was impaired in year ended December 31, 2022.
(6) The two remaining properties were impaired to reduce their carrying values to their estimated fair values, respectively, as determined by the Assets Held for

Use approach described above.
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Note 4 — Mortgage Notes Payable, Net
The following table reflects the Company’s mortgage notes payable as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Outstanding Loan Amount as Effective Interest Rate

of December 31, as of December 31,
Encumbered Interest
Portfolio Properties 2024 2023 2024 2023 Rate Maturity
(In thousands) (In thousands)

Fox Ridge Bryant - Bryant, AR 1 6,471 6,647 3.98 % 3.98% Fixed May 2047
Fox Ridge Chenal - Little Rock, AR 1 14,833 15,242 2.95 % 2.95% Fixed May 2049
Fox Ridge North Little Rock - North Little

Rock, AR 1 9,204 9,458 2.95 % 2.95% Fixed May 2049
Capital One OMF Loan 40 363,957 378,500 3.58 % 3.71% Fixed @ Dec. 2026
Multi-Property CMBS Loan 20 116,037 116,037 4.60 % 4.60% Fixed May 2028
Shiloh - Tllinois — — 12,745 4.34 % 4.34% Fixed Jan. 2025
BMO CMBS 8 37,472 42,750 2.89 % 2.89% Fixed Dec. 2031
Barclays OMF Loan 60 234,173 240,000 6.45 % 6.45% Fixed June 2033
BMO CPC Mortgage 4 7,500 — 6.84 % —% Fixed March 2034
Gross mortgage notes payable 135 789,647 821,379 4.56 % 4.58%
Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated

amortization (9,304) (11,111)
Mortgage premiums and discounts, net (1,183) (1,273)
Mortgage notes payable, net $ 779,160 $ 808,995

(1) Calculated on a weighted average basis for all mortgages outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

(2) Variable rate loan, based on daily SOFR, which is fixed as a result of entering into “pay-fixed” interest rate swap agreements. The Company allocated
$378.5 million of its “pay-fixed” interest rate swaps to this mortgage consistently as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. In late December 2024, the Company
proactively executed a minor amendment to the hedged notional to match the expected prospective loan balance of $364.0 million. This amendment became
effective in January 2025.

(3) Deferred financing costs represent commitment fees, legal fees and other costs associated with obtaining financing. These costs are amortized to interest
expense over the terms of the respective financing agreements using the effective interest method. Unamortized deferred financing costs are generally
expensed when the associated debt is refinanced or repaid before maturity. Costs incurred in seeking financial transactions that do not close are expensed in
the period in which it is determined that the financing will not close.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had pledged $1.3 billion in real estate investments, at cost, as collateral for its
$789.6 million of gross mortgage notes payable. This real estate is not available to satisfy other debts and obligations unless first
satisfying the mortgage notes payable secured by these properties. The Company makes payments of principal and interest, or
interest only, depending upon the specific requirements of each mortgage note, on a monthly basis.

Some of the Company’s mortgage note agreements require compliance with certain property-level financial covenants
including debt service coverage ratios. As of December 31, 2024, the Company was in compliance with these financial covenants.

See Note 5 — Credit Facilities - Future Principal Payments for a schedule of principal payment requirements of the
Company’s mortgage notes and credit facilities.

Barclays OMF Loan

On May 24, 2023, the Company, through certain subsidiaries of the OP, entered into a non-recourse loan agreement (the
“Barclays OMF Loan Agreement”), with (i) Barclays Capital Real Estate Inc., (ii) Société Générale Financial Corporation and
(ii1) KeyBank National Association (each individually, a “Lender,” and collectively, the “Lenders™), in the aggregate amount of
$240.0 million (the “Barclays OMF Loan”). In connection with the Barclays OMF Loan Agreement, the OP entered into a
guaranty agreement and an environmental indemnity agreement for the benefit of the Lenders.

The Barclays OMF Loan is secured by, among other things, first priority mortgages on the Company’s interests in 60 OMFs
with an aggregate gross asset value of $406.3 million. The Barclays OMF Loan has a 10-year term and is interest-only at a fixed
rate of 6.453% per year. Under the Barclays OMF Loan Agreement, the Company is required to make interest-only payments on a
monthly basis with the principal balance due on the maturity date of June 6, 2033. The Barclays OMF Loan Agreement requires
the OP to comply with certain covenants, including, maintaining combined cash and cash equivalents totaling at least
$12.5 million at all times.
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Subject to certain conditions, the Company may prepay the Barclays OMF Loan in whole or in part at any time after one year
from closing with a pre-payment premium equal to the Yield Maintenance Program (as defined in the Barclays OMF Loan
Agreement) by providing the lenders thereunder with prior written notice of prepayment no less than thirty days before
prepayment, subject to a pre-payment premium equal to the Yield Maintenance Premium (as defined in the Barclays OMF Loan
Agreement). Following the earlier of May 24, 2026 and the date that is two years after the securitization of the Barclays OMF
Loan, the Company may prepay the Barclays OMF Loan through defeasance, Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Barclays OMF
Loan may be prepaid at par during the final six months of the term. The Company paid $7.8 million in deferred financing costs
related to the Barclays OMF Loan, which is amortized into interest expense over the term of the loan.

At the closing of the Barclays OMF Loan, the Company applied $194.8 million of the Barclays OMF Loan proceeds to repay
and terminate the Company’s then-existing credit facility (the “Prior Credit Facility”). The Company also terminated its interest
rate swap contracts that formerly hedged interest rate changes under the Prior Credit Facility (see Note 7 — Derivatives and
Hedging Activities for additional information). The remaining proceeds of approximately $39.0 million (after the payment of
Barclays OMF Loan closing costs and reimbursement of deposits) were used for general corporate purposes, subject to the terms
of the Barclays OMF Loan Agreement. Additionally, by terminating the Prior Credit Facility, the Company is no longer subject to
certain restrictive covenants previously imposed by the Prior Credit Facility (see Note 5 — Credit Facilities for additional
information).

BMO OMF Loan

On November 15, 2021, the Company entered into a $42.8 million loan agreement (the “BMO OMF Loan”) with Bank of
Montreal (“BMO”).

The BMO OMEF Loan requires monthly interest-only payments, with the principal balance due on the maturity date. The
BMO OMF Loan permits BMO to securitize the entire BMO OMF Loan or any portion thereof.

At the closing of the BMO OMF Loan, the net proceeds after accrued interest and closing costs were used to (i) repay
approximately $37.0 million of indebtedness under the Prior Credit Facility, under which nine of the properties were included as
part of the borrowing base prior to the BMO OMF Loan, and (ii) fund approximately $2.5 million in deposits required to be made
at closing into reserve accounts required under the loan agreement. The remaining $2.4 million net proceeds available to the
Company were used for general corporate purposes and acquisitions.

BMO CPC Mortgage

On February 22, 2024, the Company entered into the BMO CPC Mortgage Loan in connection with a four-property
acquisition also completed in the year ended December 31, 2024. The mortgage has a principal balance of $7.5 million, bears
interest at an annual fixed rate of 6.84% and matures in February 2034 with no principal amounts due until that time.
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Note 5 — Credit Facilities
The Company had the following credit facilities outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Outstanding Facility Amount Effective Interest Rate as of
as of December 31, December 31,

Encumbered Interest
Credit Facility Properties 2024 2023 2024 2023 Rate Maturity

(In thousands)  (In thousands)

Fannie Mae Master Credit

Facilities:
Capital One Facility 11 2)$ 203,405 $ 206,944 7.19 % 7.86 % Variable (6) Nov. 2026
KeyBank Facility 10 3) 137,103 139,334 7.24 % 791 % Variable (6) Nov. 2026
Total Fannie Mae Master
Credit Facilities 21 $ 340,508 $ 346,278

Other Facilities:
OMF Warehouse Facility 7 4) 21,708 14,748 7.55 % 8.36 % Variable (6) Dec. 2026

Total Credit Facilities 28 $ 362,216 $ 361,026 7.23 % (5) 7.90 % (5)

(1) Encumbered properties are as of December 31, 2024.

(2) Secured by first-priority mortgages on 11 of the Company’s SHOPs as of December 31, 2024 with an aggregate carrying value of $354.1 million.
(3) Secured by first-priority mortgages on 10 of the Company’s SHOPs as of December 31, 2024 with an aggregate carrying value of $264.9 million.
(4) Secured by first-priority mortgages on seven of the Company’s OMFs as of December 31, 2024 with an aggregate carrying value of $32.6 million.
(5) Calculated on a weighted average basis for all credit facilities outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

(6) The effective rates above only include the impact of designated hedging instruments. The Company also has eight active non-designated interest rate cap
agreements with an aggregate notional amount of $369.2 million which limits 30-day SOFR to 3.50%. The Company did not designate these derivatives as
hedges and accordingly, the changes in value and any cash received from these derivatives are presented within gain (loss) on derivative instruments on the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss (see discussion below and Note 7 — Derivatives and Hedging Activities for additional details).
Inclusive of the impact of these non-designated derivatives, the economic interest rates on the Capital One Fannie Mae Facility, KeyBank Fannie Mae
Facility and OMF Warehouse Facility were 5.89%, 5.93% and 6.50%, respectively, as of December 31, 2024 and 5.89%, 5.95% and 6.50%, respectively, as
of December 31, 2023
As of December 31, 2024, the carrying value of the Company’s real estate investments, at cost was $2.5 billion, with $1.3

billion of this amount pledged as collateral for mortgage notes payable, $619.0 million of this amount pledged to secure advances

under the Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities and $32.6 million of this amount pledged to secure advances under the OMF

Warehouse Facility. All of the real estate assets pledged to secure debt or comprising the borrowing base of the relevant facilities

are not available to satisfy other debts and obligations, or to serve as collateral with respect to new indebtedness, unless, as

applicable, the existing indebtedness associated with such real estate assets is satisfied or the asset is removed from the borrowing
base of the relevant facilities, which would impact availability thereunder.

Unencumbered real estate investments, at cost as of December 31, 2024 was $533.1 million, although there can be no
assurance as to the amount of liquidity the Company would be able to generate from using these unencumbered assets as
collateral for mortgage loans, adding them to the borrowing base of the Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities or OMF Warehouse
Facility, or other future financings.

Prior Credit Facility

The Company’s prior credit facility (the “Prior Credit Facility”) consisted of two components, a revolving credit facility and
a term loan, which were interest-only and would have matured on March 13, 2024. The Prior Credit Facility was fully repaid in
May 2023 with net proceeds provided by the Barclays OMF Loan (see Note 4 — Mortgage Notes Payable, Net for details) and the
Prior Credit Facility was terminated. At termination, the Company wrote off the remaining deferred financing costs associated
with the Prior Credit Facility of $2.6 million, which is included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities

On October 31, 2016, the Company, through wholly-owned subsidiaries of the OP, entered into a master credit facility
agreement relating to a secured credit facility with KeyBank (the “KeyBank Facility’) and a master credit facility agreement with
Capital One for a secured credit facility with Capital One Multifamily Finance LLC, an affiliate of Capital One (the “Capital One
Facility” and, together with the KeyBank Facility, the “Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities”). Advances made under these
agreements were assigned by Capital One and KeyBank to Fannie Mae at closing for inclusion in Fannie Mae’s Multifamily MBS
program.

As of December 31, 2024, $340.5 million was outstanding under the Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities. The Company may
request future advances under the Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities by adding eligible properties to the collateral pool subject
to customary conditions, including satisfaction of minimum debt service coverage and maximum loan-to-value tests. Until June
30, 2023, borrowings under the Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities bore annual interest at a rate that varied on a monthly basis
and was equal to the sum of the current LIBOR for one month U.S. dollar-denominated deposits and a spread (2.41% and 2.46%
for the Capital One Facility and the KeyBank Facility, respectively). Effective July 1, 2023, the Fannie Mae Master Credit
Facilities automatically transitioned to SOFR-based borrowings with monthly interest equal to the sum of the current SOFR for
one-month denominated deposits and a spread of (2.41% and 2.46% for the Capital One Facility and the KeyBank Facility,
respectively). The Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities mature on November 1, 2026.

In the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company provided cash deposits totaling $11.8 million to Fannie Mae because the
debt service coverage ratios of the underlying properties of each facility were below the minimum required amounts per the debt
agreements. The Company provided an additional deposit of $0.3 million during the year December 31, 2024, bringing the total
deposits to $12.1 million as of December 31, 2024. These deposits are recorded as restricted cash on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet and are pledged as additional collateral for the Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities. This deposit will be refunded
upon the earlier of the Company’s achievement of a debt service coverage ratio above the minimum required amount of 1.40 or
the maturity of the Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities.

OMF Warehouse Facility

On December 22, 2023, the Company, through wholly-owned subsidiaries of the OP, entered into a loan agreement with
Capital One (the “OMF Warehouse Facility”) to provide up to $50.0 million of variable-rate financing.

As of December 31, 2024, $21.7 million was outstanding under the OMF Warehouse Facility. The Company may request
future advances under the OMF Warehouse Facility by adding eligible OMFs to the collateral pool subject to customary
conditions, including satisfaction of minimum debt service coverage and maximum loan-to-value tests. Borrowings under the
OMF Warehouse Facility bear interest at a monthly rate equal to the sum of the current SOFR for one-month denominated
deposits and a spread of 3.0%. Interest payments are due monthly, with no principal payments due until maturity in December
2026.

Non-Designated Interest Rate Caps

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had eight SOFR-based interest rate cap agreements with an aggregate current
effective notional amount of $369.2 million which caps SOFR at 3.50% with terms through January 2027. The Company does not
apply hedge accounting to these agreements and changes in value as well as any cash received are presented within (loss) gain on
non-designated derivatives in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. See Note 7 —
Derivatives and Hedging Activities for additional information regarding the Company’s derivatives.

In connection with the Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities, the Company was required to enter into interest rate cap
agreements, which the Company periodically renews upon their expiration. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Company paid total premiums of $1.5 million to renew one interest rate cap with an aggregate notional amount of $58.1 million
which matured during the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company also paid a premium of $0.3 million for a new interest
rate cap with a notional amount of $7.0 million which matures in January 2027.
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Future Principal Payments

The following table summarizes the scheduled aggregate principal payments for the five years subsequent to December 31,
2024 and thereafter, on all of the Company’s outstanding debt (mortgage notes payable and credit facilities):

Future Principal Payments

Mortgage Notes

(In thousands) Payable Credit Facilities Total

2025 $ 865 § 5,769 $ 6,634
2026 364,850 356,447 721,297
2027 922 — 922
2028 116,989 — 116,989
2029 982 — 982
Thereafter 305,039 — 305,039
Total $ 789,647 $ 362,216 § 1,151,863

The Company’s existing principal demands for cash are to fund acquisitions, capital expenditures, the payment of its
operating and administrative expenses, debt service obligations (including principal repayment), the repayment of the Promissory
Note (which was repaid in full in January 2025) and distributions to holders of its Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred
Stock. The Company closely monitors its current and anticipated liquidity position relative to its current and anticipated demands
for cash and believes that it has sufficient current liquidity to meet its financial obligations for at least the next twelve months. The
Company expects to fund its future short-term operating liquidity requirements, including distributions to holders of Series A
Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock, through a combination of current cash on hand, net cash provided by its operating
activities, potential future advances under its Fannie Mae Master Credit Facilities and OMF Warehouse Facility, net cash
provided by its property dispositions and potential new financings utilizing certain of its currently unencumbered properties.

Note 6 — Fair Value of Financial Instruments

GAAP establishes a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on the observability of inputs used in measuring asset and
liabilities at fair value. GAAP establishes market-based or observable inputs as the preferred source of values, followed by
valuation models using management assumptions in the absence of market inputs. The three levels of the hierarchy are described
below:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access
at the measurement date.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset and liability or can be
corroborated with observable market data for substantially the entire contractual term of the asset or liability.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that reflect the entity’s own assumptions that market participants would use in the pricing of
the asset or liability and are consequently not based on market activity, but rather through particular valuation
techniques.

The determination of where an asset or liability falls in the hierarchy requires significant judgment and considers factors
specific to the asset or liability. In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from
different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the entire fair value measurement
falls is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company evaluates its
hierarchy disclosures each quarter and depending on various factors, it is possible that an asset or liability may be classified
differently from quarter to quarter. However, the Company expects that changes in classifications between levels will be rare.

Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
Derivative Instruments

Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with those derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of
current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by the Company and its counterparties. However, as of December 31,
2024 and 2023, the Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall
valuation of its derivative positions and has determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall
valuation of the Company’s derivatives. As a result, the Company has determined that its derivative valuations in their entirety are
classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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The valuation of derivative instruments is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of
each derivative. This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the derivatives, including the period to maturity, as well as
observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves and implied volatilities. In addition, credit valuation adjustments
are incorporated into the fair values to account for the Company’s potential nonperformance risk and the performance risk of the
counterparties.

The following table presents information about the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which those instruments fall.

Quoted Prices in Active Significant Significant
Markets Other Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs

(In thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
December 31, 2024

Derivative assets, at fair value (non-designated) $ — S 2,554 $ — 2,554
Derivative assets, at fair value (designated) — 16,652 — 16,652
Total $ — 8 19,206  § — 19,206
December 31, 2023

Derivative assets, at fair value (non-designated) $ — 6,111 $ — 3 6,111
Derivative assets, at fair value (designated) 22,259 22,259
Total $ — 3 28,370 § — $ 28,370

A review of the fair value hierarchy classification is conducted on a quarterly basis. Changes in the type of inputs may result
in a reclassification for certain assets. There has been no transfer into or out of Level 3 financial instruments during the periods
presented.

Real Estate Investments Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis
Real Estate Investments Held-for-Use

The Company has impaired real estate investments held-for-use, which are carried at fair value on a non-recurring basis on
the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company owned 20 held-for-use properties (16 OMFs and four SHOPs) for which the
Company had reconsidered their expected holding periods, all of which are being marketed for sale. As a result, the Company
evaluated the impact on its ability to recover the carrying values of the respective properties and has previously recorded
impairment charges on one property to reduce the carrying value to its estimated fair value.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company owned 12 held-for-use properties (eight OMFs, three SHOPs and one land parcel)
for which the Company has reconsidered its expected holding periods, of which four properties (one OMF and two SHOPs and
one land parcel) are being marketed for sale.

As a result, the Company evaluated the impact on its ability to recover the carrying values of the properties noted above and
recorded impairment charges to write these properties down to their estimated fair values. The Company had also previously
written down other held-for-use properties which have subsequently been sold.

See Note 3 — Real Estate investments, Net - “Assets Held for Use and Related Impairments” for additional details.
Real Estate Investments Held-for-Sale

Real estate investments held-for-sale are carried at net realizable value on a non-recurring basis and are generally classified in
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The Company did not have any real estate investments classified as held-for-sale as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value

The Company is required to disclose the fair value of financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate that value.
The fair values of short-term financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, straight-line rent receivable,
net, prepaid expenses and other assets, deferred costs, net, accounts payable and accrued expenses, deferred rent and distributions
payable approximate their carrying value on the consolidated balance sheets due to their short-term nature.
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The fair values of the Company’s remaining financial instruments that are not reported at fair value on the consolidated
balance sheets are reported below:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
(In thousands) Level Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value
Gross mortgage notes payable and mortgage premium
and discounts, net 3 $ 788,464 $ 747,542 $ 820,106 $ 787,665
Credit facilities 3 $ 362,216 $ 362,974 § 361,026 $ 361,792
Total Debt 3 $ 1,150,680 § 1,110,516 § 1,181,132 § 1,149,457

The fair value of the mortgage notes payable is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis, based on the Company’s
experience with similar types of borrowing arrangements, excluding the value of derivatives.

Note 7 — Derivatives and Hedging Activities

Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives

The Company may use derivative financial instruments, including interest rate swaps, caps, collars, options, floors and other
interest rate derivative contracts, to hedge all or a portion of the interest rate risk associated with its borrowings.

The principal objective of such arrangements is to minimize the risks and/or costs associated with the Company’s operating
and financial structure as well as to hedge specific anticipated transactions. Additionally, in using interest rate derivatives, the
Company aims to add stability to interest expense and to manage its exposure to interest rate movements. The Company does not
intend to utilize derivatives for speculative purposes or purposes other than interest rate risk management. The use of derivative
financial instruments carries certain risks, including the risk that the counterparties to these contractual arrangements are not able
to perform under the agreements. To mitigate this risk, the Company only enters into derivative financial instruments with
counterparties with high credit ratings and with major financial institutions with which the Company, and its affiliates, may also
have other financial relationships. The Company does not anticipate that any of its counterparties will fail to meet their
obligations.

The table below presents the fair value of the Company’s derivative financial instruments as well as their classification on the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

December 31,

(In thousands) Balance Sheet Location 2024 2023

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate “pay-fixed” swaps Derivative assets, at fair value $ 16,652 §$ 22,259

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate caps Derivative assets, at fair value $ 2,554 $ 6,111

Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk

As of both December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had one derivative with a notional value of
$378.5 million, designated as a cash flow hedge of interest rate risk. In late December 2024, the Company proactively executed a
minor amendment to the hedged notional to match the expected prospective loan balance of 364.0 million. This amendment
became effective in January 2025. The Company uses its interest rate swap as part of its interest rate risk management strategy.
Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty in exchange
for fixed-rate payments by the Company over the life of the agreement without exchange of the underlying notional amount.
During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, such derivatives were used to hedge the variable cash flows associated with
variable-rate debt. The remaining interest rate “pay-fixed” swap has a base interest rate of 1.61% and matures December 2026.

The changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges are recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (“AOCI”) and are subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period that the hedged forecasted

transaction affects earnings.
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The table below details the location in the financial statements of the gain (loss) recognized on interest rate derivatives
designated as cash flow hedges for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Amount of gain recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income on interest

rate derivatives $ 8716 $ 5324 $ 50,098
Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income

into earnings as reductions to (increases in) interest expense § 15540 § 18,770 § (1,153)
Total amount of interest expense presented in the consolidated statements of

operations and comprehensive loss $ 69447 $ 66,078 $ 51,740

2023 Swap Terminations

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company terminated two LIBOR-based interest rate swap agreements with an
aggregate notional amount of $50.0 million and six SOFR-based interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate notional amount
of $150.0 million. These borrowings were hedging a portion of the Company’s aggregate SOFR and LIBOR-based borrowings.
The swaps were terminated in asset positions, and the Company received $1.9 million in cash from the LIBOR-based swap
terminations, and $3.5 million in cash from the SOFR-based swap terminations. Because the Company continues to carry
variable-rate borrowings in excess of the notional amounts of the terminated swaps, these amounts were included in AOCI and
will be amortized into earnings as a reduction to interest expense from the termination dates of the swaps through March 2024
(the original term of the swap and the Prior Credit Facility). For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company reclassified
$4.2 million from AOCI as decreases to interest expense. The remaining $1.2 million associated with the 2023 terminated swaps
in AOCI as of December 31, 2023 was reclassified into earnings as a decrease to interest expense through March 2024.

Amounts reported in AOCI related to derivatives will be reclassified to interest expense as interest payments are made on the
Company’s variable-rate debt. During the next twelve months, from January 1, 2025 through December 31, 2025, the Company
estimates that $9.0 million will be reclassified from other comprehensive income as a decrease to interest expense relating to the
“pay-fixed” swaps designated as derivatives.

Non-Designated Derivatives

The Company had the following outstanding interest rate derivatives that were not designated as a hedges in qualifying
hedging relationships as of as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Number of Notional Number of Notional
Interest Rate Derivatives Instruments Amount Instruments Amount
(In thousands) (In thousands)
Interest rate caps ® 8 § 369,218 7 8 364,170

(1) Notional amount represents the currently active interest cap contract and excludes one inactive cap agreements (included in the instrument count) with a
notional amount of $52.6 million as of December 31, 2023, which took effect upon the expiration of a similar cap included above and effectively extended
the term for the same notional amount.

(2) All of the Company’s interest rate cap agreements limit 30-day SOFR to 3.50% with terms through January 2027. Changes in the fair market value of these
non-designated derivatives, as well as any cash received, are presented within gain on non-designated derivatives in the Company’s consolidated statements
of operations and comprehensive loss.

These derivatives are used to manage the Company’s exposure to interest rate movements, but the Company has not elected

to apply hedge accounting. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had entered into eight SOFR-based interest rate caps with a

notional amount of $369.2 million which limit 30-day SOFR borrowings to 3.50% and have varying expiration dates through

January 2027.
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Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2022, both LIBOR and SOFR exceeded 3.50% and the Company began receiving
payments under these interest rate caps. While the Company does not apply hedge accounting for these interest rate caps, they are
economically hedging the Capital One Facility, KeyBank Facility and OMF Warehouse Facility. Changes in the fair value of, and
any cash received from, derivatives not designated as hedges under a qualifying hedging relationship are recorded directly to
earnings and are presented within (loss) gain on non-designated derivatives in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, (loss) gain on non-designated
derivatives were a gain of $1.5 million (including cash received of 6.8 million), a loss of $2.0 million (including cash received of
5.6 million) and a gain of $3.8 million (including cash received of $0.3 million), respectively.

The Company paid premiums of $1.5 million to renew one interest rate cap with an aggregate notional amount of
$58.1 million which matured during the year ended December 31, 2024, and the Company also paid $0.3 million for a new
interest rate cap entered into during the year ended December 31, 2024 for a notional amount of $7.0 million. Three interest rate
caps with a notional amount of $138.5 million mature in July 2025, which represents the next interest rate cap maturity. The
Company is required to maintain an aggregate notional value of its interest rate caps equal to the aggregate principal value of its
Fannie Mae Credit Facilities, and accordingly expects to renew this maturing cap which is actively hedging exposure to SOFR at
a strike price of 3.50%. All of the Company’s LIBOR-based interest rate caps were transitioned to SOFR-based contracts
effective July 1, 2023.

Offsetting Derivatives

The table below presents a gross presentation, the effects of offsetting, and a net presentation of the Company’s derivatives as
of December 31, 2024 and 2023. The net amounts of derivative assets or liabilities can be reconciled to the tabular disclosure of
fair value. The tabular disclosure of fair value provides the location that derivative assets and liabilities are presented on the
consolidated balance sheets.

Gross Amounts Not Offset
in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet

Net Amounts of

Gross Gross Gross Amounts Assets presented
Amounts of Amounts of  Offset in the in the Cash
Recognized Recognized  Consolidated Consolidated Financial Collateral Net
(In thousands) Assets (Liabilities) = Balance Sheet Balance Sheet Instruments Received Amount
December 31, 2024 $ 19,206 — — 3 19,206 — — $19,206
December 31, 2023 $ 28370 — — 3 28,370 — — $28370

Credit-Risk-Related Contingent Features

The Company has agreements in place with each of its derivative counterparties that contain a provision where if the
Company either defaults or is capable of being declared in default on any of its indebtedness, then the Company could also be
declared in default on its derivative obligations.

As of December 31, 2024 there were no derivatives in a net liability position. The Company is not required to post any
collateral related to these agreements and was not in breach of any agreement provisions.

Note 8 — Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had 28,296,439 and 27,886,255 shares of common stock outstanding,
respectively, including unvested restricted shares, shares issued pursuant to the Company’s distribution reinvestment plan
(“DRIP”), net of share repurchases, and shares issued as stock dividends since October 2020 and through January 2024. Since
October 2020, the Company has issued an aggregate of approximately 5.2 million shares (as adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock
Split) in respect to the stock dividends. Except for shares issued as dividends, no other additional shares of common stock were
issued during the years ended December 31, 2024 or 2023. References made to weighted-average shares and per-share amounts in
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income or loss have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the
cumulative increase in shares outstanding due to the stock dividends, and are noted as such throughout the accompanying
financial statements and notes. In addition, on March 27, 2024, the Company published a new Estimated Per-Share NAV as of
December 31, 2023, which was approved by the Board on March 27, 2024. See Note I — Organization for additional
information.
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Share Repurchase Program

Under the Company’s share repurchase program (the “SRP”), as amended from time to time, qualifying stockholders are able
to sell their shares to the Company in limited circumstances. The Board suspended the SRP in August 2020 and no further
repurchase requests under the SRP may be made unless and until the SRP is reactivated. No assurances can be made as to when or
if the SRP will be reactivated. When a stockholder requests redemption and redemption is approved by the Board, the Company
will reclassify such obligation from equity to a liability based on the settlement value of the obligation. Shares repurchased under
the SRP have the status of authorized but unissued shares.

Distribution Reinvestment Plan

Pursuant to the DRIP, stockholders may elect to reinvest distributions paid in cash by the Company into shares of common
stock. The Company has the right to amend the DRIP or terminate the DRIP with ten days’ notice to participants. Shares issued
under the DRIP are recorded as equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets in the period distributions are
declared. During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company did not issue any shares of common stock
pursuant to the DRIP.

Stockholder Rights Plan

In May 2020, the Company announced that the Board had approved a stockholder rights plan. In December 2020, the
Company issued a dividend of one common share purchase right for each share of its common stock outstanding as authorized by
its Board in its discretion. During the year ended December 31, 2023, The Company extended the expiration date of the
stockholders rights plan from May 18, 2023 to May 18, 2026.

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock. In connection with an underwritten offering
in December 2019 (see details below), the Company classified and designated 1,610,000 shares of its authorized preferred stock
as authorized shares of its Series A Preferred Stock. In September 2020, the Board authorized the classification of 600,000
additional shares of the Company’s preferred stock as Series A Preferred Stock in connection with the preferred stock purchase
agreement and registration rights agreement with B. Riley Principal Capital, LLC and in May 2021, the Board authorized the
classification of 2,530,000 additional shares of the Company’s preferred stock as Series A Preferred Stock in connection with an
offering in May 2021.

The Company had 3,977,144 shares of Series A Preferred Stock issued and outstanding, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

In connection with an underwritten offering in October 2021, the Company classified and designated 3,680,000 shares of its
authorized preferred stock on October 4, 2021 as authorized shares of its 7.125% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual
Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value per share (“Series B Preferred Stock™).

As a result of an underwritten offering in October 2021, the Company had 3,630,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The Company also had 100,000 Series A Preferred Units outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
which were accounted for as a component of non-controlling interests. See Note 13 — Non-controlling Interests for additional
information.
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Series A Preferred Stock

Terms

Holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to cumulative dividends in the amount of $1.84375 per share each year,
which is equivalent to the rate of 7.375% of the $25.00 liquidation preference per share per annum. The Series A Preferred Stock
has no stated maturity and will remain outstanding indefinitely unless redeemed, converted or otherwise repurchased. The Series
A Preferred Stock may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the Company’s option, at any time and from time to time, at a cash
redemption price of $25.00 per share, plus an amount equal to all dividends accrued and unpaid (whether or not authorized or
declared), if any, to, but not including, the redemption date. In addition, upon the occurrence of a Delisting Event or a Change of
Control (each as defined in the articles supplementary governing the terms of the Series A Preferred Stock (the “Series A Articles
Supplementary”)), the Company may, subject to certain conditions, at its option, redeem the Series A Preferred Stock, in whole or
in part, after the first date on which the Delisting Event occurred or within 120 days after the first date on which the Change of
Control occurred, as applicable, by paying the liquidation preference of $25.00 per share, plus an amount equal to all dividends
accrued and unpaid (whether or not authorized or declared), if any, to, but not including, the redemption date. Upon the
occurrence of a Change of Control during a continuing Delisting Event, unless the Company has elected to exercise its
redemption right, holders of the Series A Preferred Stock will have certain rights to convert Series A Preferred Stock into shares
of Company’s common stock. In addition, upon the occurrence of a Delisting Event, the dividend rate will be increased on the day
after the occurrence of the Delisting Event by 2.00% per annum to the rate of 9.375% of the $25.00 liquidation preference per
share per annum (equivalent to $2.34375 per share each year) from and after the date of the Delisting Event. Following the cure of
such Delisting Event, the dividend rate will revert to the rate of 7.375% of the $25.00 liquidation preference per share per annum.
The necessary conditions to convert the Series A Preferred Stock into common stock have not been met as of December 31, 2024.
Therefore, Series A Preferred Stock did not impact Company’s earnings per share calculations for the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022.

The Series A Preferred Stock ranks senior to common stock, with respect to dividend rights and rights upon the Company’s
voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up.

Voting rights for holders of Series A Preferred Stock exist primarily with respect to the ability to elect two additional
directors to the board of directors if six or more quarterly dividends (whether or not authorized or declared or consecutive)
payable on the Series A Preferred Stock are in arrears, and with respect to voting on amendments to the Company’s charter
(which includes the Series A Articles Supplementary) that materially and adversely affect the rights of the Series A Preferred
Stock or create additional classes or series of shares of the Company’s capital stock that are senior to the Series A Preferred Stock.
Other than the limited circumstances described above and in the Series A Articles Supplementary, holders of Series A Preferred
Stock do not have any voting rights.

Series A Preferred Units

In September 2021, the Company partially funded the purchase of an OMF from an unaffiliated third party by causing the OP
to issue 100,000 partnership units in the OP designated as “Series A Preferred Units”. These were recorded at fair value on the
date of the acquisition at $2.6 million and were included as part of the consideration paid for the acquisition. Additionally, these
are considered a non-controlling interest for the Company and were recorded as an increase in non-controlling interests on the
consolidated balance sheet (see Note 13 — Non-controlling Interests for additional information).
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Series B Preferred Stock

Series B Preferred Stock — Terms

Holders of Series B Preferred Stock are entitled to cumulative dividends in the amount of $1.78125 per share each year,
which is equivalent to the rate of 7.125% of the $25.00 liquidation preference per share per annum. The Series B Preferred Stock
has no stated maturity and will remain outstanding indefinitely unless redeemed, converted or otherwise repurchased. On and after
October 6, 2026, at any time and from time to time, the Series B Preferred Stock will be redeemable in whole or in part, at the
Company’s option, at a cash redemption price of $25.00 per share, plus an amount equal to all dividends accrued and unpaid
(whether or not authorized or declared), if any, to, but not including, the redemption date. In addition, upon the occurrence of a
Delisting Event or a Change of Control (each as defined in the articles supplementary governing the terms of the Series B
Preferred Stock (the “Series B Articles Supplementary”)), the Company may, subject to certain conditions, at its option, redeem
the Series B Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, after the first date on which the Delisting Event occurred or within 120 days
after the first date on which the Change of Control occurred, as applicable, by paying the liquidation preference of $25.00 per
share, plus an amount equal to all dividends accrued and unpaid (whether or not authorized or declared), if any, to, but not
including, the redemption date. Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control during a continuing Delisting Event, unless the
Company has elected to exercise its redemption right, holders of the Series B Preferred Stock will have certain rights to convert
Series B Preferred Stock into shares of Company’s common stock. In addition, upon the occurrence of a Delisting Event, the
dividend rate will be increased on the day after the occurrence of the Delisting Event by 2.00% per annum to the rate of 9.125%
of the $25.00 liquidation preference per share per annum (equivalent to $2.28125 per share each year) from and after the date of
the Delisting Event. Following the cure of such Delisting Event, the dividend rate will revert to the rate of 7.125% of the $25.00
liquidation preference per share per annum. The necessary conditions to convert the Series B Preferred Stock into common stock
have not been met as of December 31, 2024. Therefore, Series B Preferred Stock did not impact Company’s earnings per share
calculations for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The Series B Preferred Stock ranks on parity with the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock, and senior to its common stock,
with respect to dividend rights and rights upon the Company’s voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up.

Voting rights for holders of Series B Preferred Stock exist primarily with respect to the ability to elect two additional
directors to the board of directors if six or more quarterly dividends (whether or not authorized or declared or consecutive)
payable on the Series B Preferred Stock are in arrears, and with respect to voting on amendments to the Company’s charter
(which includes the Series B Articles Supplementary) that materially and adversely affect the rights of the Series B Preferred
Stock or create additional classes or series of shares of the Company’s capital stock that are senior to the Series B Preferred Stock.
Other than the limited circumstances described above and in the Series B Articles Supplementary, holders of Series B Preferred
Stock do not have any voting rights.

Distributions and Dividends
Common Stock

From March 1, 2018 until June 30, 2020, the Company paid monthly distributions to stockholders at a rate equivalent to
$3.40 (as adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split) per annum per share of common stock.

On August 13, 2020, the Board changed the Company’s common stock distribution policy to preserve the Company’s
liquidity and maintain additional financial flexibility. Under the policy, distributions authorized by the Board on the Company’s
shares of common stock were issued on a quarterly basis in arrears in shares of the Company’s common stock valued at the
Company’s Estimated Per Share NAV of common stock in effect on the applicable date:
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Quarterly Stock Dividend

Stock Dividend Declaration Date Stock Dividend Issue Date Rate (per share)

January 3, 2022 January 15, 2022 0.014655
April 1, 2022 April 18,2022 0.014167
July 1, 2022 July 15,2022 0.014167
October 3, 2022 October 17, 2022 0.014167
January 3, 2023 January 18, 2023 0.014167
April 3,2023 April 17,2023 0.015179
July 3, 2023 July 17,2023 0.015179
October 2, 2023 October 16, 2023 0.015179
January 3, 2024 January 16, 2024 0.015179

The Company did not declare a quarterly stock dividend in April 2024, and does not intend to declare any further stock
dividends in the future.

Note 9 — Related Party Transactions and Arrangements

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Special Limited Partner owned 2,718 shares of the Company’s outstanding common
stock. As of December 31, 2023, the Advisor held 90 partnership units in the OP designated as “Common OP Units”. In
connection with the Internalization, immediately prior to Closing, the Advisor transferred the 90 Common OP Units to the
Advisor Parent. As of December 31, 2024, the Advisor Parent held 90 Common OP Units.

Fees Incurred in Connection with the Operations of the Company

The Second Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement by and among the Company, the OP and the Advisor (as amended,
the “Second A&R Advisory Agreement”) took effect on February 17, 2017.

On July 25, 2019, the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to the Advisory Agreement (the “Advisory Agreement
Amendment”), which was unanimously approved by the Company’s independent directors. Additional information on the
Advisory Agreement Amendment is included later in this Note under “Professional Fees and Other Reimbursements.”

Immediately following the Closing of the Internalization, the Company and the Advisor (now a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company following the Internalization) terminated the Advisory Agreement by mutual agreement. Certain expenses have
been incurred as a result of the Company’s decision to terminate the Advisory Agreement, which are discussed below in the
section “Internalization — Termination Fees”. The following describes certain expenses and fees that the Company was obligated
to pay under the Advisory Agreement prior to its termination in connection with the Internalization.

Acquisition Expense Reimbursements

The Advisor was reimbursed for services provided for which it incurred investment-related expenses, or insourced expenses.
The amount reimbursed for insourced expenses was not permitted to exceed 0.5% of the contract purchase price of each acquired
property or 0.5% of the amount advanced for a loan or other investment. Additionally, the Company reimbursed the Advisor for
third-party acquisition expenses. Under the Advisory Agreement, total acquisition expenses were not permitted to exceed 4.5% of
the contract purchase price of the Company’s portfolio or 4.5% of the amount advanced for all loans or other investments. This
threshold was not exceeded through September 27, 2024, the date the Advisory Agreement was terminated.

Asset Management Fees

Under the limited partnership agreement of the OP (as amended from time to time, the “LPA”) and the previous advisory
agreement and until March 31, 2015, for its asset management services, the Company issued the Advisor an asset management
subordinated participation by causing the OP to issue to the Advisor partnership units of the OP designated as “Class B
Units” (“Class B Units”). The Class B Units were intended to be profit interests and vest, and no longer are subject to forfeiture,
at such time as: (x) the value of the OP’s assets plus all distributions made equals or exceeds the total amount of capital
contributed by investors plus a 6.0% cumulative, pre-tax, non-compounded annual return thereon (the “Economic Hurdle”); (y)
any one of the following occurs: (1) a listing; (2) another liquidity event or (3) the termination of the advisory agreement by an
affirmative vote of a majority of the Company’s independent directors without cause; and (z) the Advisor is still providing
advisory services to the Company (the “Performance Condition™).
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Unvested Class B Units would be forfeited immediately if: (a) the advisory agreement is terminated for any reason other than
a termination without cause; or (b) the advisory agreement is terminated by an affirmative vote of a majority of the Company’s
independent directors without cause before the Economic Hurdle has been met.

Subject to approval by the Board, the Class B Units were issued to the Advisor quarterly in arrears pursuant to the terms of
the LPA. The number of Class B Units issued in any quarter was equal to: (i) the excess of (A) the product of (y) the cost of assets
multiplied by (z) 0.1875% over (B) any amounts payable as an oversight fee (as described below) for such calendar quarter;
divided by (ii) the value of one share of common stock as of the last day of such calendar quarter, which was initially equal to
$22.50 (the price in the Company’s initial public offering of common stock minus the selling commissions and dealer manager
fees). The value of issued Class B Units will be determined and expensed when the Company deems the achievement of the
Performance Condition to be probable. As of December 31, 2024, the Company determined that achieving the Performance
Condition was not yet considered probable for accounting purposes. The Advisor received cash distributions on each issued Class
B Unit equivalent to the cash distribution paid, if any on the Company’s common stock. These cash distributions on Class B Units
will be included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss if the
Performance Condition is considered probable to occur. The Board has previously approved the issuance of 359,250 Class B
Units to the Advisor in connection with this arrangement. The Board determined in February 2018 that the Economic Hurdle had
been satisfied, however none of the events have occurred, including a listing of the Company’s common stock on a national
securities exchange, which would have satisfied the other vesting requirement of the Class B Units. Therefore, no expense has
ever been recognized in connection with the Class B Units.

On May 12, 2015, the Company, the OP and the Advisor entered into an amendment to the then-current advisory agreement,
which, among other things, provided that the Company would cease causing the OP to issue Class B Units to the Advisor with
respect to any period ending after March 31, 2015. In connection with the Internalization, immediately prior to Closing, the
Advisor transferred 359,250 Class B Units to the Advisor Parent.

Effective February 17, 2017, the Advisory Agreement required the Company to pay the Advisor a base management fee,
which is payable on the first business day of each month. The fixed portion of the base management fee was equal to $1.625
million per month, while the variable portion of the base management fee is equal to one-twelfth of 1.25% of the cumulative net
proceeds of any equity (including convertible equity and certain convertible debt but excluding proceeds from the DRIP) issued
by the Company and its subsidiaries subsequent to February 17, 2017 per month. There were no variable management fees earned
from the issuance of common stock dividends. Upon termination of the Advisory Agreement, the Company is no longer obligated
to pay the base management fee.

In addition, the Advisory Agreement required the Company to pay the Advisor a variable management/incentive fee quarterly
in arrears equal to (1) the product of fully diluted shares common stock outstanding multiplied by (2) (x) 15.0% of the applicable
prior quarter’s Core Earnings (as defined below) per share in excess of $0.375 per share plus (y) 10.0% of the applicable prior
quarter’s Core Earnings per share in excess of $0.47 per share. No incentive fee was incurred for the year ended December 31,
2024 or 2023. Upon termination of the Advisory Agreement, the Company is no longer obligated to pay a variable management/
incentive fee.

In connection with the Internalization, on the Closing Date, the Advisor Parent received an asset management fee of
$10.9 million, representing the aggregate Base Management Fee (as defined in the Advisory Agreement) that the Company would
have been required to pay to the Advisor during the six month notice period required to terminate the Advisory Agreement, which
began on June 25, 2024 when the Company delivered notice to the Advisor of its intention to effect the Internalization, inclusive
of $5.5 million of Base Management Fees that the Company would have been required to pay to the Advisor during the remaining
three month notice period following the Closing Date.

Property Management Fees

Unless the Company contracts with a third party, the Company pays the Property Manager a property management fee on a
monthly basis, equal to 1.5% of gross revenues from the Company’s stand-alone single-tenant net leased properties managed and
2.5% of gross revenues from all other types of properties managed, plus market-based leasing commissions applicable to the
geographic location of the property. The Company also reimburses the Property Manager for property level expenses incurred by
the Property Manager. The Property Manager may charge a separate fee for the one-time initial rent-up or leasing-up of newly
constructed properties in an amount not to exceed the fee customarily charged in arm’s length transactions by others rendering
similar services in the same geographic area for similar properties, and the Property Manager is allowed to receive a higher
property management fee in certain cases if approved by the Company’s Board of Directors (including a majority of the
independent directors).
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On February 17, 2017, the Company entered into the Amended and Restated Property Management and Leasing Agreement
(the “Property Management Agreement”) with the OP and the Property Manager. The Property Management Agreement
automatically renews for successive one-year terms unless any party provides written notice of its intention to terminate the
Property Management Agreement. The Company provided the Property Manager with notice of its intent to self-manage in June
2024, and, in connection with the Internalization, the Advisor Parent contributed all its equity interests in the Property Manager to
the Company. Following the Closing of the Internalization, the Property Management Agreement remains in place as an
intercompany agreement.

Professional Fees and Other Reimbursements

The Company reimbursed the Advisor’s costs of providing administrative services including personnel costs, except for costs
to the extent that the employees perform services for which the Advisor received a separate fee. This reimbursement included
reasonable overhead expenses for employees of the Advisor or its affiliates directly involved in the performance of services on
behalf of the Company, including the reimbursement of rent expense at certain properties that are both occupied by employees of
the Advisor or its affiliates and owned by affiliates of the Advisor. During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
the Company incurred $10.6 million, $10.6 million and $8.8 million, respectively, of reimbursement expenses from the Advisor
for providing administrative services. These reimbursement expenses are included in general and administrative expense on the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Bonus Awards

Reimbursements for the cash portion of 2023 bonuses paid by the Advisor to its employees, or employees of its affiliates,
were expensed and reimbursed on a monthly basis during the year ended December 31, 2023 in accordance with estimates
provided by the Advisor. These amounts were awarded in May 2024 and were scheduled to be paid by the Advisor to its
employees from September 2024 to March 2025. Following the Internalization, pursuant to the Internalization Agreement, the
Advisor Parent remitted the unpaid portion of these amounts to the Company, which subsequently paid out such amounts in
October 2024 to the employees who joined the Company from the Advisor as part of the Internalization.

For the cash portion of 2024 accrued bonuses for the Advisor’s employees, or employees of its affiliates, the Company
previously reimbursed the Advisor for such amounts in accordance with estimates provided by the Advisor. Following the
Internalization, pursuant to the Internalization Agreement, the Advisor Parent remitted such amounts to the Company for
subsequent payment to the employees who joined the Company from the Advisor as part of the Internalization.

Promissory Note

In connection with the consideration payable to the Advisor Parent under the Internalization Agreement, the Company issued
the Promissory Note in a principal amount of $30.3 million to the Advisor Parent on the Closing Date. The Promissory Note was
a senior unsecured obligation of the Company and ranked equal in right of payment with all of the Company’s existing and future
indebtedness. The Promissory Note bore interest per annum of Term SOFR (as defined in the Promissory Note) plus 1.25% until
January 1, 2025 and Term SOFR plus 3.25% on and after January 1, 2025, with such interest payable monthly. The Promissory
Note’s maturity date was June 28, 2025 and may be prepaid, in whole or in part, prior to the maturity date without any pre-
payment penalties. The Promissory Note is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the balance sheet as of
December 31, 2024. In January 2025, the Company repaid the Promissory Note in full including any unpaid interest at the time of
payment.
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Summary of fees, expenses and related payables

The following table details amounts incurred and payable in connection with the Company’s operations-related services
described above as of and for the periods presented:

Payable
Year Ended December 31, (Prepayments) as of
2024 2023 2022 December 31,

(In thousands) Incurred Incurred Incurred 2024 2023
Non-recurring fees and reimbursements:
Acquisition cost reimbursements $ 20 $ 32 % 23§ — 3 —
Ongoing fees and reimbursements:
Asset management fees 16,374 21,831 21,831 — —
Professional fees and other reimbursements 10,589 10,595 8,820 — 198
Property management fees ) 3,584 4,135 4,200 — 97
Termination fees (including the Promissory Note) ! 106,650 — — 30,267 —

Total related party operation fees and reimbursements $ 137,217 $ 36,593 $ 34,874 $30,267 $§ 295

(1) Included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. For the year ended December 31, 2024, includes amount
related to the purchase of tail directors and officers liability insurance policy covering the former Advisor and the Company in connection with the
Internalization.

(2) Inclusive of $0.8 million and $0.4 million of leasing commissions which are included in prepaid expenses and other assets on the consolidated balance sheet
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

(3) For the year ended December 31, 2024, includes the Closing Payments payable to the Advisor pursuant to the terms of the Internalization, including an
internalization fee of $98.2 million, an asset management fee of $5.5 million and a property management fee of $2.9 million. See Note 1 — Organization —
Internalization for additional information. Also reflects the Promissory Note issued to the Advisor Parent in connection with the Internalization which was
paid in full in January 2025.

Internalization
For details regarding the terms of the Internalization, see Note | — Organization — Internalization.
Promotes Incurred in Connection with a Listing or the Liquidation of the Company’s Real Estate Assets

Promote Incurred in Connection with a Listing

If the common stock of the Company is listed on a national securities exchange, the Special Limited Partner will be entitled
to receive a promissory note as evidence of its right to receive a subordinated incentive listing distribution from the OP equal to
15.0% of the amount by which the market value of all issued and outstanding shares of common stock plus distributions exceeds
the aggregate capital contributed plus an amount equal to a 6.0% cumulative, pre-tax non-compounded annual return to investors
in the Company’s initial public offering of common stock. No such distribution was incurred during the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. If the Special Limited Partner or any of its affiliates receives the subordinated incentive
listing distribution the Special Limited Partner and its affiliates will no longer be entitled to receive the subordinated participation
in net sales proceeds distribution described below.

Subordinated Participation in Net Sales Proceeds

Upon a liquidation or sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, including through a merger or sale of stock, the
Special Limited Partner will be entitled to receive a subordinated participation in the net sales proceeds of the sale of real estate
assets from the OP equal to 15.0% of remaining net sale proceeds after return of capital contributions to investors in the
Company’s initial public offering of common stock plus payment to investors of a 6.0% cumulative, pre-tax non-compounded
annual return on the capital contributed by investors. No such participation in net sales proceeds became due and payable during
the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. Any amount of net sales proceeds paid to the Special Limited Partner or any
of its affiliates prior to the Company’s listing will reduce dollar for dollar the amount of the subordinated incentive listing
distribution described above.
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Promote in Connection with a Termination

Under the LPA, upon termination or non-renewal of the advisory agreement with the Advisor, with or without cause, the
Special Limited Partner was entitled to receive a promissory note as evidence of its right to receive subordinated termination
distributions from the OP equal to 15.0% of the amount by which the sum of the Company’s market value plus distributions
exceeds the sum of the aggregate capital contributed plus an amount equal to a 6.0% cumulative, pre-tax, non-compounded annual
return to investors in the Company’s initial public offering of common stock. However, in accordance with the terms of the LPA,
in connection with the Internalization and the Company’s termination of the Advisory Agreement, the Special Limited Partner
deferred its right to receive a subordinated distribution upon termination until either a subsequent listing of its common shares on
a national securities exchange or other liquidity event occurs.

Note 10 — Economic Dependency

Under various agreements, prior to the Internalization, the Company engaged the Advisor, its affiliates and entities under
common control with the Advisor to provide certain services that were essential to the Company, including asset management
services, supervision of the management and leasing of properties owned by the Company and asset acquisition and disposition
decisions, as well as other administrative responsibilities for the Company including accounting services and investor relations.
As a result of these relationships, the Company was dependent upon the Advisor and its affiliates prior to the Internalization.

Note 11 — Equity-Based Compensation
Restricted Share Plan

The Company adopted an employee and director incentive restricted share plan (as amended from time to time, the “RSP”),
which provided the Company with the ability to grant awards of restricted shares of common stock (“restricted shares™) to the
Company’s directors, officers and employees, employees of the Advisor and its affiliates, employees of entities that provide
services to the Company, directors of the Advisor or of entities that provide services to the Company, certain consultants to the
Company and the Advisor and its affiliates or to entities that provide services to the Company. The RSP expired in accordance
with its terms in February 2023. The total number of shares of common stock that may be subject to awards granted under the
RSP may not exceed 5.0% of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock on a fully diluted basis at any time and in any
event will not exceed 4.2 million shares (as such number may be further adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, combinations
and similar events).

Restricted shares vest on a straight-line basis over periods of three to five years and may not, in general, be sold or otherwise
transferred until restrictions are removed and the shares have vested. Holders of restricted shares may receive cash distributions
prior to the time that the restrictions on the restricted shares have lapsed. Any distributions payable in shares of common stock are
subject to the same restrictions as the underlying restricted shares.
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The following table reflects the amount of restricted shares outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and activity for the period
presented:

Number of Common Weighted-Average

Shares Issue Price
Unvested, December 31, 2021 39,857 $ 84.84
Stock dividend 2,078 59.44
Granted — —
Vested (17,599) 94.68
Forfeitures — —
Unvested, December 31, 2022 24,336 75.56
Stock Dividend 1,293 57.08
Granted — —
Vested (12,718) 81.58
Forfeitures — —
Unvested, December 31, 2023 12,911 67.78
Stock dividend 196 56.00
Granted — —
Vested (13,107) 67.60
Forfeitures — —
Unvested, December 31, 2024 — 3 —

As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not have any remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested
restricted share awards granted under the RSP. Compensation expense related to restricted shares was $0.6 million, $0.9 million
and $1.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Other Share-Based Compensation

The Company may issue common stock in lieu of cash to pay fees earned by the Company’s directors at the respective
director’s election. There are no restrictions on shares issued in lieu of cash compensation since these payments in lieu of cash
relate to fees earned for services performed. No such shares were issued during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022.

Note 12 — Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The following table illustrates the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income as of and for the periods presented:

Unrealized Gains (Losses)

(In thousands) on Designated Derivative
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ (14,341)
Other comprehensive income, before reclassifications 50,098
Amount of gain reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income 1,153
Balance, December 31, 2022 36,910
Other comprehensive income, before reclassifications 5,324
Amount of gain reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (18,770)
Balance, December 31, 2023 23,464
Other comprehensive income, before reclassifications 8,716
Amount of gain reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (15,540)
Balance, December 31, 2024 $ 16,640
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Accumulated other comprehensive income predominately relates to the unrealized gains (losses) on designated derivatives,
however, as previously discussed in Note 7 — Derivatives and Hedging Activities, previously designated hedges were terminated
and the termination costs are being amortized over the term of the hedged item.

Note 13 — Non-Controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet is comprised of the following:

Balance as of December 31,

(In thousands) 2024 2023
Series A Preferred Units held by third parties $ 2,578 $ 2,578
Common OP Units held by third parties 2,212 3,156
Total Non-controlling Interests in the OP 4,790 5,734
Non-controlling interests in property owning subsidiaries 775 695
Total Non-controlling Interests $ 5,565 $ 6,429

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests on the Company’s consolidated statement of operations is comprised of the
following:

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Income attributable to Series A Preferred Units held by third parties $ (184) $ (185) $ (184)
Loss attributable to Common OP Units held by third parties 837 317 341

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests in the OP 653 132 157
Income attributable to non-controlling interests in property-owning

subsidiaries (86) (50) (22)

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests $ 567 $ 82 $ 135

Non-Controlling Interests in the OP

For preferred and common shares issued by the Company, the Company causes the OP to issue to the Company mirror
securities with substantially equivalent economic rights in exchange for the contribution of the capital raised by such issuances.
The securities held by the Company are eliminated in consolidation.

Series A Preferred Units

The Company is the sole general partner and holds substantially all of the Series A Preferred Units (except as discussed
below). All common and preferred units in the OP held by the Company are eliminated in consolidation.

In September 2021, the Company partially funded the purchase of a OMF from an unaffiliated third party by causing the OP
to issue 100,000 Series A Preferred Units to the unaffiliated third party, with a face value of $25.00 per unit, which were recorded
at issuance at a then fair value of $2.6 million, or $25.78 per unit, to the unaffiliated third party.

A holder of Series A Preferred Units has the right to receive cash distributions equivalent to the cash distributions, if any, on
the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock, which earn dividends at a rate equal to 7.375% of its face value. After holding the Series
A Preferred Units for a period of one year, a holder of Series A Preferred Units has the right to redeem Series A Preferred Units
for, at the option of the OP, the corresponding number of shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock, or the cash
equivalent. The remaining rights of the limited partners in the OP are limited, however, and do not include the ability to replace
the general partner or to approve the sale, purchase or refinancing of the OP’s assets. During both the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, Series A Preferred Unit holders were paid distributions of $0.2 million.

Common OP Units

The Company is the sole general partner and holds substantially all of the Common OP Units. As of December 31, 2023, the
Advisor held 90 partnership units in the OP designated as “Common OP Units”. In connection with the Internalization,
immediately prior to Closing, the Advisor transferred the 90 Common OP Units to the Advisor Parent. As of December 31, 2024,
the Advisor Parent held 90 Common OP Units.
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In November 2014, the Company partially funded the purchase of an OMF from an unaffiliated third party by causing the OP
to issue 405,908 Common OP Units, with a value of $10.1 million, or $25.00 per unit, to the unaffiliated third party.

A holder of Common OP Units has the right to receive cash distributions equivalent to the cash distributions, if any, on the
Company’s common stock in an amount retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock dividends, other stock dividends and other
similar events. After holding the Common OP Units for a period of one year, a holder of Common OP Units has the right to
redeem Common OP Units for, at the option of the OP, the corresponding number of shares of the Company’s common stock, as
retroactively adjusted for the stock dividends, other stock dividends and other similar events, or the cash equivalent. The
remaining rights of the limited partners in the OP are limited, however, and do not include the ability to replace the general
partner or to approve the sale, purchase or refinancing of the OP’s assets. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
Common OP Unit non-controlling interest holders were not paid any cash distributions.

Stock dividends do not cause the OP to issue additional Common OP Units, rather, the redemption ratio to common stock is
adjusted. The 405,998 Common OP Units outstanding as of December 31, 2024 would be redeemable for 124,161 shares of
common stock, giving effect to adjustments for the impact of the stock dividends through January 2024 and the Reverse Stock
Split.

Non-Controlling Interests in Property Owning Subsidiaries

The Company also has investment arrangements with other unaffiliated third parties whereby such investors receive an
ownership interest in certain of the Company’s property-owning subsidiaries and are entitled to receive a proportionate share of
the net operating cash flow derived from the subsidiaries’ property. Upon disposition of a property subject to non-controlling
interest, the investor will receive a proportionate share of the net proceeds from the sale of the property. The investor has no
recourse to any other assets of the Company. Due to the nature of the Company’s involvement with these arrangements and the
significance of its investment in relation to the investment of the third party, the Company has determined that it controls each
entity in these arrangements and therefore the entities related to these arrangements are consolidated within the Company’s
financial statements. A non-controlling interest is recorded for the investor’s ownership interest in the properties.

The following table summarizes the activity related to investment arrangements with the unaffiliated third parties:

Third Party Net Non-Controlling
Investment Ownership Net Real Estate Assets Subject
Amount Percentage to Investment Arrangement Distributions

Property Name As of December 31,  As of December 31, As of December 31, Year Ended December 31,
(Dollar amounts in
thousands) Investment Date 2024 2024 2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
Plaza Del Rio Medical

Office Campus

Portfolio®” May 2015 $ 775 71% $ 12763 § 12,687 $ — 3 — 3 —

(1) Of the six total properties in the Plaza Del Rio Medical Office Campus Portfolio, three properties were encumbered under the Capital One OMF Loan, two
properties were pledged to the OMF Warehouse Facility and one property was encumbered under the Multi-Property CMBS Loan. See Note 4 — Mortgage
Notes Payable and Note 5 — Credit Facilities for additional information.

Note 14 — Net Loss Per Share
The following is a summary of the basic and diluted net loss per share computation for the years ended December 31, 2024,

2023 and 2022 and has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock dividends and the Reverse Stock Split (see Note I —
Organization and Note 8 — Stockholder’s Equity for additional information):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Net loss attributable to stockholders (in thousands) $ (203,495) $ (86,097) $ (93,285)
Basic and diluted weighted-average shares outstanding M 28,286,391 28,280,430 28,260,835
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (7.19) $ (3.04) $ (3.30)

(1) Weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the periods presented. There were 28,296,439, 27,886,255 and 26,270,133 shares of
common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Diluted net loss per share assumes the conversion of all common stock equivalents into an equivalent number of shares of
common stock, unless the effect is antidilutive. The Company considers unvested restricted shares, Common OP Units and Class
B Units to be common share equivalents. Series A Preferred Units are non-participating.

The Company had the following common stock equivalents on a weighted-average basis that were excluded from the
calculation of diluted net loss per share attributable to stockholders as their effect would have been antidilutive.

December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Unvested restricted shares ) — 20,827 37,538
Common OP Units ? 124,161 124,161 124,161
Class B Units ) 109,865 109,865 109,865
Total weighted average antidilutive common share equivalents 234,026 254,853 271,564

(1) Weighted average number of antidilutive unvested restricted shares outstanding for the periods presented. There were zero , 12,911 and 24,336 unvested
restricted shares outstanding as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

(2) Weighted average number of antidilutive Common OP Units presented as shares outstanding for the periods presented, at the current conversion rate as
retroactively adjusted for the effects of the stock dividends. There were 405,998 Common OP Units outstanding as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

(3) Weighted average number of antidilutive Class B Units presented as shares outstanding for the periods presented, at the current conversion rate as
retroactively adjusted for the effects of the stock dividends. There were 359,250 Class B Units outstanding as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Note 15 — Segment Reporting

The Company has three operating segments: (i) outpatient medical facilities, (ii) senior housing operating properties and (iii)
triple net leased healthcare facilities. These operating segments are aggregated into two reportable business segments: OMFs and
SHOPs. The disclosures below for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are presented for the Company’s two
reportable business segments for management and internal financial reporting purposes.

The Company’s CODM is provided financial data on a periodic basis which includes net operating income (as defined below)
for each of the reportable business segments. This serves as the profit or loss measure used by the CODM for performance
assessment and resource allocation.

The Company’s CODM is its Chief Executive Officer. The Company, through its CODM, evaluates performance and makes
resource allocations based on its two business segments. The OMF segment primarily consists of facilities leased to healthcare-
related tenants under long-term leases, which may require such tenants to pay a pro rata share of property-related expenses as well
as seniors housing properties, hospitals, inpatient rehabilitation facilities and skilled nursing facilities under long-term leases,
under which tenants are generally responsible to directly pay property-related expenses. The SHOP segment consists of direct
investments in seniors housing properties, primarily providing assisted living, independent living and memory care services,
which are operated through engaging independent third-party operators.

Net Operating Income

The Company evaluates the performance of the combined properties in each segment using net operating income (NOI)
which is defined as total revenues from tenants, less property operating costs. As such, this excludes all other items of expense
and income included in the consolidated financial statements in calculating consolidated income (loss) before income taxes. The
Company uses NOI to assess and compare property level performance and to make decisions concerning the operation of the
properties. The Company believes that NOI is useful as a performance measure because, when compared across periods, NOI
reflects the impact on operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental rates, operating expenses and acquisition activity on an
unleveraged basis, providing perspective not immediately apparent from consolidated income (loss) before income taxes.

NOI excludes certain components from consolidated income (loss) before income taxes in order to provide results that are
more closely related to a property’s results of operations. For example, interest expense is not necessarily linked to the operating
performance of a real estate asset and is often incurred at the corporate level. In addition, depreciation and amortization, because
of historical cost accounting and useful life estimates, may distort operating performance at the property level. NOI presented by
the Company may not be comparable to NOI reported by other REITs that define NOI differently.
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The following table presents the operating financial information for the Company’s two business segments for the years

ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022
OMFs™":
Revenue from tenants $ 137,317 $ 135,449 $ 131,444
Less: Property operating and maintenance 39,201 37,954 35,945
NOI $ 98,116 § 97,495 § 95,499
SHOPs:
Revenue from tenants $ 216,477 $ 210,476 $ 204,402
Less: Property Operating and maintenance:
Compensation related expenses(z) 110,389 109,281 109,198
Other property operating and maintenance ) 71,558 70,557 68,301
NOI $ 34,530 § 30,638 $ 26,903

(1) The CODM uses NOI to evaluate performance of the OMF segment as a large portion of the property-level operating expenses is recovered from tenants.

(2) Includes costs incurred for salaries, benefits and other labor related costs.

(3) Includes costs incurred for supplies, management fees and overhead.
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A reconciliation of the total reportable segments’ revenue from tenants to consolidated revenue from tenants and the total
reportable segments’ NOI to consolidated income (loss) before income taxes and consolidated net loss attributable to common

stockholders is presented below:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Revenue from tenants
OMFs 137,317 ' $ 135,449 § 131,444
SHOPs 216,477 210,476 204,402
Total consolidated revenue from tenants 353,794 $ 345,925 $ 335,846
Loss before income tax and net loss attributable to
common stockholders:
Net Operating Income:
OMFs 98,116 § 97,495 § 95,499
SHOPs 34,530 30,638 26,903
Total NOI 132,646 128,133 122,402
Impairment charges (24,881) (4,676) (27,630)
Operating fees to related parties (19,203) (25,527) (25,353)
Termination fees to related parties (106,650) — —
Acquisition and transaction related (7,949) (545) (1,484)
General and administrative (22,744) (18,928) (17,287)
Depreciation and amortization (84,067) (82,873) (82,064)
Gain (loss) on sale of real estate investments 9,307 (322) (125)
Interest expense (69,447) (66,078) (51,740)
Interest and other income 1,051 734 27
Gain (loss) on non-designated derivatives 1,544 (1,995) 3,834
Gain on extinguishment of debt 392 — —
Loss before income taxes (190,001) (72,077) (79,420)
Income tax expense (262) (303) (201)
Net loss (190,263) (72,380) (79,621)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests 567 82 135
Allocation for preferred stock (13,799) (13,799) (13,799)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (203,495) $ (86,097) $ (93,285)
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The following table reconciles real estate investments, net by segment to consolidated total assets as of the periods presented:

December 31,

(In thousands) 2024 2023
ASSETS
Investments in real estate, net:

OMFs $ 1,004,741 $ 1,114,963

SHOPs 756,358 824,694

Total investments in real estate, net 1,761,099 1,939,657

Cash and cash equivalents 21,652 46,409
Restricted cash 52,443 44,907
Derivative assets, at fair value 19,206 28,370
Straight-line rent receivable, net 22,841 26,325
Operating lease right-of-use asset 7,480 7,713
Prepaid expenses and other assets 40,033 35,781
Deferred costs, net 21,269 15,997
Total assets $ 1,946,023 $ 2,145,159

The following table reconciles capital expenditures by reportable business segments, excluding corporate non-real estate
expenditures, for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022
OMFs $ 8,967 $ 10,467 $ 10,542
SHOPs 12,941 14,832 17,451
Total capital expenditures $ 21,908 $ 25299 $ 27,993

Note 16 — Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had seven operating and six direct financing lease agreements. The seven operating
leases have durations, including assumed renewals, ranging from 17.9 years to 82.7 years, excluding an adjacent parking lot lease
with a term of 1.7 years. The Company did not enter into any additional ground leases during the year ended December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had ROU assets and liabilities of $7.5 million and $8.1 million, respectively, which
are included in operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities, respectively, on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets. In determining operating ROU assets and lease liabilities for the Company’s existing operating leases upon the
adoption of the lease guidance issued in 2019, as well as for new operating leases in the current period, the Company was required
to estimate an appropriate incremental borrowing rate on a fully-collateralized basis for the terms of the leases. Because the terms
of the Company’s ground leases are significantly longer than the terms of borrowings available to the Company on a fully-
collateralized basis, the Company’s estimate of this rate required significant judgment.

The Company’s ground operating leases have a weighted-average remaining lease term, including assumed renewals, of 32.3
years and a weighted-average discount rate of 7.36% as of December 31, 2024. For each of the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 and 2022, the Company paid cash of $0.7 million, $0.7 million and $0.7 million for amounts included in the measurement of
lease liabilities and recorded expense of $0.7 million, $0.8 million and $0.9 million, on a straight-line basis in accordance with the
current accounting guidance. The ground operating lease expense is recorded in property operating expenses in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
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Future Base Rent Payments
(In thousands) Operating Leases Direct Financing Leases
2025 $ 653 § 93
2026 649 95
2027 617 97
2028 618 100
2029 620 102
Thereafter 20,705 7,013
Total minimum lease payments 23,862 7,500
Less: amounts representing interest (15,753) (2,671)
Total present value of minimum lease payments $ 8,109 $ 4,829

(1) The Direct Finance Lease liability is included in Accounts Payable and accrued expenses on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2024. The Direct
Financing lease asset is included as part of building and improvements as the land component was not required to be bifurcated under ASU 840.

Litigation and Regulatory Matters

In the ordinary course of business, the Company may become subject to litigation, claims and regulatory matters. There are
no material legal or regulatory proceedings pending or known to be contemplated against the Company or its properties.

Environmental Matters

In connection with the ownership and operation of real estate, the Company may potentially be liable for costs and damages
related to environmental matters. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had not been notified by any governmental authority of
any non-compliance, liability or other claim, and is not aware of any other environmental condition that it believes will have a
material adverse effect on the results of operations.

Note 17 — Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and determined that
there have not been any events that have occurred that would require adjustments to disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements except the following disclosures:

In January 2025, the Company disposed of 11 OMFs for an aggregate contract sales price of $114.4 million and used a
portion of the net proceeds to fully repay the outstanding balance on the Promissory Note (including any unpaid interest at the
time of payment) and $70.7 million of mortgages.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Leslie D. Michelson
Non-Executive Chair of the
Board of Directors and Chair of
Audit Committee

Elizabeth K. Tuppeny

Chair of Nominating and
Corporate Governance
Committee and Compensation
Committee

Former Pennsylvania Governor
Edward G. Rendell
Independent Director

The Honorable B.J. Penn
Independent Director

Edward M. Weil, Jr.
Director

Michael Anderson
Chief Executive Officer,
President and Director

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Michael Anderson

Chief Executive Officer,
President and Director

Scott Lappetito
Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

540 Madison Avenue, 27 Floor
New York, NY 10022

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
300 Madison Avenue

New York, NY 10017

TRANSFER AGENT
Computershare Trust Company,
N.A.

PO Box 43007

Providence, Rl 02940-3007

INVESTOR RELATIONS
(332) 258-8770
ir@nhpreit.com
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